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Tuesday, November 18, 2014

--- On commencing at 8:58 a.m.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to day 2 of the technical conference of Toronto Hydro's 2015-2019 custom IR application, EB-2014-0116.  At the end of the day yesterday we finished with witness panel 1.  We have three witness panels scheduled for today, and we will hopefully get through all three.


I have provided to everyone at the outset of today's technical conference an estimate of what each party thinks they will need to ask questions of the various witness panels.  So if anyone in the room doesn't have a copy of that and would like that, please see me.


With respect to witness panel 2, there's approximately 20 or 30 minutes of examination.  With respect to witness panel 3, it's somewhere in the range of two-and-a-half hours to three hours.  And with respect to witness panel 4, it's also in the range of three hours.


So my plan for today, if everybody consents to this, is just to proceed with witness panel 2 and 3 and then find a convenient time to break, perhaps during witness panel 3, and then to take a short lunch break, and if necessary I understand that the court reporter is available to sit until 5:30 today, and if the parties are also willing to sit, then I'm confident we can get through this entire set of witness panels today.


So I don't think there are any preliminary matters by anyone that they need to raise at this time?  No?  All right then.  We will start with Board Staff and their questions for witness panel 2.


MR. KEIZER:  Maybe what we should do --


MS. HELT:  Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Keizer, yes, introduce the panel.


MR. KEIZER:  I'll introduce the panel, so maybe, actually, if I can ask each of the witnesses starting with the witness closest to me just to state his name and position.

TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 2

Owen Nash


Charlie Floriano

MR. NASH:  My name is Owen Nash.  I'm the director of operations support services.


MR. FLORIANO:  And I'm Charlie Floriano.  I'm director of IT application support.


MR. KEIZER:  So this constitutes panel 2, which is the general plant, capital, and OM&A.


MS. HELT:  Thank you very much for that.


Mr. Zwarenstein?

Questions by Mr. Zwarenstein:

MR. ZWARENSTEIN:  Hi.  My question relates to OEB Staff 59, part (d), in response (d).  It's mentioned in line 13 Toronto Hydro targets include above 95 percent for preventative maintenance tasks above 80 percent.  And do I understand from that that that means 95 percent completion within 30 days?


MR. NASH:  That's what that means, yes.


MR. ZWARENSTEIN:  Thank you.  That's my only question on that one.


MS. HELT:  That was a very short ten minutes of questioning by Board Staff.


Ms. Girvan, you have some questions for CCC.

Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I just had a few questions that were carryover, actually, from yesterday.  And the first one is just with respect to ongoing reporting during the term of the plan, and what I was looking for is if Toronto Hydro was willing to report on proposed capital spending, the forecast versus actual during the five-year term of the plan.


MR. KEIZER:  I think that, Ms. Girvan, I think that's actually covered in panel 4.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's fine.  So then just my last question was -- it was a comment made by Mr. Walker yesterday, and it talked about how -- I'm not sure this is the right panel, but I'll try -- that 86 percent of proposed capital spending in the five years is similar in nature to the ICM work.


And I'm just curious, because my understanding of ICM is really sort of incremental capital over and above normal spending.  I wanted you to explain to me -- oh, are you passing me on to the next panel?


MR. KEIZER:  I am passing you on to panel 4.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's fine then.  I must have done that incorrectly.  Go ahead.

Questions by Ms. Greey:

MS. GREEY:  I'm going to try -- is mine on?  I'm going to try on a question now.  And there's two references.  The first reference is VECC's interrogatory 8 on 2A, which I know may not be -- but it's actually related to 2B evidence.


Just looking at that, just to look, I want to talk a little bit about 715 Milner.  So just, that reference is just to show the 2011 capex of 17.3.


And then if we can also look at Exhibit 2B, section E8.3.  And I'm going to refer a little bit to that whole area, but page 19, with the phase 2 capital costs for 715 Milner and some of the other information about Milner.


Just wait until we get there.  Perfect.


So at the bottom of that page you say that the Milner property was not the time of 2011 rebasing application because you had not yet purchased it.  When did you purchase 715 Milner?


MR. NASH:  715 Milner property closed in late 2011.


MS. GREEY:  Okay.  And what was the purchase cost of that?


MR. NASH:  The $17.8 million that's shown in the evidence was the value of the property.


MS. GREEY:  So that currently is not in rate base?


MR. NASH:  That's correct.


MS. GREEY:  But you will be asking for it to be in rate base in 2015?


MR. NASH:  This would be our first opportunity since 2011 to do that, yes.


MS. GREEY:  With that purchase price did you have an independent assessment of what it was worth before purchasing?


MR. NASH:  Yes, we did.


MS. GREEY:  And could you provide that or do you have, like, a cost benefit or that assessment -- can that be provided to us?


MR. NASH:  We actually had two provided.  One was done by us and one was done by the individual or company that was selling the property.  We also have the 2012 City of Toronto tax-roll property, which shows that the value that we paid for the property was within market value.


MS. GREEY:  Could you provide those two assessments that were done to us?


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, we can take that undertaking.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.1:  TO PROVIDE TWO PROPERTY ASSESSMENTS FOR 715 MILNER.


MS. GREEY:  And you said there were two, one done by the former owner, which I understand was Honda Canada?


MR. NASH:  It was not Honda Canada.


MS. GREEY:  It had been sold in between the purchase of Honda Canada -- were you aware of what Honda Canada had paid for it one year before your purchase?


MR. NASH:  I don't have the actual number in front of me, no.


MS. GREEY:  Could you provide that number?  I wasn't really expecting, unless you knew what it was, that you would have it, but could you provide it?


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you want the value of the property that was paid by Honda Canada for the property?


MS. GREEY:  It was purchased, yes, by Honda just one year before, 2010, so I think that's relevant.


MR. NASH:  Sorry, it was sold from Honda Canada to a land development company, which then sold it to Toronto Hydro.


MS. GREEY:  So you wouldn't be aware of the price Honda Canada paid?


MR. NASH:  I would not know that.


MS. GREEY:  But you would be aware of what -- would you be aware of the price that the development company paid?


MR. NASH:  No, we wouldn't know that.


MS. GREEY:  Okay.  Your current lease where you are now at 601 is up in July 2017?


MR. NASH:  That's correct.


MS. GREEY:  But you want to move in in October of 2015 to 715 Milner?


MR. NASH:  715 Milner, we will be occupying that building in early 2016.  Within the lease agreement on 601 Milner we do have an exit clause that took effect in June 2012, that anytime after that we are able to exit that lease at an earlier time.


MS. GREEY:  With no cost associated with your exit?


MR. NASH:  I believe there is a small penalty.


MS. GREEY:  And that would be included in the total costs of your 26.8 shown in table 6?  I don't see it, but...


MR. NASH:  It is in the financial business case, though.


MS. GREEY:  And so the purchase price also, where will we see that?  Do we see that anywhere?  It may not be here.  It may be in your real estate section or something, but where do we see the purchase price?


And maybe this other exit, et cetera, where would that be found?


MR. NASH:  The purchase price of 715 Milner is on the evidence that is on the screen now, in line 9.


MS. GREEY:  Well, there, it says the budget is 26.6.  And I see all the things that add up to that 26.6.  I may be reading it incorrectly, but I don't see -- you're saying the purchase price is in that.  Is that saying that the 26 are all the items in 6 plus the 17.8 purchase price?


MR. KEIZER:  I think he is looking in the evidence now.


MS. GREEY:  No, take your time.


MR. NASH:  My mistake.  The value of the property for 715 Milner is not explicitly laid out in this exhibit that you're looking at.  It is in our business case in terms of financials.


MS. GREEY:  Where do we see it, when your rate base proposal or your proposal to the Board...


MR. NASH:  It's Exhibit -- it would be Exhibit A that would follow this section.


MS. GREEY:  Do you have specific -- like, where we would see the -- what the actual purchase price -- my understanding is the 17.3 -- or you have a 17.3 in your interrogatory.  That is part of your total 26 million for all the renovations that have to be done, which is over and above the purchase price?


MR. KEIZER:  I just want to pause for a minute because I think there are some confidential filings that relate to this matter.  And I'm not sure whether or not the information that my friend is seeking is included in the confidential filing.  So is that -- I'm looking at the witness -- is that the case?


MR. NASH:  It's true.


MR. KEIZER:  It is in the confidential filing?  And is that number confidential that my friend is seeking?


MR. NASH:  It would be at this time, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  It would be at this time?  And I'm not sure whether CCC has signed --


MS. HELT:  They have signed the designation and undertaking, and I believe they have the confidential information.


MS. GREEY:  We have the business plan.  So you're saying that's where I will find it?


MR. NASH:  That's correct, but to be clear, the $26 million is the renovation cost of the property.  The $17.3 million is the cost of the purchase price of the property back in 2011.


MS. GREEY:  Okay.  So those are the two -- thank you.  So close to the 17.8.


I guess my other question too is that you're saying it's 17.8 million you're going to -- but the whole renovation is 26, but you're moving in.  So don't all these renovations have to be done before you move in, in 2015 or early '16?


MR. NASH:  The $26.8 million budget that we have set out for 715 Milner will be completed by early 2016.


MS. GREEY:  Okay.  Of which is proposed -- but on line 9, it says 17.8 is proposed for the '15 to '19 period.


MR. KEIZER:  I think we would probably have to undertake as to what was going to be spent outside of the rate period and to delineate the difference between the 17.8 and the remaining amount in the 26.


MS. GREEY:  Right now my understanding is then you'll put the purchase price in rate base and you would also put -- right now it's saying 17.8, but you're going to do an undertaking to show that.  So if you could show what's going to go in rate base, what the total costs are for this property, I would really appreciate it.


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah.  I think we can clarify as well whether it is or is not in rate base.  My understanding is, from speaking to Toronto Hydro staff, that the original purchase cost of the property is in rate base.  The land is.


MS. GREEY:  Wasn't purchased until the end of 2011, so I don't --


MR. KEIZER:  I think what we can do is clarify by way of undertaking, whatever the answer is, what is in rate base, what has been included in rate base.


MS. GIRVAN:  And when?


MR. KEIZER:  And what is yet to be included in rate base.


MS. GIRVAN:  And when.


MR. KEIZER:  And when.


MS. GREEY:  All costs exit.


MR. KEIZER:  Also clarify your question relating to 17.8, which is proposed for the '15-'19 period, and how that relates to the budget for the location of, being 26.8.


MS. GREEY:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.2: TO EXPLAIN WHAT PORTION OF PURCHASE PRICE IS IN RATE BASE AND WHEN IT ENTERED RATE BASE, AND how that relates to the budget for the location of, being 26.8.


MS. HELT:  Ms. Greey, do you have further questions?


MS. GREEY:  That's all.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Do other parties have questions for this witness panel?  Mr. Garner?

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I think I may.  If I have the wrong panel, I'm sure I'll be directed otherwise.


The reference I have is 2A VECC 18, and I guess, gentlemen, it's an IT question.  So are you the panel?


MR. FLORIANO:  I believe so.


MR. GARNER:  So my question is about the answer -- what we asked was the spending on your ERP program to date, and you had responded to that it's half a million as of the end of September.


As I recall, this project's some 52 million.  It's roughly around that; is that correct?


MR. FLORIANO:  Roughly.


MR. GARNER:  And it's supposed to be finished by the end of 2016?


MR. FLORIANO:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And I was puzzled by part of the response, the latter part of the response, which basically -- we had asked you if you had selected a vendor, given your tight timelines and where you were on the project, trying to get an assessment of how you're progressing.


And you indicated that you hadn't gotten a vendor and you'll only do that when this application is completed.


And I was puzzled by that response.  Are you saying that if the Board were to deny parts of this, the ERP cost, you would simply not proceed with that program?


MR. FLORIANO:  If the Board were to deny this cost, which we believe, you know, is the incorrect decision -- we've put our case forward.  We believe the approach that we've put into our business case is really the only way we can go at this point.


We have a system, Ellipse, which is over 12 years old.  The choice to do nothing to that system really doesn't exist.  We're in a fast-paced, moving IT world, with lots of different technologies coming on, security concerns to look at, and really we think that the option that we've put forward in moving to a sustainable system, a new ERP, is really the option that we believe is the right choice.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I've read the evidence to be the same and I think you put forward a case for that.  That's why it surprised me.


In the absence of doing this program -- maybe I should back up.  Could you, just for the benefit of myself if no one else, just give me the one-minute version of what the ERP program does and is going to do in place of the Ellipse, what its service is, function is?


MR. FLORIANO:  Again, Ellipse is a system that was brought in to do our back office systems.  It's really about financial management, human capital management and work planning.  And basically Ellipse is one system out of 30-plus systems that do those processes, help us with those processes today.  And essentially this program will take those 30-plus systems and move them on to a single ERP platform which helps us to eliminate some of the hardware issues that we are having today around sustainability of our existing hardware, also allows us to mitigate a lot of the security risks that are in the environment today that we are, you know, having extra effort to continue to mitigate the risks that are out there on security.  So this single system will allow us to simplify that -- the support of the ERP system.


MR. GARNER:  So it sounds to me from what you've said is the system has a lot of benefits over the current system.  Have you quantified these benefits for putting in the system?


MR. FLORIANO:  We have.


MR. GARNER:  You have?


MR. FLORIANO:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  And the system that you have now, I take it, is fully depreciated, or you say it's 12 years old, so I'm not asking you to find the depreciation schedule, but it's relatively fully depreciated in your mind?


MR. FLORIANO:  I can really only speak to from a technology perspective.  I think we have fully exhausted the use of that system, so I'll say that it's -- from a technology perspective I think Toronto Hydro has really been able to extend the life of that system beyond its useful life at this point.


MR. GARNER:  Right.


MR. FLORIANO:  From a depreciation perspective I don't think I'm really the best person to talk to from a financial perspective whether all the systems --


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Well, that's fair.  I'm not asking you to.  I mean, I just would suggest -- it's an IT system, and they're generally written off fairly quickly, would you agree, because IT systems generally do depreciate quite quickly?


MR. FLORIANO:  I agree relative to other utility assets --


MR. GARNER:  Right.


MR. FLORIANO:  -- IT systems to have a faster depreciation cycle, and the technology moves a lot quicker.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I'm not again trying to be clever on it.  What I'm just trying to understand is, it would seem to me that, irrespective of funding this, you need to replace a system which has benefits, and that system you're replacing is a fully depreciated or near about system inside your utility.  Is that a fair characterization?


MR. FLORIANO:  Again, it sounds like it's a financial question, but I guess from a technology perspective we have a system that -- you know, it's 30-plus systems that fulfil business functions, and those systems are at their end of life from a technology perspective.


MR. GARNER:  One final question on that, sorry.  In the absence of replacing it, what's the alternative?  You muddle on with the current system?  Will that system survive four years?


MR. FLORIANO:  From my perspective, that system -- the option to do nothing is really not there, from a business perspective.  It is -- it will require work.  We will need to do the upgrade.


We believe that a new ERP system is the appropriate approach.  The security risks alone around maintaining this type of system and sustaining it are significant and will continue to grow.  We do recognize also that this is a five-year application, and this is our opportunity to bring this forward, and we think that the appropriate approach is a new ERP system.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I appreciate your pitch for the IT replacement.  I've been sitting next to your colleagues here, and I'm sure -- I think their laptops could be upgraded too, by the way.  So keep that in mind.


The next question I have, it may not be in your area, so -- it's related to interrogatory 4A-VECC-47.  I believe that's the question.  And this was a breakout of OM&A by division.  Is that you or the next panel?


MR. KEIZER:  I believe that's the next panel.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


And I think the other one is too, but let me just make sure I'm not -- interrogatory 4A-VECC-46.  This is about legal costs.


MR. KEIZER:  I believe that's also the next panel.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


MR. KEIZER:  It's actually probably panel 4, I would think.


MR. GARNER:  Panel 4.  Thank you, that's helpful.


I believe those are -- well, yeah, those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Are there any other parties who wish to examine this witness panel?  All right then.  Thank you very much.  We can move to witness panel 3 now.  I'm going to go off air for a moment as we deal with a technical issue.


[Technical interruption]


MS. HELT:  Witness panel 3 has been made available, so we will commence with introductions of the witness panel, Mr. Crawford, and then we will proceed with questions from the Society first.

MR. SMITH:  It's always a matter of time before someone calls me Mr. Crawford.

[Laughter]

MS. HELT:  I can't believe I did that.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein is laughing, because it's usually my own client.

[Laughter]

MS. HELT:  Mr. Smith, sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Believe me, no offence taken whatsoever.

Typically, I would introduce my own panel, but given the daunting last name of at least one member of the panel, I'll ask the panel to introduce themselves.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 3


Lucas Millmore

Elias Lyberogiannis


Asheef Jamal


Shirley Powell


MR. MILLMORE:  Lucas Millmore, director of distribution grid operations.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Good morning.  Elias Lyberogiannis, manager of long-term strategy and planning.

MR. JAMAL:  Good Morning.  Asheef Jamal, controller.

MS. POWELL:  Good morning.  Shirley Powell, director of HR planning systems and rewards.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Do we have an order?

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Yes.  Mr. Dumka, I believe you're going to commence with your questions?
Questions by Mr. Dumka:


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  I'm representing the Society of Energy Professionals in this proceeding.  And I think it's going to be the lady with the difficult name to pronounce, at the end, Ms. Powell probably is going to be looking after most of my questions, so I'm glad she gave us her name verbally, so...

I'm going to be focusing essentially on the three Society questions that were answered with regards to 4A, so if somebody can -- I'll just go through it numerically.  Some of the questions are probably going to overlap because of the -- some of the subject area, but we'll deal with that as we go along.

I want to thank Toronto Hydro for providing the data, because it's generated an interesting view of the compensation, and there's a number of questions that we have and I wouldn't be surprised if a number of undertakings.  So just to start off -- and I want to thank you for the correction that was done to the 2011 data, because things made a bit more sense once that was corrected.

Now, I just want to, with regards -- it's not my line of question here, but now that we have the correction for 2011, what was the nature of the change?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, microphone.  You need to make sure the green light is on.  And just so everyone knows, your two mics are connected.

MS. POWELL:  The correction was due to the FTE calculation.  So what we didn't do was to prorate when people leave the company or when they are hired into the company.  So if you're hired halfway true through the year, you really should only be counted as half an FTE.

So that's why the number was a little bit inflated.

MR. DUMKA:  That makes sense.  I was wondering -- and this was again looking at the correction to 2011.  And we had a look-see at your annual information form.  And I'm wondering -- and that provides year-end data, the year-end headcount, the total staff and then the two union groups.

And I'm wondering how the data that you've provided, which is FTEs as -- in your evidence, it's FTEs as opposed to year-end headcount, but I'm just wondering if there has been a reconciliation done between the year-end headcount that is provided in the AIFs and your data, because I had a summary look and I couldn't rationalize some of the numbers.

And I can give you some of them.  This is all in the annual AIFs.  For example, with the Society headcount at year-end 2010, it's 50.  And then in year-end 2011, it's 59 and the FTE is about 53.

And you can rationalize or whatever, but it just struck me as a low FTE number.

Similarly with the CUPE numbers, they're at year-end 2010 1,194, and the same number at the end of 2011.  This is in the AIF.  And I can e-mail them over or whatever.  I'm sure you've got tons of people at Toronto Hydro that know more about it than I do.

So you've got those two year-end headcounts for CUPE at 2010 and '11, same number, but the FTE is 1,159, so it kind of sticks out.  I can rationalize it, so I'm simply asking:  Has a rationalization been done?  Or maybe this is a takeaway, just to verify the consistency with the two sets of numbers?

MR. JAMAL:  Could we please get a reference for the AIF?

MR. DUMKA:  Sure, no.  It was pulled off SEDAR.  You file it annually; Toronto Hydro files it annually.  There's all kinds of data.  I can e-mail them over right now.  It'll take a few minutes.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think that's necessary.  My understanding is that the AIF is a year-end headcount number as opposed to an FTE number, and that the AIF contains total company information, which would be both regulated and unregulated operations.

So that would explain the difference in the numbers.

MR. DUMKA:  No, not necessarily.  Having looked at what you say in the AIF, it identifies two or four bodies who are in the non-regulated business, so the discrepancy in the year-end headcount is fairly minor.  It sounds like you haven't had an opportunity to do a verification reconciliation, so maybe I can ask that to be a takeaway, just to -- I would like some assurance that the data you've provided in the FTEs reconciles back to the AIF data that's been filed between 2010 and 2013.

MR. SMITH:  We're not prepared to give that undertaking.  I don't think it's necessary for us to do that.  You have the witnesses here if you want to ask them about the FTE numbers.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Fine.  You don't think it's necessary to verify your data versus publicly available information.  That's fine.  We'll leave it at that.

Now, I was wondering if -- going through to my questions that I had last week, prepared last week -- I'm wondering if off the start, I can ask for an Excel copy of the appendix that you provided in response, just to make it easier to play around with the numbers.  I'm sure you ended up doing that anyways to provide the table, because of all the detail.  So if I can get an Excel copy once we're through?

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  We'll do that.

MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Does that need to be an undertaking, then?  Excel copy of?

MR. DUMKA:  Sure.

MS. HELT:  So that will be TCJ2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.3:  WITH REFERENCE TO SOCIETY TECHNCIAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS FILED EARLIER, TO PROVIDE A LIVE EXCEL VERSION OF THE APPENDIX.


MR. DUMKA:  Now, in interrogatory responses, I noticed that our friends in VECC asked -- and this is VECC 48 -- they had asked to have the management including the executive split into executive and management.

I'm wondering if the response to the Society IR could be modified to include that split?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, maybe you can help me out.  I've lost track.  I'm looking at VECC 48.  What would you like us to do?

MR. DUMKA:  There, in response to VECC's IR, the category which is management including executive was split into executive and a second category, management excluding executive.

So what I'm asking is for the same split to be done of executive out of management, be done in the response to the Society IR, so that we have all the data sitting in one spreadsheet.  One table.  Easier to review, et cetera, and to use.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.4:  to create a table showing the category of executive excluding management, similar to the one provided in VECC IR 48


MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.  Now, I've got a couple questions on the next category in the table, which is non-management, non-union.  What type of positions are captured there?

MS. POWELL:  A lot of our professional staff.  Our support staff.

MR. DUMKA:  Support staff.  And what sort of stuff is it that they do?  So HR staff, for example, or -- and I just want to get a general nature -- sense of the nature --

MS. POWELL:  HR, finance, IT, a lot of the corporate services folks, legal, and support staff as well.

MR. DUMKA:  I see.  Okay.  Now, does that category -- it's a big chunk of people, over 400 FTEs -- are there supervisory roles, so there are a number of supervisory roles in there.  Okay.  And presumably the staff that they supervise are their peers or whatever in that group, in the non-management group; is that correct?  I just want to get --

MS. POWELL:  The operation supervisors supervise the staff within the CUPE, and engineering supervisors supervise those in the Society.

MR. DUMKA:  I see.  Okay.  Would it be to be do a split of that category, the non-management, into just supervisory, non-management, and then whatever, other non-supervisory?  Would it be possible to get that split from you?

MR. SMITH:  Can you help me with the relevance?

MR. DUMKA:  What I'm looking at is the trending in terms of head count and payment between those -- or compensation in those two categories and perhaps how they're relevant to the other categories in this table.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I'm not following you.  In what way?

MR. DUMKA:  I'm looking at head count, the total annual compensation, the compensation per FTE relative to the other categories that are already in this appendix.  So I'm looking for trending, because it -- how can I put it?  It would be analogous to, right now you've got a management category in the table, and then you've got two unionized categories, so you've got the management staff up there.  I want to see the -- how the head count and the annual compensation for the supervisory staff, how that tracks, the same way now I can see how for CUPE and for Society and for management staff how the head count changes from year to year and the annual compensation changes from year to year.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask the witness panel.  Do we have that information?

MS. POWELL:  We do have the information.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll provide that.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.5:  TO PROVIDE THE HEAD COUNT AND THE ANNUAL COMPENSATION FOR THE SUPERVISORY STAFF, HOW THAT TRACKS AND HOW THE HEAD COUNT CHANGES FROM YEAR TO YEAR AND THE ANNUAL COMPENSATION CHANGES FROM YEAR TO YEAR.


MR. DUMKA:  With regards to that non-super -- the non-supervisory category in there, so we've got IT people, you've got legal staff, et cetera, finance staff, and all this sort of stuff.  So I would assume that things like planning work are done by individuals in that category?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Do they do any sort of engineering business case analysis type stuff?  I would assume that's the sort of thing that gets done here as well?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, our planning staff does do engineering analyses of that nature.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  All right.  So they're in that category there.  Okay.

Okay.  Fine.  Now, moving down, I just want to confirm, in the second category in the table we have got the FTEs, then we have the total salary and wages, including overtime and incentive pay.  I would like to ask you if you can provide the overtime and the incentive pay in a separate category?  Because basically what I find this table does, we don't get any sense for year-over-year changes in the overtime that is worked, and that's what I would like to get out of this table.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think we're going to do that.  The table is prepared in accordance with the filing requirements, and given the variability in the figures I don't think it's a material number.

MR. DUMKA:  So what you're telling me is the variability in the overtime worked from year to year is not relevant to what is going on in this proceeding?  That's effectively what you're telling me.

MR. SMITH:  No, what I'm effectively telling you is exactly what I said.

MR. DUMKA:  And what exactly -- if you wouldn't mind repeating.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think it's necessary for me to repeat it, as it's on the transcript.

MS. HELT:  That question will be noted as a refusal.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would it be possible, if I can't get the overtime dollars, can I get the annual overtime hours?

MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that either.

MR. DUMKA:  All right.  Now, thank you for separating the contract for a defined term category out.  I found that information quite useful.  I have several questions later on on that.

But just for my own information, that category, does that include any individuals that are doing work in the Society or union categories, or is -- I just, I don't know what it is that these individuals do, the type of work that they do.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I apologize, which category are we looking at?

MR. DUMKA:  What is defined on this table as contract for a defined term.

MS. POWELL:  They are not performing work of the Society or CUPE.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, just overall, in terms of this table, are there any other individuals employed by Toronto Hydro who may not land in this table for some reason or another that are working similar to your contract for defined term or what I prefer to reference as temporary staff?  Are there any other individuals, or is this essentially it?

MS. POWELL:  We have services that contract out, so that's entirely different.

MR. DUMKA:  And why are they not included in this table, if you just...

MS. POWELL:  They're contract services that we outsource, so we don't actually pay for them on our payroll.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  All right.  That's fine.

Now, with regards to the temporary category, or what I'm calling temporary or you call contract for a defined term, how are those employees brought in?  Do you put an ad out on Workopolis or something, or do you go to staffing agencies for these types, like account temps for finance people?  Just asking generally, how do you fill these positions?

MS. POWELL:  We do have them go through the same screening process or recruitment process that we have.

MR. DUMKA:  Sorry, so --

MS. POWELL:  So they're screened -- the postings are put up in various -- if it's an accountant or a financial position they're posted through the Internet, they're screened for behavioural competencies, technical competencies.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So do you use headhunting agencies or -- looking for the right term -- in effect, agencies which provide temporary staff?  Do you use those at all?  Or this is -- or do you recruit 100 percent of the people in the temporary category directly, yourself?

MS. POWELL:  We do hire occasionally through temp agencies.  It all depends on the duration of the contract.

MR. DUMKA:  I see.  Okay.  Now, does the cost for using a temp agency, is that in this table, as part of the total cost for the temporary staff?

MS. POWELL:  No.  Agency fees are allocated elsewhere.

MR. DUMKA:  Allocated elsewhere?  Is that provided anywhere in the evidence?  The annual cost for these temp agencies, is that provided anywhere in evidence?

MS. POWELL:  Not in detail.  It's part of our overall professional services fees.

MR. DUMKA:  Professional services fees?  And what does that capture?

MS. POWELL:  Professional services could encompass a number of areas, consulting services, any sort of fees that we pay for external services.

MR. DUMKA:  I see.  Would it be possible to get the temporary agency costs split out?

MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that.  I'm sure that's below the materiality threshold.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So you're confident it is.  Would it be possible for verification?

MR. SMITH:  We'll correct the transcript if it needs to be corrected.

MR. DUMKA:  All right.  Thank you.

I think I've pretty well gone through most of my questions here.  I'm wondering, before we leave this particular interrogatory, if I could ask Toronto Hydro to provide explanation of any year-over-year changes which are within the 5 percent threshold, 5 percent changes from year to year?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, are you asking us to do a variance analysis on every figure on this table if it's more than 5 percent more or less than the number before?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  We're not going to do that.

MR. DUMKA:  I see.  So are those the sorts of questions, then, if I want to find out why a category has changed by 10 percent, that's the sort of question I should be asking at the oral hearing?  That's the inference?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if there's a specific question that you want to ask about a specific figure, then I'll consider Toronto Hydro's position, but a blanket undertaking to do a variance analysis on every figure on this table where there's a variance of more than 5 percent is not something we're prepared to undertake to do.

MR. DUMKA:  So let me just summarize, then.  I've asked and you've graciously agreed in a number of instances to provide further level of detail which I'm not privy to up until this point in time.

And so you're not willing to answer the questions that I would be posing to you if I had that level of detail in front of me right now?  Is -- that's basically what your response is?  Is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  I think I've been pretty clear that we're not going to give a blanket undertaking to go do a variance analysis on all 120 numbers on this page, or more, in every instance where there is a plus or minus 5 percent variance.

MR. DUMKA:  Then I assume when I get the undertaking response, if there's some numbers that are of particular concern and interest to me, I can submit a supplementary question asking for an explanation as to why whichever number increases by 10 percent.  Would that be satisfactory?

MR. SMITH:  No.  That's not what I said.  When you have the information, I'm sure you'll do whatever you feel is appropriate to deal with that information, be it in advance of the hearing or otherwise, and Toronto Hydro will consider its position.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Well, I did a rough count based on the data that you provided in the VECC response in terms of executive compensation for FTE.  And according to my calculations, the compensation per FTE goes up roughly $100,000 per FTE between 2013 and 2014.  So that's an increase of roughly 25 percent.

Can I get an explanation as to why the compensation per FTE goes up 25 percent between those two years?

MS. POWELL:  If I can refer you back to the VECC table, you can see in totality that the executive compensation is actually decreasing over that timeframe.

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, but if I do a per-FTE calculation, which you're going to provide me in the additional information that you kindly agreed to provide earlier on to include the executive split out, and that I see -- I see, my calculations -- and I'm looking forward to seeing what's in the table when you provide your undertaking -- the per-FTE compensation is roughly 426,000 in 2013 for that category, for executive, and in 2014 it's 528,000.

So according to my calculations, on a per-FTE basis that's gone up a fair chunk, roughly 25 percent, give or take, rounding.  I'm simply asking for you to provide an explanation.

MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that.  Surely the important thing for ratepayers is the total figure of compensation paid to executive staff, and that number has gone down.

MR. DUMKA:  So if I understand this correctly, for any category where the numbers go down it's of no relevance or interest to the ratepayer?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think it's of acute interest to the ratepayer.  And the fact that I think matters is that the total compensation paid to executive staff has gone down.

MR. DUMKA:  So to confirm, you're refusing to provide the answer to that question?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.  Now, I've got several more questions on this table, and this is with regards -- and I don't know if you can answer it or if this is another panel or whatever else, but looking at the numbers that were available to me, one of the things that struck me was, if we look at the number of unionized positions in Toronto Hydro between 2011 and 2014, they go down a great deal.

In 2011, if I sum up the CUPE and the Society categories, the headcount is about 1,213.  And if I go to 2014, sum up the two numbers, I land at a sum of 973.  So the headcount has gone down roughly 240, or 20 percent of the 2011 starting figure.  So there we are.  For one reason or another, the unionized staff in total and in the two categories have gone down.

And I understand from some of the evidence that has been provided that one of the areas where more contract services are being utilized is in the capex programs.  That's my understanding.  And in one of the other IRs we're going to get to in a minute, we'll be looking at that.

So for whatever reason, I assume because you're contracting out more, you're using less unionized staff, et cetera.  Okay.  We'll take that as the inference of what's there.

Now, if I take a look at the non-unionized positions that's everything else on your table -- the executive, the management, the non-management non-union, the temporary -- if I take a look at that headcount, I would have naively assumed if you're doing less stuff in-house and more contracting out, the back office type of services that you have would be going down.

So I see that the total of all those non-union positions have, in fact, increased, not decreased or even held constant, which is what I would have assumed.  The headcount is roughly 524 in 2011, and come 2014 it's about 564.  That's an increase of 40 headcount over the period, or an 8 percent increase, whereas the unionized positions have gone down 20 percent.

And another way of looking at it is the proportion of unionized staff to non-unionized.  In that period, it's 2.31 to 1, is the ratio, and it moves to 1.73 to 1.  So it looks like you've got fewer unionized head count to all your non-management staff.  So my question is:  Why has that category, the overall category of non-union staff, increased over that period, and not decreased like the unionized staff?

MS. POWELL:  Well, the decrease in the unionized staff, the primary driver for that is the retirements.  We have a large core of our unionized staff who are eligible to retire and have been retiring over the last few years.  We know that we've got -- we're anticipating approximately half of our staff eligible to retire over the next five to ten years.  So that explains the decrease in the union.

Unfortunately, we haven't been replenishing the certified trades as quickly as we would like, although that is in our plan for the next five years, is to try and replenish that -- those trades.

On the non-management staff, that's gone up, primarily in some of the corporate services area, but also within operations.  And we've decided that a lot of those folks -- a number of those individuals were on contract already, and so they were just a conversion.

So the funds were already within our budget, and the thought process behind that was to try and manage some of those contract services as well.  It doesn't make sense for us to hire all those additional staff with the thought that when you hire someone you're basically taking on a 30-year relationship, and it doesn't make sense for us to have that.  We want to have a flexible work force.

MR. DUMKA:  Interesting.  So basically you're saying you're replenishing your union staff over the next 50 years, so is that versus the -- your 2011 starting point, where you say over the past three, four years you've had all these retirements?  So is that the level of unionized staff that you're targeting for?

MS. POWELL:  Well, we're targeting to hire approximately 320 over the next rate period.  Our certified trades.

MR. DUMKA:  320, I would be correct in assuming, covers off additional retirements over the next five years?  Because your retirement level, as you have in evidence, is anticipated to be fairly material.

MS. POWELL:  It is fairly material, and we also need to be cognizant of being able -- our ability to safely incorporate those apprentices as well.

MR. DUMKA:  Right.  With just-in-time hiring and all that sort of stuff?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. DUMKA:  Yeah.  Okay.  Okay.  So basically what you've told me is that you're hiring 320 people, staff, largely to fill positions that are going to be vacated through retirements over the next four or five years, and you're never going to get back to the level of skilled and experienced trades and engineering staff that you had at the beginning of this decade, right?  Because your numbers don't bring you anywhere near to the level that you were at in those positions in 2011.


MR. SMITH:  Was that a summary of the response or was that a new question?

MR. DUMKA:  That was a summary and asking for confirmation thereof.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't think you need to ask for confirmation from the witness unless there was an aspect of the question that was not understood.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, what I asked for confirmation of is that the company's position is not to return to the ballpark levels of unionized staff that were there in the beginning of the decade with the hiring through the remainder of the decade.  Is that a correct assumption on my part, or inference?

MS. POWELL:  Our plan of hiring 320 apprentices is really part of our goal over the next five years.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Well, we'll leave it with that where I see the -- for the Society we go from 52 staff to 54, so that's about -- well, in head count it's about a 4 percent increase; and in terms of CUPE you're going to be increasing the head count, which is at the decade below, by about 26, and that's several percent.

Okay.  That's fine.  That's what I wanted to confirm.  I appreciate -- I appreciate that.

I would like to flip to Society IR No. 5.  And what I would like to note is your response in part (a).  There should be a correction made to this table for the 2011 figures.  They're not consistent with the update you provided --


MS. POWELL:  Okay.

MR. DUMKA:  -- to your Appendix A in the previous IR.

MR. SMITH:  Quite right.  We'll up update the table as well to the interrogatory.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  I appreciate that.

Would it also be possible -- I don't think we've -- we might have to get back to that.  One of the things that is missing from this table is the split out of the contract staff that -- what I refer to as temporary.  And I believe they're in the other non-union category there.

What I'm wondering is if we can get a similar breakout as you've kindly agreed to provide to the previous IR in terms of the head count, if we can get the same categories here, that would be quite useful, because we don't have that information out to 2019 in the Appendix A response you provided in the previous IR.

So that would be breaking out senior management, slightly different category here, into executive, and then the management category, and then we've got the other non-union split between supervisory and whatever you want to call the other folks in the non-management category, and we've got the temporary, what I colloquially refer to as temporary staff, separated out in Appendix A.  I'm wondering if we can get you to provide a similar split out in this table?  Would that be possible?

MS. POWELL:  That would not be possible.  We don't actually forecast and anticipate what our temporary services needs are in the future.

MR. DUMKA:  But you've got them included in your other non-union category here, don't you?

MS. POWELL:  They are not included in there.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, help me out, because if I take a look at the 2012 number -- maybe I'll just put myself -- let me find the table.  Yes, if I take a look at the Appendix A response that you provided in Society IR No. 4, if I take a look at the FTE breakdown, I've got management, including executive.  You've agreed to separate the executive from management.  I've got non-management, non-union, which you've kindly agreed to separate into supervisory and other -- however you want to categorize that.  I've got CUPE, I've got Society, and I've contract for a defined term.  So those numbers add up to your total FTEs.

So I'm presuming, seeing as how the numbers for -- in IR 5, part (a), I see that the FTE numbers all line up to 2015.  So are you telling me that the figures, the totals, for 15 -- for 2016 on do not include the temporary staff?  Is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  So I have it perfectly clear, what you're asking is in Society 5 2016 the number of other non-union of 500.  Your question is, does that include temporary staff or not?

MR. DUMKA:  That's one of the questions here, yes.

MS. POWELL:  If my memory serves me correctly, when we were preparing this, it -- all we did was we held everything constant for that group, as we can't really estimate.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So that 500 doesn't include however many -- say, 70 temporary staff, that's the headcount that you have in there.  So you can separate it out in this table for us?

MS. POWELL:  It's constant.  It's a constant figure.

MR. DUMKA:  So when you provide the more detailed break-out, you'll be able to provide that category, then?  It's a constant number all the way through, but you do have it?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, what is the other detailed break-out that you're referring to?

MR. DUMKA:  What I asked earlier on was to have the FTEs in this table in part (a) in response to Society IR 5, I asked if we could get the FTEs broken down in a similar manner to the FTE breakdown in appendix A, your response, appendix A, to Society IR 4.

MR. SMITH:  I do not mean to be obtuse.  Is there an additional breakdown that you're asking for for Society 5 that we've not already addressed in the appendix A we were looking for?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  That is the headcount for 2016 to 2019 -- excuse me, the FTEs that are in this table in part (a) in Society 5.

So when you provide me with the undertaking, the appendix A, you'll have split out, provided a finer break-out of the categories that you have in the part (a) response to Society 5.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, we had not agreed to extend appendix A through 2019.

MR. DUMKA:  No, no, I'm not looking for appendix A, which is the compensation data.  I'm asking if you can provide the FTE breakdown in a similar manner for 2016 to 2019.  That's all.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I now understand.  Yes, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps just for the purpose of clarity on the record, then, Mr. Dumka, you are asking for a breakdown with respect to 4A-Society-5; is that correct?  With respect to the table on 4A-Society-5 concerning the staffing levels or FTEs?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  As I understand it, what you would like us to do is take the information on an interrogatory, 5, and break it down into the categories and headcount as shown in Society 4, so management including executive, non-management, CUPE, Society contract for defined terms; have I understood that correctly?

MR. DUMKA:  That's how we started out, but the undertaking on Society 4 you had agreed to break out the management including executive into an executive category and a management excluding executive.

MR. SMITH:  Quite right.  That's fine.

MR. DUMKA:  So with that level of -- so it will match the revised appendix A in the undertaking that you've kindly agreed to provide.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Then that will be noted as TCJ2.6, and included in that, I believe, Mr. Smith, you said that you would provide an update to that table?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  So that will be included in that undertaking.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.6:  WITH RESPECT TO 4A-SOCIETY-5, the table concerning FTEs, TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN AND UPDATED TABLE.


MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.

I just want to -- I have a couple general questions with respect to Society part (a), IR 5.  Now, I would like to ask if we can just get the referenced figure in that IR up on the screen.  This is in the first -- line 5 over there has got the reference.  That's Exhibit 4A, tab 4, schedule three, page 2, figure 1.  Thanks.

Just a broad question.  You've got data here.  You've got staffing levels and capex levels for the period 2007 to 2019.  Can I ask you just, generally speaking, why did you provide that 12-year view?  What was the point of having all that data here in figure 1?

MR. SMITH:  I believe the answer to that question -- this may not be the answer the witness knows, but if you look at -- or if I can help, if you look back at Exhibit 4A, tab 4, schedule 3, page 1, under the heading "Introduction."

MR. DUMKA:  So the figure illustrates the relationship between Toronto Hydro staffing levels and the utility's historical and proposed capex from 2007 to 2019.

Can I ask -- so why did you go back to 2007?  What's the story behind going back to 2007, starting there?

MS. POWELL:  To demonstrate the level of capital --

MR. SMITH:  I believe that was discussed yesterday by the capital plan, which discussed essentially when the capital program first started to get underway, if memory serves me correctly.

MR. DUMKA:  And so then the inference is, further to the explanation of this figure that you pointed us to on page 1, is the relative staffing levels to those capex levels in that period from -- starting in 2007 up to 2010 and '11 where your capex began to increase?

I assume that's what's going on.  You wanted to show us where the staff levels were going in unison with that?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So that's the story.  So you were looking for context in terms of how your staffing has changed with your capex.  Okay.

I want to flip back to Society 5, part (a), and the question that was posed was to provide the staffing level breakdown for 2007 to 2019.

Now, in -- when I look at line 17 of the first page, you say:  "Please see the table below."  Thank you.
"Toronto Hydro objects on the basis of relevance to providing pre-2011 actual retirements."


Okay.  I don't know where the retirements came from, but this is FTEs.  So you object on the basis of relevance.

So the figure where we've asked -- that provides the staffing data, you've provided in evidence -- to provide the context on how staffing levels change and capex levels change, not just from 2007 to 2011 but from 2007 to 2019.

So what I understand Hydro One to be telling me when they say, on the basis of relevance, they will not provide breakdown of data prior to 2011, that doesn't seem to hold to why you provided this data in the first place.  It's relevant to the story that you were telling.

And so I would request that you provide the breakdown that we've asked for for 2007 to 2010, because we're not looking to examine that data in terms of year-over-year increases or whatever else, but it provides a context for the staffing levels and capex levels in 2011 and how we're viewing it.

So I will request that you provide that information.

MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that, for the reasons set out in the response.

And it's Toronto Hydro's position that the aggregate figure is -- given the time period we're talking about, 2007, 8, 9, and 10, is the level of detail that can reasonably be required.  That's already been provided.

MR. DUMKA:  So it's relevant to the context you want to set and the story that you would like to tell, but an additional level of detail may be relevant to others in terms of how they're examining this information, and you're closing the door to that, effectively; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  I think it's not necessary for us to have an argument now.  I've set out Toronto Hydro's position, and it can be addressed at a later date if appropriate.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, I find it curious, because when it suits Toronto Hydro you provide data back to 2007 and speak to it, whereas it would seem that Toronto Hydro views it inappropriate for others to examine the same data and ask questions and its relevance.

MR. SMITH:  Sir, I don't think this is productive.  You have the disaggregated information going as far back as 2011.  I don't think a disaggregation is required, and I don't think it's necessary for us to have a debate about it at this time either.

MS. HELT:  I would agree with Mr. Smith, Mr. Dumka.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  The question has been asked.  Toronto Hydro has given their response, and if there is going to be an issue with respect to that it can be taken up at the appropriate time through the appropriate motion or what-have-you.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

I'm going to move to your response to part (b).  And the question there was, estimate the annual FTEs utilized by external contractors and any other contracted external services such as consultants.  And the response there was that you don't track the number of resources utilized by external contractors, et cetera.

That's fine.  Do you track the consultant FTEs?  It wasn't clear to me in this response.

MS. POWELL:  No, for contracted services we do not track on an individual contract -- contractor basis.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Now, in part (d) we asked, provide the annual FTEs which are capitalized, are the categories that we've discussed elsewhere in the same IR.  And the response to part (d) is, this information is not available and cannot be produced within the time lines provided.

I'm just wondering what -- in the timelines provided, I assume is the interrogatory response.  Well, the Society is happy to wait until January or before the oral hearing kicks off to get that information.  So it would appear it's a time line issue.

MR. SMITH:  No, my understanding of this, subject to the witnesses telling me otherwise, is that this information is not available without a considerable, considerable amount of work that Toronto Hydro is not prepared to undertake.

MR. DUMKA:  Would it be possible to get that on a ballpark level?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  I would like to move on to Society IR No. 6.  Okay.  Now -- thank you.  part (a), you provided the basis for criteria of hiring the temporary staff, and I think we've established earlier on the type of work, or did we, that temporary staff do, if you can just sort of summarize at a high level?

MR. SMITH:  You've asked that question.

MR. DUMKA:  So we have that on the record.  Okay.

So basically we've -- I think you've said it was things like finance, accounting, IT, that sort of stuff?

MR. SMITH:  You've asked that question.

MR. DUMKA:  I'm just asking for confirmation.

MR. SMITH:  You don't need confirmation if you've asked the question.

MR. DUMKA:  Fine.  Let's move on.  And in part (b) we asked for the savings from using temporary staff, and we asked for that information to go for the period up to 2019, and the information provided is only for the 2011 to 2013 period.

Now, we know from the other IRs that we've got the temporary staff head count all the way through to 2019.  So would it be possible for you to provide -- or to expand this table to include the requested information to 2014 to 2019?

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask the witness if we have an estimate of annual cost savings for '14 and '15.

MS. POWELL:  It's purely formulaic.  It's not -- it was based on our 2015 base year, and after that it's a formulaic calculation.

MR. JAMAL:  If I may, if you turn your attention to the IR response BOMA 14, which states that we do a one-year detailed plan, and we don't plan the detail in the outer years.

MR. DUMKA:  Right.  And the response to Society 6, part (b), you're asked to provide information up to 2019.  You've provided information up to 2013.  You've got detailed estimate for 2015, so presumably you can provide the savings for 2015.  And one way or another can you provide that and the 2014 savings which are not in this table?  And I understand from what you told us earlier that you've straight-lined the temporary staff, so ergo the savings, for 2016 and '19, so you would seem to have that data available.

So would you be able to complete this table out to 2019?

MS. POWELL:  We can provide you with '14.

MR. SMITH:  We can provide '14?  Okay.  We'll do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.7, to provide the data for the year 2014.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.7:  WITH REFERENCE TO IR SOCIETY 6 PART B, TO PROVIDE DATA FOR THE YEAR 2014 AND 2015.


MR. DUMKA:  How about for 2015, the base year, where you've done all the detailed calculations?

MR. JAMAL:  We have not done -- prepared detailed calculations for the years after 2015.  We've only done -- prepared a detailed plan for 2015.

MR. SMITH:  I think he is asking you for 2015.  We'll do '14 and '15.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  And --

MS. HELT:  So that will be the same undertaking then, TCJ2.7, to provide the data for 2014 and 2015.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thanks.  I appreciate that.

Now, part (c), we asked in the same IR, what's the average and longest duration that a temporary staffer is employed by Toronto Hydro.  And I look at your response to part (a).  I'm just curious.  You're:

"...hiring employees on contract for a defined term allows the utility to cost-effectively resource peak demands and maintain flexibility to support operations."


And hiring criteria is specific to each role, et cetera.


I'm curious as to why you have a temporary staff member who's there for peak and whatever else work, and they're there for eight years.  Just seems kind of odd.


MS. POWELL:  I'm sorry, was there a question?


MR. DUMKA:  The question is:  Why, if you're hiring people for peak resourcing, et cetera, why would you have them there for eight years in a temporary position?


MS. POWELL:  I don't recall, actually, the individual, who this person is.  I'm sure it's a resource that is working on a number of projects.


MR. DUMKA:  What's the sort of the ballpark for temporary staff?  It's about a year; is that -- just more a matter of curiosity.  Or is there sort of a cycling of two or three individuals or whatever with an FTE of 1 for the year.  I'm just curious in terms of what the sort of average ballpark is.


MS. POWELL:  The average duration?


MR. DUMKA:  Yeah, the average duration.


MS. POWELL:  It is approximately a year.


MR. DUMKA:  It is approximately a year?  Okay.


Is it possible to get some sense of the churn of individuals you've got in FTE?  I'm pulling numbers out of the air.  Say it's 2014; you've got 40 FTEs.  Would it be possible to get a ballpark of how many different individuals make up that -- the 40 FTEs or whatever the number happens to be?  I just want to get some sense in terms of the churn.


MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that.  We've provided the FTE number.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That's fine.


I want to go to part (f).  That's the last on these.  I have an additional question on another IR.  But the question was:

"Please provide the estimated annual negative impact on productivity of employing temporary staff."


The idea there being that if you have people coming in, you have to train them up quickly to get something done.  So you have a burn-in period and this, that, and the other thing.


So an estimate was requested in terms of what that -- I'll call it negative impact on productivity is.  And the response that we got did not provide any numerical information:

"Toronto Hydro's view is that the time invested in training temporary staff is offset by the benefits that this approach provides, in particular flexibility and cost containment and satisfying functional requirements in resourcing peak demands."


That's fine.  What we're looking for here is some sort of a numeric ballpark in terms of the amount of that FTE that's necessary to bring that individual up to speed, as compared to having a person sitting in that job in a permanent position.


MS. POWELL:  That is not something that we can provide a detailed calculation for.


MR. DUMKA:  I'm not looking for a detailed calculation.  It could be a rough 10 percent or 20 percent or whatever else.


MR. SMITH:  I think the witness said we don't have it in -- detailed or otherwise.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


I just have one question with regards to 4A-CCC-29 where an organization chart was provided.  And that's appendix B of that particular IR response.


Now, just one or two general questions.


I'm just curious as to, sort of organizationally, what's the difference between a director position and a manager position.  Hierarchically, is one above the other, or are they just same titles for the same sort of position?


MS. POWELL:  They're in the same category.


MR. DUMKA:  Same category?  So wherever we look at this -- each one of these boxes, the detailed boxes, generally speaking those individuals are all sort of the same level of organization?


MS. POWELL:  They're in the senior management category.


MR. DUMKA:  Sorry?


MS. POWELL:  They're in the senior management category.


MR. DUMKA:  Senior management category?  So all these positions here?  Okay.


Would it be possible to get an org chart from 2011, from some point in 2011, just so we can see how the organization has changed?


MS. POWELL:  Our systems actually -- we don't have an org chart device that allows us to go back in time to re-create that.


MR. DUMKA:  Would there have been something in the last time you were in front of the OEB, an org chart?  Like, just bring forward that org chart?


I don't mean to ask you to have to custom-generate something, but just a scan a piece of paper you have back at the office, or evidence that was filed in -- last time you were here in front of the OEB.


MR. SMITH:  What we will do -- we're not going to generate anything, but what we will do is check the rebasing filing for 2011.  And if something was filed, we'll certainly refile it.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And that -- we'll just tie that off with Undertaking TCJ2.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.8:  TO CHECK THE 2011 REBASING FILE FOR ANY EXISTING ORG CHART AND IF SOMETHING WAS FILED, TO REFILE IT.


MS. HELT:  I think we can continue on before we take the morning break with a few of the parties who just have a few questions.  I understand Board Staff has one question.  Mr. Zwarenstein, if you would like to go ahead?

Questions by Mr. Zwarenstein:

MR. ZWARENSTEIN:  My question relates to OEB Staff 35, part (c).  And in the response, you mention periodic maintenance, and I asked the question whether that's done on a regular cycle, and would it occur more frequently or be split up as the equipment gets older.


Yesterday, I heard that transformers, for example, might pull more maintenance at the end-of-life.  And in the technical conference yesterday, at page 24 Mr. Walker indicated in response to a question by Mr. Rubenstein that they can tell:

"... how effective our program is being by how our maintenance costs trend."


So my question is:  Would periodic maintenance be expected to be on a regular cycle, regardless of the age of the asset?  And if there is additional work, would that maintenance appear in a different category if it increased towards the end of the year -- lifecycle?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Most of our programs are on fixed cycles in terms of maintenance.  However, it would be expected that as assets do age, some asset classes would be put on more frequent maintenance.


And there's examples both from our distribution side of the business and our station side of the business, which was spoken about yesterday.


I believe Mr. Paradis gave one particular example about fibre-top cleaning, and that's an example of an asset that has aged, and because of characteristics that we've identified in that particular asset, we're now doing more frequent maintenance.  In that particular case, it would be fibre-top cleaning.


Mr. Walker and I believe Mr. Simpson yesterday spoke about stations maintenance, and how as -- let's use power transformers as an example.  As they age, we might decide to do more maintenance on them.  And in the situation of power transformers we have decided to do more diagnostic testing, simply because we are concerned about the health of some of those transformers.

So we have begun to introduce more diagnostic testing that we haven't been doing in the past.  So to answer the question, generally speaking our cycles are fairly fixed, but there are specific examples within each of our programs where we do make adjustments.

MR. ZWARENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Thank you for that answer.  That's it.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Zwarenstein.

I see that CCC has estimated approximately ten minutes for this panel.  Would you like to proceed, Ms. Girvan?
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure, thank you, and might be -- probably be less than that.

Who is here to answer questions with respect to customer care?  Thank you, Crawford.  Is anybody?

MR. JAMAL:  I can give it a shot, but I'm not the subject-matter expert.  I can...

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's helpful.  So if you can turn --


MR. SMITH:  Of course, if it's appropriate we'll give an undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, okay.  So if you could turn to -- it's Exhibit 4A-CCC-No. 35.  And on page 2, this sets out just the details with respect to customer care.  And what I've noticed is just in moving forward from 2014 to 2015 there are several categories that are increasing significantly.  We have external services and other under the billing remittance and meter data management.  We have other under collections, and we have external services under customer relationship management, and what I'm looking for is just an explanation as to why we're seeing increases in those four areas.  Maybe you need to have an undertaking to provide me with that.

MR. JAMAL:  Yes, take an undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That would be Undertaking --


MR. SMITH:  We'll do that.

MS. HELT:  Sorry, Mr. Smith, were you --


MR. SMITH:  We'll do that, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you've got the categories, specifically?  The external services under billing, remittance, and meter data management, other under billing, remittance, and meter data management, other under collections, and external services under customer relationship management.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.9A:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION AS TO WHY THERE ARE INCREASES IN THE FOUR AREAS:  THE EXTERNAL SERVICES UNDER BILLING, REMITTANCE, AND METER DATA MANAGEMENT, OTHER UNDER BILLING, REMITTANCE, AND METER DATA MANAGEMENT, OTHER UNDER COLLECTIONS, AND EXTERNAL SERVICES UNDER CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great, thank you.  That's all I have.

MS. HELT:  Ms. Greey, do you have any questions?

MS. GREEY:  No.

MS. HELT:  All right.  I think I'll push ahead with one more.  AMPCO, you have a 15-minute estimate for questions?  All right.  If you'd like to proceed.

MR. SMITH:  I'm looking at Madam Reporter.  Given we started at 9:00 and we've generally speaking been going on for an hour and 45 minutes --


MS. HELT:  If you'd like to take a break, or we can go on for 15 more minutes.  It's up to you.

MR. SMITH:  You've put her on the spot.  Why don't we take 15.

MS. HELT:  Oh, all right.  Thank you.
--- Recess at 10:42 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:01 a.m.

MS. HELT:  We are set to resume with questions for the members of panel 3.  Before we took the break, Ms. Grice was about to ask questions, and then it was pointed out to me that we needed to take a well-needed break.  So now we're set to go.

Ms. Grice, your questions?
Questions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Good morning, panel.  My first set of questions are regarding THESL's overtime.

And my first question is if THESL could please explain how overtime is used to meet its core programs.

MS. POWELL:  Overtime is used to help us execute our capital plan so where we need to -- where there is increased work, we implement our overtime policy.

MS. GRICE:  And are there specific programs that are -- require overtime more than others, specific capital work programs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Overtime will vary from one program to the next.  And the factors that would influence that are -- you know, could be tremendous.

So just a couple of examples that I have here is if there's a particular project that comes up that has a very pressing need, and we don't have the resources to do it but would have the resources to do it on overtime, we would bring on resources to do it on overtime.

Other things that might influence it also are external factors.  So, for example, in the downtown core of Toronto there may be access restrictions; roadwork can only be done during certain times.  So if a very particular program is doing work in the downtown core, we may have staff do that work in overtime.

But generally speaking, I can't point to a particular program that we say we only do on overtime.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So on an annual basis, then, does THESL budget overtime?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  And you do it on a program level or a capital planning level?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This particular panel is not familiar with the details as to how we budget that.  The capital panel yesterday would have known some of those details.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Are non-union employees eligible for overtime?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, non-union employees are eligible.

MS. GRICE:  So do you have a written policy for -- that covers off the conditions of that overtime work?  For non-union?

MS. POWELL:  We do have a policy, a guideline.

MS. GRICE:  And in terms of non-union management, are they eligible for overtime?

MS. POWELL:  Non-union management?  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  And is it the same overtime policy that governs them as regular non-union?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.  So, for example, our supervisors, yes.

MS. GRICE:  And what about your executives?

MS. POWELL:  No.

MS. GRICE:  Not eligible?

MS. POWELL:  Not eligible.  Any manager level, leader level, no.

MS. GRICE:  And then in terms of when overtime is paid, is it your policy it's paid at time and a half or at double time?

MS. POWELL:  I believe it's double time.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I just want to go to a reference in the evidence.  It is Exhibit 2B, section C, page 17.  And this has do with one of your efficiency -- one of your metrics, and it is the planning, engineering and support efficiency metric.  And I'm going to read a little bit from the first paragraph and then I'll get to my question:

"Planning, engineering and other eligible administrative costs associated with capital program or project development are a component of Toronto Hydro's total capital costs.  For the purposes of its 2015 to 2019 Distribution System Plan, Toronto Hydro proposes to track the proportion of its total capital expenditures on distribution plant and associated civil infrastructure that is comprised of indirect planning, engineering and support labour costs."

And then it goes on to say that:

"By measuring the resulting ratio and taking steps to ensure that it remains within or below historical levels, Toronto Hydro plans to drive the efficiency and productivity of these processes."


And then if we just go to the next page, on page 18 sort of halfway down that paragraph that covers lines 1 to 15, at line 10 it says that there is variability, and it's caused by "circumstances such as overtime."

And so what I'm thinking is in order to understand this metric historically and moving forward, I was wondering if I could please have Toronto Hydro's budgeted and actual overtime for the years 2010 to 2015.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask the witnesses if we have the information from 2011 through to 2015.

MR. JAMAL:  Yes, we do.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  We'll provide that.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.9B:  TO PROVIDE THESL'S BUDGETED AND ACTUAL OVERTIME FOR THE YEARS 2011 TO 2015


MS. GRICE:  And this is the last area of my questions.

If we can please turn to Exhibit 4A-VECC-37, and in response to part (a), it's regarding the table 5 and the costs for Toronto Hydro's vegetation management budget for 2011 through to 2015.

And it says that the increase in expenditures in 2015 is attributed to two factors, and the first one is an increase in market prices provided by contractors.

And then if we go to the evidence, which is Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 34, the historical and forecasted spending is provided.  And the evidence indicates that the increase in 2015 of 1.8 million is due to increase in market prices provided by contractors, and it's due to a 16 percent increase in average unit costs.

And I just wondered if we could get a table or a schedule that shows the average unit costs provided by contractors for the years 2011 to 2015.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Just to clarify, you're asking for contractor unit costs?

MS. GRICE:  To prune trees on one circuit kilometre of line.  That's how it was phrased in the evidence in terms of what the unit costs capture.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Okay.  And you would like that for 2015?

MS. GRICE:  No, sorry, for 2011 to 2015.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Okay.  Well, we do have available for those years, and the exhibit that you've referenced there that's Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 34, there is the total spending for the program.  And that's in Table 5.  What we can provide is we can provide the kilometres of line that were cleared in each of those years, and then the division of one to the other will provide a proxy, and I think more specific than that we won't be able to provide.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Could you also provide then the number of trees pruned annually for each of those years as well?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So just to be clear for the record then, Undertaking TCJ2.9 will be to provide additional information concerning the chart that is found at Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 1, to provide in addition to what is presented the number of kilometres of line, as well as the number of trees pruned annually.  Is that it?

MS. GRICE:  That's it, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.9C:  WITH REFERENCE TO the chart found at EXHIBIT 4A, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF KILOMETRES OF LINE And THE NUMBER OF TREES PRUNED ANNUALLY.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Mr. Rubenstein?
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I just have a couple questions to start off following up on some other questions that were provided.  The first is a conversation that you had with Mr. Dumka with respect to temporary staff.  I just want to make sure I understood and there was not a mixing up of different terminology.

Mr. Dumka was asking you about, you know, hiring agencies and staffing and how that fit into the temporary staffing numbers in the appendix A to Society Interrogatory No. 4.  In my understanding there are sort of two types of agencies.  One is a headhunting type agency where they find you candidates and you pay a fee to them.  But when that employee is hired it's a Toronto Hydro employee, and it would be in that table.  Am I correct?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the fee that you're paying that's not in that table, that would be in the professional services category.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. POWELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the second type are -- and I'm trying to understand how it fits in -- would be, you can hire through an agency a temporary employee, and they essentially work for the agency on a temporary basis.  Would that be in the temporary staffing numbers, or would that be like other contractors you have for capital work.  It would be in a program but not in the staffing table?

MS. POWELL:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Second follow-up I had, you were asked a question about the difference between director and manager.  And your response was essentially they are the same.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that wasn't quite --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm asking for the clarification.

MR. SMITH:  That's not quite right.  They're in the same management, broadly, category.  And different question whether they are the same hierarchically.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So they're in the same category, but all things being equal, a director is more senior to a manager?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

And then just following up on a question from Ms. Grice about overtime, and she asked you if it's double time for overtime or time and a half, and you said, I believe, you believed it was double time.  Am I correct?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that for both union and non-union?

MS. POWELL:  It is the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

There's a number of interrogatories that discuss this, and this was discussed in the capital panel.  I'm not sure if you were listening yesterday.  One of the discussions that I had with the panel and a number of parties had is, what's the effect of capital, the capital spend in this -- in the test period on the OM&A spend.  There was a large discussion about that.

And I want to understand from the OM&A people who are involved in the OM&A side what the effect of the OM&A budget in this test period is with respect to capital projects that went into service, let's say through the ICM period, the 2012 to 2014 period.  Can you discuss how the applicant's capital spending that you've had in the 2012 to 2014, the significant capital spending, it affects your OM&A budget in the test period?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Probably the best way to go about describing that would be, if I can turn your attention to 2B-OEB Staff-34, and in particular part (b).  Now, at a general level -- and the discussion yesterday touched upon different elements of this -- the capital expenditures over the -- you know, historically, can be expected to have a few different effects on O&M spending.  In some instances where we're adding new assets or increasing asset counts they would increase the O&M spending.  In some cases they really wouldn't have any effect at all, and then in some cases, as the question that was raised earlier this morning by OEB staff, they would decrease spending slightly in cases where we would be doing increased amounts of maintenance because a particular asset is further along its life span and deteriorating in condition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to draw a direct connection with the ICM spending and what the OM&A is being asked for in this -- for 2015?  Can you say but for the ICM spending the OM&A would be some amount higher?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We have not done that analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you tell me just directionally would it be a material amount?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  For me to comment on that I would want to think through each of the different elements within our O&M program, and for example, Mr. Walker yesterday spoke about the four elements, the predictive and preventative program side, the corrective side, and the emergency side.  I would need to think through all four of those.

Generally speaking I can tell you on the predictive and preventative maintenance side it would not be material, and similarly I would say would be the case on the emergency response side, where there might be some reduction, and I can tell you that our planners have considered that, would be on the corrective maintenance side.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You said you had to think about it, so I don't know if you want to take an undertaking to think through the other categories?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, it would be if you wanted more detail than that particular response, I would need to take some time to think about it.  But that would be my general response in terms of your directional request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.

Can I ask you to turn to 1B-SEC-8, appendix A, page 73?  This is the UMS group report.  73.  My understanding from the evidence is -- and I'll give you the reference.  I don't think you need to turn it up.  It's from 4A2, schedule 1, page 2.  There is an increase from 2.6 million to $4.4 million from 2014, 2015, in the vegetation management cost, and the question I want to know is, based on this report, for vegetation management Toronto Hydro actually gets, you know, gets a very good score.  It's aligned with best practices.  That's the green rating.

So can you square to me why we would be seeing relative to the cost, to the annual cost of vegetation management, such an increase if you're already getting quite a good score?

I'm conscious of the time, so if you want to do this by way of undertaking, I have no problem with that.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we take the undertaking, to move things along?  Unless...

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Let me maybe respond to that briefly, and this is sort of -- I'm just looking at this at a glance here.

If I turn you to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 34 -- and that's at the bottom of the table that you were referring to that shows the increase of vegetation management costs, going from 2.6 million to 4.4 million in the test year -- and if I can refer you to lines 18 through 20, what, in effect, we're saying is the reason we're increasing vegetation management costs are to do two things.  One is to further reduce the cycle, and the second one is, in the later years, to undertake some additional storm hardening activity.

The UMS report that you just referred me to, under "Industry practice" there's some discussion there about what utilities typically focus on.  And if I'm reading this correctly, it suggests that utilities first begin by trying to get on cycle.  And then once they're on cycle, they move towards removing -- removal of overhang and additional vegetation.

And those square up with the two things that Toronto Hydro is trying do in the vegetation management area.  Ultimately, this particular business case or the section here speaks to the improvements in reliability that we expect and the reasons for why we are increasing vegetation management spend.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So your read of the -- page 73 of the UMS report is consistent with your increased spending?

I see that you're reading it for the first time, so that's why -- I mean, an undertaking might have a wholesome answer, I think, that's beneficial to everybody.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.  We'll provide the undertaking.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.10:  TO EXPLAIN THE INCREASE IN VEGETATION MANAGEMENT SPEND.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 4A-CUPE-5, and ask you to turn to specifically page 2?

SEC is interested in understanding retirement trends for THESL and its effect on the test year budget.  I'm wondering if you would be willing to provide us a table similar to the first one on this page –-

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, I don't know whether you do, but we don't seem to have the right interrogatory.  Was CUPE 5 the interrogatory?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  You have it on the screen.

I was wondering if you would be willing to provide the table that you provided in response to part (a) that's on the top of page number 2, going back to 2000.  And the reason I ask is this allows parties to assess the extent to which the problem of aging work force is similar or greater to the past periods.

MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask the reason?

MR. SMITH:  Because it's an unreasonable request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to interrogatory 4A Society 4?  If I can ask you to turn to appendix A, this is the chart that we talked about this morning.

And I confess it's not -- I was not clear exactly what undertakings you gave with respect to this table, but the undertaking I would be wanting to seek -- are you able to provide this table, but extend it from 2016 to 2019?

MR. SMITH:  My understanding is that we've not done that level of detail planning for 2016 through to '19.  And on that basis, we would not be prepared to provide it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I forget the interrogatory response, but there was sort of a staffing level analysis for 2016 to 2019, and there were some assumptions you had made.  You hadn't done a detailed analysis, but I think for management, you had kept them constant.

Are you able to provide the 2016 to 2019 based on the assumptions that you're making?  And I understand you haven't done the detailed analysis, but you would have a sense of projected increases in wages.  I recognize there's a number of assumptions that you would have to make, but would you be able to do that?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, I'm having some trouble understanding the relevance of it, given Toronto Hydro's proposal, which is not a cost of service approach and to live under an IRM framework, I-X, for the period 2016 to 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There's a couple of reasons.  First, it gives us an understanding of the projection of your costs and how you're controlling them.

But also you're seeking rates for 2015 to 2019.  Your proposal is to do it on I-X, but in theory it may not be the best way to do it.  And this would help us have a record of the sort of costs that you could be forecasting from 2015 to 2019, which you're setting rates for on those -- for those years.

MR. SMITH:  I don't agree that it's a reasonable request.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Question about Interrogatory 1B-BOMA-49.  It refers to Exhibit 1B, which is panel 4, but I think it actually might be better asked to this panel.

This is with regards to the outage management system.  Am I correct to understand that there's no plan in place to measure the results and benefits of the outage management system going forward?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, my understanding is that the next panel may be better positioned to answer that, and if not, then we'll have to take an undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I understand that we may have the answer from Mr. Millmore.

MR. MILLMORE:  Can I get a clarification in regards to your question about the outage management system?  Currently it is in place, so what change are you requesting?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you measure the results and the benefits it generates?  Is there sort of a measurement aspect of it?

MR. MILLMORE:  In what regards?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, are you -- it's obviously a -- are you measuring in any given year based on the expenditures that have been spent on the system, on the outage management system, measuring the results, measuring those costs against the results that it generates, how you're measuring your --


MR. MILLMORE:  In reference if it was paper system or in reference to another system?  I can't see what reference you're trying to make there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll take it as you don't -- you're not doing it.  You may take the position that that's reasonable.

MR. MILLMORE:  That would require an immense amount of work, to work out what the cost difference would be from someone doing it via paper versus someone doing it via an installed electronic system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for this panel.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  I believe Mr. Garner has some questions on behalf of VECC.
Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I do.  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

My first question is in regards to interrogatory 4A-VECC-47.  And it may be helpful if at the same time you were able to bring up Exhibit 4A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4.  And there's a table on that page entitled "Table I, historical bridge and test year OM&A".

Now, the --


MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, could you repeat the reference, please?

MR. GARNER:  Of the exhibit?  The exhibit was Exhibit 4A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4.

MR. JAMAL:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Now, what the interrogatory was attempting to do was to take a snapshot looking at your spending -- your OM&A spending up to the third quarter of '13 and comparing that to the third quarter of '14 in order to see how your progression is in comparison to a past period.

And I think I appreciate your response if I understand it.  So maybe the first thing is to make sure I understand it.  What I understand your response to be saying is that the category -- that you couldn't do it up until the third quarter of '14 versus third quarter of '13, and for two reasons, and reason one was that the actual categories that are used in Table 1 of the main body of evidence are not the categories that you previously used, they are the categories now being used by the Board under its 2013 filing requirements.  Have I got that correct?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So my first question about that was -- and I understand what I think you're saying there then, is that the Table 1 that's in the main body of evidence, in order to construct that table for the past periods, so periods pre-2013, is what you did was to map USOA accounts to those different categories that are shown in that table?

MR. JAMAL:  As the evidence describes, we typically manage our business under responsibility centres or divisions, so that's how we typically track our costs.  To present this view on a program basis we undertook some interviews, and we allocated costs from our typical -- in a typical way we manage our costs under divisions to this program view, so there was some assumptions that were made.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that's -- and I just want to be clear, so that's saying no to what I said.  It wasn't a simple mapping of a USOA account from one period into those categories versus another period.  That would be an incorrect view, right?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That's very helpful.  Helps me understand why you had the difficulty you did.

Now, just so I'm clear as to the table you did provide, if I took the sums of the table in the main body of evidence -- and because you don't have 2011 and '12 in there -- the sums aren't -- sorry, this is, sorry, a second -- this is only two periods -- in the response to the interrogatory you only gave me two quarters, right, and in the table in the main body of evidence that's a full year.  So what's unclear to me was, would that still represent the same full-year number, so if I took the 2013 column that you gave in response and I extracted the next two quarters, would I get the same sum total of 246.4, which is the 2013 actual?  I'm probably not being very clear, because all I'm really trying to say is, does it sum to the same thing in that year?  Am I looking at apples to apples that way?

MR. JAMAL:  Well, what you see in the interrogatory response is the -- a part of the annual cost.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. JAMAL:  It's not necessarily -- you can't just extrapolate that number and get an annual number, because the spending trend is different.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I'm clearly not being clear.  So what I'm asking, though, is if I did take the 2013 column in the IR response, and instead of giving the second-quarter actuals I did to the full year, 2013 end-of-year actuals, would I get the same sum total as what's in the main body of evidence of 246.4?

MR. JAMAL:  If I understand your question correctly, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  I just want to make sure we're looking at the same body of numbers in total there.  Okay.  So thank you.  That's also very helpful.

The other thing that left me a bit confused was, as I understood your response, you couldn't provide 2013 third quarter because you didn't have audited results; is that correct?  Or was it because you don't have 2014?

MR. JAMAL:  That's correct.  The intention was it was '14 that's not audited.

MR. GARNER:  I see.

MR. JAMAL:  And we do not have audited quarterly statements.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I understand.

Do you have unaudited versions of '14's third quarter?

MR. SMITH:  No, we don't have that information that we're prepared to provide --


MR. GARNER:  Mr. Smith, I would prefer that the witness answer the question.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Well, we're not providing the information.

MR. GARNER:  I didn't ask for the information.  I asked if he had it.

MR. JAMAL:  We have management reports for the third quarter.

MR. GARNER:  They would then -- and would you have the same for '13?

MR. JAMAL:  We do.  Not in the categories that are presented in the body of evidence.  As I described earlier --


MR. GARNER:  Right, but in the categories that you presented in the response to the interrogatory?  Since you have them for second quarter, I'm assuming they would be available for third.

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Now, I'd like -- thank you, and that -- Mr. Jamal, that's all I have for your area.  So thank you very much.

Ms. Powell, I have a question for you.  It's in regard of VECC interrogatory 4A-VECC-48, and it was spoken about earlier.  It's this table about FTEs.  And I -- we had asked that you recategorize them into the executive, excluding executive, non-union, and union.  And one of the reasons being -- and I thought this conference being the best place to ask this, because it's more of a generic question -- excuse me.

I understand how the non -- or, sorry, the union compensation is calculated.  It's a labour negotiation.  And I'm not asking you about how you get to your strategies in that negotiations.  It's not of interest to me.  Maybe to others, but not to me.  What I am interested in is, were the other three categories -- what are the, therefore, strategies, or what's the methodology in which you determine the compensation for each one of those categories.  So non-union, non-management, how is that set going forward in the company?

MS. POWELL:  We review market data for that in establishing what the potential rate increases should be.

MR. GARNER:  Like a Perrin Towers report sort of thing?  Right.

MS. POWELL:  Exactly.

MR. GARNER:  Is that the same for all three categories, executive, management, and non-management, or is it different for those three?

MS. POWELL:  No, they would all be included.

MR. GARNER:  They would all be included.  Thank you.

And have you undertaken that already for the upcoming year, 2015?

MS. POWELL:  We have already purchased surveys from various consulting firms, yes.

MR. GARNER:  All right.  Okay.  Now, tell me just generally, how does the agreement, the labour agreement that you've come to, how does that impact these other three categories?  Does it at all, or is it all about these reports and management judgment thereof?

MS. POWELL:  They are -- they're not mutually exclusive.  However, what we try and do is we realize that within some of our management groups that there is compression issues.  But we're not using that as a reason or rationale to bump up management rates.

So as an example, the union increases over the last few years has been 3 percent.  On average in the same time frame our management job rates have only gone up 1.75.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That's very helpful.

Just generally again, compression, can you tell me, going forward, '15 onward, is it a big or a large aspect of the pressure for increasing non-union?

MS. POWELL:  No, it's not.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I'm finished with that interrogatory.  I have one other one.  It's 4A-VECC-46.

Now, Mr. Keizer earlier suggested this is the subsequent panel, and it may be.  But I have two parts to this question, or three parts to the question.

The third part of the question asked about how many practicing lawyers THESL employs.  And the answer we got was how many regulatory lawyers they employed.

And although I appreciate how important those lawyers are to THESL, I was wondering:  Do you know how many practicing lawyers are paid at THESL, or could you find out?

MR. JAMAL:  I think that's best for the next panel.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Can you tell me, Ms. Powell, as a policy of THESL, do you pay Law Society and professional engineering fees?

MS. POWELL:  We do pay for the professional fees.

MR. GARNER:  You do, for both those categories?  Okay.  I think those are my questions.  Thank you.  Thank you, panel.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Are there any other questions for this panel?  All right, then.  Thank you very much, members of panel 3.

It is now quarter to 12:00.  We have an option.  I don't want to be pushing ahead if people feel like it's a good time for a break for lunch.

However, I know we are -- we can proceed and start with panel 4 if that's the preference as well.

MR. SMITH:  We have to get our panel, so why don't we take an early lunch and come back at quarter to 1:00 and go on through?

MS. HELT:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.

--- Lunch break taken at 11:44 a.m.
--- On resuming at 12:44 p.m.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  We have Toronto Hydro's fourth witness panel, fourth, final witness panel for this technical conference, and I would ask the panel to introduce themselves, starting closest to me.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 4


Andrew Herczeg


Wendy Cheah


Darryl Seal


Amanda Klein


Kaleb Ruch


Steve Fenrick


MR. HERCZEG:  Andrew Herczeg, finance manager.

MS. CHEAH:  Wendy Cheah, finance manager.

MS. SEAL:  Darryl Seal, manager of rates.

MS. KLEIN:  Amanda Klein, director of rates and regulatory affairs.

MR. RUCH:  Kaleb Ruch, senior regulatory policy advisor.

MR. FENRICK:  Steve Fenrick, leader of economics and market research at Power System Engineering.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, members of the panel.  Is the reporter indicating she needs another name, or is she all right?

MR. FENRICK:  Steve Fenrick, F-e-n-r-i-c-k.

MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.  This is then panel 4, the final panel for this technical conference.  There are a number of questions from various parties.  Board Staff will be going first with Board Staff questions.

We have on the phone Larry Kaufmann, who is a senior advisor to PEG, and he has been retained by Board Staff with respect to assisting staff in this review of the application.  Mr. Kaufmann will be asking his questions via teleconference.  If you can't hear him, or Larry, if you're having difficulty hearing any of the answers, please let us know.  Otherwise I turn it over to you now.
Questions by Dr. Kaufmann:


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Will do.  Can everyone hear me okay?

MS. HELT:  I think so, yes.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Good.  My first question is on interrogatory 5, and part (c) of this question, and actually -- can you hold on just a second, because I'm --


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kaufmann, it's Crawford Smith.  When you say interrogatory 5, do you mean Board Staff Interrogatory 5?

DR. KAUFMANN:  I do.

MS. HELT:  And just so that you know, Mr. Kaufmann, we will be bringing up the documents in real time on the screens for the witness panel to review, so it may take a few minutes for the interrogatory to come up on the screen.

What I think I will do to assist you is I'll let you know when it's on the screen so the witness panel can see it, and then you can -- I'll let you know when you can ask your question on it.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  So we have Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5 now up on the screen.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And I would like to go to part (c) of this interrogatory.  And as you can see, part (c) asked how a C factor adjustment to allow prices will exactly recover the company's change in capital-related revenue requirements if the C factor does not take account of changes in billing determinants between years.  And the company's response was that it is critical for -- or it is critical that the proposed PCI retain the characteristics of varying with the billing determinants which it shares with the Board's 4th generation IR PCI.  Is everyone there?

MS. HELT:  Yes, we're there.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So the first question is just to clarify that the 4th generation IR PCI, is that referring to the PCI that the Board established for what it called price cap IR?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And is it your understanding that the Board established price cap IR as a mechanism designed to recover the costs of any specific distributors subject to price cap IR?

MR. RUCH:  Sorry, could you restate the question, please?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Yeah, the question is, it's about price cap IR and whether when the Board established that did they establish that as a means -- was it focused specifically on recovering the cost of any specific distributors subject to that form of regulation?

MR. RUCH:  We can't comment on what the Board intended to say.  This is just our interpretation of it.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  But would you agree that price cap IR was established using industry-wide data on input prices and TFP growth?

MR. RUCH:  With that are you referring to the specific factors within the formula?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Correct, the productivity factor and the inflation factor.  Those were both based on industry-wide trends and not company-specific trends; isn't that correct?

MR. RUCH:  With regards to the inflation factor, yes, we would agree.  With regards to the productivity factor, we understand that both Toronto Hydro and Hydro One were excluded from the analysis.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Correct, but it's the industry -- the industry was defined to exclude them, and based on that definition of the industry that that was -- that's the productivity factor that was used, correct?

MR. RUCH:  So, yes, in addition to the fact that both Toronto Hydro and Hydro One were excluded, we also understand that the analysis came to a conclusion where there was actually a negative productivity factor, but that the Board selected a zero productivity factor.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And the custom IR approach, that's different, isn't it, because that is focused directly on a specific company's projected cost over the course of the IR term; isn't that right?

MR. RUCH:  The custom capital factor that we proposed is a reconciliation of our capital need within the IR framework, yes.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, I would like to take you to Exhibit 1B, tab 1, schedule 3, page 9.

MR. SMITH:  You mean tab 2?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Possibly.  If so, my apologies.  What I show is, it's Exhibit 1B, tab 1, schedule 3, page 9.

MS. HELT:  We're just pulling that up.  There is apparently no Schedule 3 for tab 1.  Are you looking, Mr. Kaufmann --


DR. KAUFMANN:  Take it subject to check that in your application you've calculated a value of CN for 2016 of 5.15 percent?

MS. HELT:  For 2015, did you say, Mr. Kaufmann?

DR. KAUFMANN:  For 20 -- it would take effect in 2016.  So it would be based on the forecast capital-related revenue requirement from 2015 to 2016.

MR. RUCH:  I believe you're referring to the originally filed evidence from the end of July.  We've updated the schedule in roughly the middle of September.  I believe the value that you're referring to would be approximately line 6 of that page.  And based on that update the CN value for 2016 is 4.1 percent.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So that value is now 4.1.  Okay.

I would like to ask you a question which considers a very simple scenario so there's not a lot of math involved, but I would just like to investigate the impact of a 4.1 percent rate increase on revenues.

And in this scenario, let's assume that the value of I-X happens to equal zero, and no other base rates adjustments from the Z factor or any other non-PCI elements of the plan.  And let's also assume that all of Toronto Hydro's billing determinants increase by 2 percent between 2015 and 2016.  Okay?

In this scenario, would base rates increase by the CN value of 4.1 percent?

MR. RUCH:  Yes.  The value of CN would be 4.1 percent.  In a scenario where I-X is equal to zero, that would be the only component of the custom price cap index.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And given that you have a base rate increase of 4.1 percent and under this scenario all your billing determinants increase by 2 percent, would Toronto Hydro revenues under this scenario increase by 4.1 percent, or more than 4.1 percent?

MR. RUCH:  I believe we answered that question in part (b) of that interrogatory.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Actually, I mean, this is a specific example, so it's a different question.  It's a hypothetical scenario.

MR. RUCH:  So in a situation where you would have a CN value of 4.1 percent, I-X is equal to zero and billing determinants change by 2 percent or increase by 2 percent, the base rates would increase by 4.1 percent.  And then there would be an incremental amount of revenue due to the increase in billing determinants.

Which is, I believe, what with we've summarized in part (b) of that interrogatory.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  In this scenario, your revenue would increase by more than 4.1 percent, or increase by more than the amount of the changing costs reflected in the CN factor; is that correct?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Thank you.

I would like to turn now to Staff Interrogatory 6.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  It's on the screen, Mr. Kauffman.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Page 2 of that response, line 26.

MS. HELT:  Yes, we're there.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And the question is:  Doesn't this formula show that all the components of cost/revenue requirements are adjusted by an I-X formula, an I-X amount?

MR. RUCH:  The adjustments are to a price gap and not to any single expenditure line.  We've simply broken down I-X into three components that could be thought to refer to a capital share, an OM&A share and a revenue offset share.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And do those three components -- are those the three components of your revenue requirement?

MR. RUCH:  Base revenue requirement, yes.

DR. KAUFMANN:  I was wondering if you would agree if all the components are adjusted by an IR formula, would you agree that would be an example of what the Board calls comprehensive IR?

MR. SMITH:  Is there a particular reference to a Board report that you're referring to?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Yes.  I don't have the reference in front of me, but the Board uses that term in -- well, in the RRFE report.  And in fact, I believe it's quoted -- the RRFE report on page 9 makes reference to comprehensive IR and targeted IR.

And I reference that in (d), part (i) of this interrogatory.

MR. RUCH:  I do see the reference, yes, on page 9.

DR. KAUFMANN:  So would you agree that if all components of your cost are being adjusted by an I-X formula, that that's -- that would be a comprehensive application of I-X?  Would you agree?

MR. SMITH:  Apologies.  I may be just a little bit behind.  Are you looking at table 1, Mr. Kauffman, on page 9?  Sorry, I ask the question because -- my apologies -- also on page 5, the Board uses the word "comprehensive" when talking about 4th generation IR, custom IR and annual IR index.  You'll see that it uses that word, and it also used it in the introduction section on page 1.

So it seems to have been used several times.  I'm just not sure if it's being used the same way by the Board in all instances.

DR. KAUFMANN:  What I'm asking is your interpretation of comprehensive IR, based on the Board's report, and based on your understanding and interpretation of the way the Board has written about comprehensive IR, whether you would just agree with the equation that we're talking about on line 26.

Do you think that that would be an example of comprehensive IR?  Everything is being adjusted by an I-X formula, all components of cost?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, that is one form of comprehensive price cap indexation.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, on line 11 of page -- on the same page, this has the formula for your custom IR plan; is that correct?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, that is an expression of our price cap index.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in this formula, it's true that only the non-capital cost components, the non-capital components of revenue requirements are being adjusted by the I minus X formula, and capital costs are being recovered by the CN factor; is that correct?

MR. RUCH:  The formula does not apply directly to costs.  The custom price cap index applies to base rates under which there are the three components of base revenue requirement.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, let's go to page 3 of this response, lines 11 through 13.  And in these lines -- is everyone there?

MS. HELT:  Yes, we're here.

DR. KAUFMANN:  In these lines Toronto Hydro says that it believes the custom PCI it proposed is a comprehensive approach to ratemaking in that like the OEB's 4th generation IR PCI, a value that is determined by the formula is applied directly to base rates.  Is that correct?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, that's what the interrogatory says.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, the question here actually asks something very specific, which was to explain in detail how the custom IR plan recognizes the inter-relationship between capital expenditures and OM&A expenditures, which was something that was talked about in the RRFE report.

And I'm just wondering how you can tell me how the formula that you have on page 11 recognizes that inter-relationship between capital and OM&A expenditures, since they're recovered by separate formulas under your -- or separate mathematical mechanisms and regulatory mechanisms under your proposed custom IR?

MR. RUCH:  I would disagree with that suggestion.  The formula -- the entirety of the formula that produces the custom PCI value is applied to base rates.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  But is there -- can you just tell me where in the formula again the inter-relationship, which is the Board's word, the inter-relationship between capital and OM&A, can you just tell me where in this formula that's reflected?

MR. RUCH:  Again, sir, the equation, all of its components, when summed together, are what is applied to base rates.  Perhaps I'm misunderstanding what you're asking.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Let's move on to Board Staff Interrogatory 10.

MS. HELT:  Yes, we have that, Mr. Kauffman.  It's on the screen.  I just note that there was a confidential response provided to this interrogatory, so I trust that if there are any questions that are going to be asked with respect to anything that's confidential, you will let me know beforehand so that we deal with that question appropriately in camera if necessary at the end of the questions, and hopefully there will be no questions on confidential material.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  I will do that.  I don't believe any of this is confidential.

Part (a) of this response asks PSE to identify the data source for SAIFI and SAIDI for each and every U.S. utility in the database; isn't that correct?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in your response you reference a zip file that has the requested information, but your response also says that not all data sources continue to be available on websites or could be located by PSE in the limited time to respond; isn't that correct?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's what it says.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So subject to check, would you agree that PSE is not able to identify the source of the data that it used for 85 of the 377 sample observations in its -- for both SAIFI and SAIDI?

MR. FENRICK:  One thing that needs to be kept in mind is the reliability data set is constructed through hundreds, if not thousands, of web searches that have been undertaken over a fairly lengthy period of time.  And so PSE did make our best-faith efforts to put together a reliability data set, and we have used that data set for other clients.

And so certain -- certain portions of the data are no longer available on websites, but at one point in time we did collect that data and turn it into our data set.

DR. KAUFMANN:  No, I understand the challenges of collecting reliability data.  Just the question is about the magnitude of the data that couldn't be identified, the data source.  And subject to check, would you agree that you were not able to verify or identify the source of data for 85 of the 377 observations?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, subject to check I'll accept that.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And subject to check, 85 of 377 is approximately 22-and-a-half percent?  Would you agree?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, subject to check, that sounds about right.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Based on your experience with reliability benchmarking, do you think it's unusual for a study to be put forward in a regulatory proceeding where the analyst can't identify the source of 20 percent or more of the data that are used in that study?

MR. FENRICK:  No, I wouldn't characterize that as an unusual occurrence in regulatory proceedings.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And you would agree that the Board has to -- before it's going to put any weight on an analysis it has to have confidence in the quality of the underlying data that are used in the analysis.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Kauffman, can you help me with how that's a question by way of clarification, which is really the purpose of the technical conference?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  We can strike that and move on if you like.

Let's go to interrogatory 11.

MS. HELT:  Yes, we have interrogatory 11 on the screen.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And I would like to go to page 3 -- excuse me, lines 3 through 5 of the response.

MS. HELT:  Yes, Larry, we're there.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, these lines say Toronto Hydro was not included in the models that are referenced in this interrogatory, which were put together for WPS, Wisconsin Public Service, and properly inserting Toronto Hydro and conducting the analysis for the company would require several weeks' worth of effort.

My question to you, Mr. Fenrick, is:  Can you just explain the concept of out-of-sample benchmarking?


MR. FENRICK:  Yes.  On a high level, I can explain out-of-sample benchmarking, which is essentially taking a utility or utility observations and using a data set that is constructed with other utility observations, and then applying that result to that out-of-sample utility.

An example in this case is Toronto Hydro and the forecasted cost and the cost benchmarking that we used, where we took the historical data and the interrelationships between variables and applied that to look at Toronto Hydro's forecasted costs.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And is it also possible to apply out-of-sample benchmarking to a firm that is not included in the sample that's used to estimate the benchmarking model?

MR. FENRICK:  In reference to the question in the WPS testimony, that would not be possible for Toronto Hydro because all the definitions, the cost definitions were changed to align ourselves with the Board's econometric benchmarking research, and what Pacific Economics Group put forth in the 4th generation IR.

So we aligned ourselves to have consistency from the Board's model to this model, and so the definitions would not be the same.  So it would not be an easy -- it would be a considerable amount of work to do an out-of-sample projection with Toronto Hydro.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So are you saying that what you would have to do to do an out-of-sample benchmarking of Toronto Hydro using this model is you would have to redefine Toronto Hydro's cost to be consistent with the cost definition that was used in the model that was presented for WPS?  Is that correct?


MR. FENRICK:  That would be correct.  If we were to use the exact models that we did, that PSE used in the WPS testimony, we would need to align, realign Toronto Hydro's cost values.  And then we would also need to gather the reliability data.  It would be introducing an entirely new data set into this proceeding to undertake that research.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  I would like to move to Board Staff Interrogatory 12.


MS. HELT:  Yes.  We have it on screen.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in part (a) of this response, lines 12 through 14, you say the kilowatt-hour was not found to be statistically significant in the combined US/Ontario model, but it was positive and statistically significant in the US-only model; correct?  Isn't that what this response says?


MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And then lines 16 through 18 of your response to question (b), you say the reason that you did not include kilowatt-hours in both models was that you wanted consistency in outputs between models; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  That was one of the reasons.  If we continue on with that response, we also stated PSE does not believe kilowatt-hours is a relevant or meaningful variable to include when looking at distribution total cost expenses.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Right.  But consistency was -- that was one of the issues that you considered; correct?


MR. FENRICK:  Correct.  Consistency, along with -- PSE's engineering and system planning experts, I had some conversations with them as far as looking at kilowatt-hours as a variable, influencing or looking at distribution total costs.

And when they go to plan systems, it's really about the number of customers that they're connecting to the grid and the peak demands that they need to hit and need to size the system for.  So there's very little rationale, in PSE's opinion, to include a kilowatt-hour variable when looking at distribution total costs.


DR. KAUFMANN:  But would you agree that PSE was not consistent regarding the customer density variable, since the combined model includes a customer density variable while the US model does not?  Is that right?


MR. FENRICK:  With econometric total cost benchmarking, there's three sets of variables, essentially.  There's outputs, there's input prices, and there's business condition variables.

PSE wanted to maintain the outputs in making those consistent across the models.

Customer density is in the category of business condition variables, and there, as you can see, there's a number of instances where the models are formulated differently based on the data that was available and the results of the T-statistic test.

So that's basically the distinction between those, those two definitions.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Let's go to interrogatory -- Staff Interrogatory 16.


MS. HELT:  Yes, we're there.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And I would like to give Mr. Fenrick a minute or two to read lines 5 through 14 of this interrogatory.  So let me know when you've reread those lines.

MR. SMITH:  My apologies.  Do you mean of page 1 or page 2?


DR. KAUFMANN:  Page 1 of the actual interrogatory itself, not the response.


MR. FENRICK:  Yes, I've read those.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, this question asks about the mean firm in the sample; isn't that right?


MR. FENRICK:  Yes, in part (a), the question references the mean firm in the sample.  Yes.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Doesn't it do the same in part (b)?


MR. FENRICK:  Yes.


DR. KAUFMANN:  There is no reference to any particular utility or subset of utilities?  Just a sample mean; correct?


MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in your response, you confirm your model found diseconomies of scale for the mean firm in your combined US/Ontario sample; isn't that right?  Your response to part (a)?

So it would be lines 25 and 26 on page 1.

MR. FENRICK:  The response presented says the model coefficients would indicate diseconomies of scale.  I don't think we stated that we found economies of scale.  But those coefficient values do indicate diseconomies of scale at the mean firm.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Can you help me out in terms of how you're distinguishing between an indicator versus a finding?


MR. FENRICK:  I believe the difference there is we take -- the PSE takes the sample coefficients as indicating, if you sum up those two coefficients on the customers and the peak demand, it indicates diseconomies of scale.  We would not take that -- PSE, myself would not take that as a finding that there is diseconomies of scale at the mean, the sample mean.

Certainly at the combined data set where the average is 67,000, I wouldn't take that as a finding.  I would simply say that those coefficients indicate that.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So your econometric estimates indicate that there are diseconomies of scale at the sample mean for the combined U.S./Ontario sample; isn't that right?  I think you just -- you just confirmed that that's -- that is what your model found -- or indicated.


Can you just briefly explain to a non-economist what it means for the mean firm in a sample to be characterized by diseconomies of scale?  And in particular, if you could relate that to the concept of the minimum efficient scale for a firm or utility, just a brief explanation of the concept of diseconomies of scale relative to the mean efficient, or the minimum efficient scale.


MR. FENRICK:  Could you define "minimum efficient scale" for me?


DR. KAUFMANN:  Well, it's a well-defined term, so I'm asking you to explain the concept of diseconomies of scale relative to minimum efficient scale, as that term is understood in neo-classical economics.


MR. SMITH:  I don't think it's too much to ask that if it's well-understood, for you to provide the definition that you're intending.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  The minimum efficient scale is the point at which unit costs are minimized.  So that is the output level at which the unit costs of production are minimized.


So can you explain the concept of diseconomies of scale relative to that concept of the minimum efficient scale?


MR. FENRICK:  I can certainly give it a shot.  Diseconomies of scale essentially means in economic terms that as a firm grows larger its unit costs will increase.  Conversely, as it would get smaller, its unit costs would decrease.  Relative to where those unit costs are minimized, that's one of the things one might look at, as far as looking at the optimal size of a firm, as far as when economies of scale are exhausted and what they are at given certain levels.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So if there are diseconomies of scale, then economies of scale have been exhausted, and a firm is actually operating at a point that's beyond the minimum efficient scale.  Would you agree with that?


MR. FENRICK:  If diseconomies of scale are truly present, then, yes.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And your econometric model for the combined U.S./Ontario sample indicates that there are diseconomies of scale at the sample mean, which would mean, based on the discussion we've just had, that at the sample mean firms in this sample are beyond the minimum efficient scale which would minimize the unit cost of production; isn't that right?


MR. FENRICK:  I think it might be relevant to say one of the reasons PSE embarked on doing the translog cost function was that's essentially what the Board approved in the 4th generation incentive regulation.  They endorsed that specification.


So when PSE put together our data set, it was tasked with looking at the cost levels of Toronto Hydro, we determined to use the translog cost function to have continuity between what the Board preferred and when doing our analysis.


The translog cost function doesn't necessarily estimate economies of scale per se.  It's looking at all the data and letting the data speak on its own merits.  And so we then set out to estimate as accurately as possible the economies of scale when doing our research.


What we were really tasked with was evaluating Toronto Hydro's cost levels and developing a specification and a model that would best do that.  So including the data set observations that we did in using the translog cost function does indicate diseconomies of scale, but that's just simply letting the data speak and coming up with those findings on the coefficient values.


DR. KAUFMANN:  But you would agree that the issue of economies of scale was relevant for assessing any electric utilities, electricity distributors' cost, and its cost performance.  Wouldn't you agree with that?


MR. FENRICK:  Could you restate that question?


DR. KAUFMANN:  Yeah.  You were talking about the fact that you were tasked with understanding and evaluating Toronto Hydro's cost, and in the process of doing that you have some outputs in your model, and the coefficients that are estimated for those outputs will indicate, and in your model they did indicate, that -- well, they will indicate the degree of scale economies.  In your model they indicated that they were diseconomies of scale.


And my question is whether the issue of diseconomies of scale in any cost benchmarking exercise is relevant for assessing the cost drivers and understanding the cost performers of a subject utility like Toronto Hydro.


MR. FENRICK:  Dr. Kauffman, you may recall during the 4th generation incentive regulation this issue also came up when evaluating Pacific Economics Group's model, and there were also some anomalous findings, as far as negative elasticities, when it came to outputs.  It's my understanding that the Board preferred -- still prefer the translog cost function in letting the data speak, even given those findings; as well, if we look at what the 4th generation incentive regulation model says about economies of scale, I believe if you sum up that model it's point 71, which a lot of economists might also have issue with as far as at the mean scale.


So I think my answer would be, no, it's not necessarily relevant, it's just letting the data speak, in doing the translog cost function, to have continuity between what was done in 4th generation IR and what PSE put forth in this proceeding in letting the data speak, as far as that goes.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Since you reference 4th generation IR, you're not saying that the PEG model and 4th generation IR indicated that there were diseconomies of scale at the sample mean?  You're not saying that, are you?


MR. FENRICK:  No, on the contrary, the sum was actually point 71 on those outputs, which is quite a large finding of economies of scale at the Ontario sample mean.


DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  So -- and the question here is the sample mean.  And I'm just asking whether you think in an industry like electricity distribution the coefficients that are indicated on scale economies are relevant and in fact quite important for understanding and assessing the quality of any model that you use to benchmark electricity distributors?  I mean, wouldn't you just -- the question is whether -- I mean, these are the outputs of the company, and don't you think it's important to come up with estimates of scale economies that seem reasonable and seem reasonable to people in the industry and based on people's general understanding of the cost characteristics of the industry?

MR. SMITH:  Professor Kauffman -- or Dr. Kauffman, my apologies.  Is this question different than the question that was just asked by -- answered by Mr. Fenrick?

DR. KAUFMANN:  I believe it is, yeah.

MR. FENRICK:  It might be helpful if could -- could you contrast the two questions and maybe isolate for me what the difference is that you're asking for, so I can better answer?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Why don't we just move on?  Let's go to Board Staff Interrogatory 17.

MS. HELT:  We have Interrogatory 17 on the screen.  Yes, we're there, Larry.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in the preamble of the question, this quotes the PSE report stating that:

"Prior to 2007, the company was consistently near 30 percent below benchmark expectations.  This is suggestive that the company's capital was in need of investment."


First question is –- so that's what the preamble says.  And in this sentence, the reference is to Toronto Hydro's costs; isn't that right?  That's what's 30 percent below benchmark expectations?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.  PSE's findings for Toronto Hydro's total costs in 2007 and prior were greater than 30 percent below benchmark.  So their total costs are found to be 30 percent or greater below our benchmark findings, based on the PSE models.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And in this passage, the "benchmark expectations," do those refer to the econometric estimates of -- the econometric benchmark estimates for Toronto Hydro?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes.

DR. KAUFMANN:  So in this sentence, you were comparing Toronto Hydro's actual costs to an econometric estimate of the company's expected costs, given various cost drivers; isn't that right?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And on page two of this response part (c)...

MS. HELT:  We're there.

DR. KAUFMANN:  You're there?  Okay.

The first sentence says:

"PSE was not tasked with explicitly evaluating Toronto Hydro's efficiency."


Is that correct?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's what it says.

DR. KAUFMANN:  I would like you to turn to Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 2, page 6.

MS. HELT:  We're at page 6.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Line 23, Toronto Hydro is talking about various materials that are being presented in support of this application, and at line 23 on this page, it mentions:

"... a comprehensive total cost econometric benchmarking study evaluating the efficiency of Toronto Hydro's past and forecasted expenditures against a large sample of electric utilities in Ontario and the United States."


So I assuming that the study they're referring to is the PSE study; isn't that right?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Does Toronto Hydro have a different understanding of what PSE was tasked to do, since there's an explicit reference here to evaluating the efficiency of Toronto Hydro's costs, and PSE says that it was not tasked with explicitly evaluating Toronto Hydro's efficiency?

MR. SEAL:  Dr. Kauffman, I think Toronto Hydro -- I think maybe we're quibbling with the specific wording.

In the initial benchmarking exercise by the OEB, I think the word "efficiency" has been used sometimes in place of "cost benchmarking."

So I think what we're getting at here -- and we can get into the specific meaning of the word, but what we meant here is that PSE was tasked with providing a benchmarking study for Toronto Hydro.

And I think in PSE's response, well, maybe I'll let Mr. Fenrick speak exactly what he meant by "efficiency" in this case, but I believe it was with respect to the particular IR questions.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Kauffman, did you hear that response?


DR. KAUFMANN:  I did.  I was wondering if Mr. Fenrick was going to follow up.  Okay.

Since the individual mentioned the Board's report and the Board's use of the term "efficiency," would you take, subject to check, that in the November 4, 2013 report of the Board on 4th generation IR, that the Board said that it assigned stretch factors to distributors, and this is a quote:

"... based on their efficiency as determined through PEG's econometric total cost benchmarking model."


MR. SMITH:  Was there a page reference, sir?

DR. KAUFMANN:  I believe that is page -- I believe that's page 9.  I don't have that in front of me, though.  Subject to check.

MR. SMITH:  Is it important to the next question?

DR. KAUFMANN:  It is.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe we should turn it up, then.

DR. KAUFMANN:  I'm sorry, it's page 19 on that report.  It's the statement that's bolded on page 19.

MS. HELT:  We're just trying to pull it up.

MR. FENRICK:  yeah, we found that reference.

DR. KAUFMANN:  So you can see there the Board says that it:

"...has determined that distributors will be assigned to one of five groups with stretch factors based on their efficiency as determined through PEG's econometric total cost benchmarking model."


And you're familiar with how PEG benchmarked distributors in that proceeding, aren't you?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, I am.

DR. KAUFMANN:  It was based on a comparison of their actual cost to an econometric estimate of their expected cost, based on sample estimates, sample econometric estimates of cost drivers; isn't that right?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. KAUFMANN:  And the difference between actual and expected costs was taken as an indicator of efficiency?  It is taken as an indicator of efficiency by the Board; isn't that right?

MR. FENRICK:  The Board is using those residuals or those scores as the basis for the stretch factor evaluations.  And they do use the word "efficiency" here, but I would hate to put words in the Board's mouth.  I don't know exactly what their thoughts are.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  But they are saying that there is efficiency that is used to assign one of five groups to stretch factors, and efficiency is determined -- in their words -- it is "determined through PEG's econometric total cost benchmarking model"?

MR. SMITH:  Sir, I think we can read the Board's report.  I'm struggling to understand the question of clarification that you're asking.

DR. KAUFMANN:  The question of clarification is I was wondering if Mr. Fenrick disagrees with this statement by the Board and then the Board's statement here that comparing a distributor's actual costs -- and he has agreed that efficiency in the PEG model that's referenced here was based on a comparison of actual cost to predicted cost by the econometric model.

The Board says here that that comparison leads to that as a measure of efficiency.  That's how efficiency is determined.

And I'm wondering whether Mr. Fenrick disagrees with that characterization, because he has estimated a model that's identical to PEG's in underlying structure and in terms of the benchmarking application of comparing a company's actual costs to the costs predicted by the model, but he has resisted defining that difference as efficiency, whereas the Board defines it as efficiency here in this report of the Board.

MR. SMITH:  Just so I can understand as a non-economist, is your question really going back to the interrogatory we looked at a few minutes ago, Staff 16, what Mr. Fenrick was referring to when he referred to the word "efficiency"?  Because if I understand what you're saying is you took the Board to be saying your model was an assessment of efficiency and PSE's model is an assessment of efficiency, so you were wondering about the interrogatory that we just looked at?  Have I cut through that correctly?

DR. KAUFMANN:  We're still on Interrogatory 17, and there are actually two questions, so why I don't I just ask them directly.

MR. SMITH:  That would be extremely helpful --


DR. KAUFMANN:  An example of this interrogatory, Mr. Fenrick, the questions at the outset indicated that there is -- this -- the -- when he says here the company was 30 percent below benchmark expectations, that's based on a comparison of actual costs, Toronto Hydro's actual costs, to its predicted costs.  And so that's a 30 percent gap.

And there are two issues.  One is that the Board has used that comparison, the difference between actual cost and predicted cost, as a measure of efficiency, but Mr. Fenrick is drawing a very different conclusion here.  He is saying that -- he is not using this 30 percent gap to indicate that the company is highly efficient.  He is saying that this is suggested that the company's capital was in need of investment, which is a very different kind of conclusion.

So the first question, I suppose, is:  Isn't that true?  Isn't Mr. Fenrick drawing a different conclusion from his benchmarking analysis than what the Board draws from PEG's benchmarking analysis, which is identical in form, in terms of the analysis that's been undertaken and being prepared?

MR. FENRICK:  No, I would not say I made -- or PSE made a different conclusion than the Board in here.  We essentially -- PSE really made no conclusions on what is causing that 30 percent gap, and we certainly did not say it was not due to efficiency.  I think there could be -- it could be efficiency.  It also could be aged capital, infrastructure that needs to be replaced.

So I'm not in any way quabbling (sic) with the Board's characterization of efficiency.  All I'm saying is, given this large gap, combined with the safety results that show a system that has higher outages than our models would predict, those two things are suggestive of a capital infrastructure that is in need of increased investment.

In no way do I mean to imply that the company is not efficient or that 30 percent gap is not due to efficiency, but that those two results together in my mind as an expert in this area, I believe those two things are suggestive, not making a conclusion -- our main conclusions are Toronto Hydro's costs are well below our benchmark values.  That's our conclusion.  As far as what those conclusions suggest, it could be either one of those things or both.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Why don't we go back to the actual question here, which is question C of interrogatory 17, Board Staff Interrogatory 17.  And why don't you help us understand.  You're saying that there are multiple things that -- multiple possibilities, multiple explanations that can be drawn from this comparison.  And that's actually what I was asking about in this question.

The question is, please state the criteria that PSE would use to discriminate between the hypotheses that, one, management has underinvested, which seems to be what you're saying here in the preamble, versus, two, management has been highly cost-efficient versus -- there's a typo there.  Management has been highly cost-efficient.  Because what we're looking at here is the difference between the actual cost and predicted cost of Toronto Hydro in a specific year, or at least an average of those -- average of actual costs and average of predicted costs in the year, in a year.

So I'm just -- the question here was trying to -- it was designed to help me understand how you're discriminating between these two very different hypotheses from this one piece of evidence.

MR. FENRICK:  Could you state the question, please?

DR. KAUFMANN::  I thought I did.  The question is how do you -- what criteria would you use to discriminate between the two hypotheses that are suggested here in interrogatory C?  One is that management has underinvested or, two, management has been highly cost-efficient, when the company's costs are 30 percent below benchmark expectations.  That's your finding.

What criteria are you going to use and are you using to determine that the company is underinvesting, and what you say here, its capital is in need of investment, versus a finding that the company is highly efficient?  How are you discriminating between the two?

MR. SMITH:  When you say, Dr. Kaufmann, that PSE concluded that the company was underinvesting, are you referring to the preamble to the question where PSE -- this is suggestive?  Is that the portion of the evidence that you're referring to?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Yeah, again, the question says -- and let me just read the question.  Maybe this will be the simplest way to address this.

"Please state the criteria that PSE would use to discriminate between the hypotheses that management has, one, underinvested or, two, been highly cost-efficient when its cost benchmarking analysis finds the actual cost of a distributor are below its expected costs."


So that's the question.

MR. FENRICK:  Dr. Kaufmann, in the preamble it does say "suggestive", so we made -- PSE made no conclusions on what was drawing -- or what the reason for that 30 percent gap, you know, where Toronto Hydro's total costs are well below what our models would expect them to be historically and moving forward.  We made no conclusions and didn't apply any specific criteria to distinguish between those two possibilities.

The total cost result along with PSE's SAIFI result where the frequency of outages is higher than our models would expect in our opinion does suggest that possibility.  That's all we're saying in that statement.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Well, but the question is, how do you discriminate between that possibility and other possibilities?  There has to be some sort of process or some sort of framework, evidence, something that you're using to come to that conclusion as opposed to other conclusions, such as it's highly cost-efficient, and the question is just, I'm really trying to understand how you discriminate between two very different conclusions.

MR. SMITH:  Unless I'm misunderstanding, Dr. Kaufmann, my understanding from the witness's evidence is that he did not attempt to distinguish between those possibilities.  So the question you're asking him is what criteria did you apply, and he is saying:  I didn't apply any criteria because I didn't attempt to draw a distinction.


MR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.


MR. FENRICK:  If I could just clarify, the only criteria we did use was the reliability benchmarking in combination with the total cost.  So that would be the only additional information we, PSE, provided to the Board to illustrate that, but those two are the only criteria and the only analysis we did relevant to this.


MR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Let's move on to Board Staff Interrogatory 20.


MS. HELT:  We have Interrogatory 20 up.


MR. KAUFMANN:  And part (a) pertains to whether or not undergrounding was a statistically significant driver in SAIDI.  And the response here, page 2, lines 2 through 5, says here that:

"Given that including the variable did not directionally change results, in fact including it made the need of capital spending to address SAIFI increase, PSE decided to remain conservative and avoid a controversial variable."


Just here, could you -- should this read "needed" versus "need."  Isn't that a typo?


MR. FENRICK:  Sorry, I couldn't hear your –- "need" versus -– what was the other alternative?


MR. KAUFMANN:  "Needed."  So shouldn't this just grammatically -- shouldn't it read:

"... included [sic] it made the needed capital spending to address SAIFI increase."


MR. FENRICK:  Yes, I believe so.


MR. KAUFMANN:  So the question is:  Where in your model do you quantify what you call the "needed capital spending to address SAIFI"?  Because you're saying here that when you included it capital spending increased.


I'm wondering what it was before and what it was after, and where in your model you're quantifying this linkage between capital spending and SAIFI?


MR. FENRICK:  As we discussed from the prior line of questioning, we, PSE used the SAIFI econometric results to suggest what the capital level of Toronto Hydro was as far as:  Is the system old?  Is it -- does it have an aged infrastructure?


PSE used the SAIFI result to essentially suggest that, yes, the system appears to have greater outages than we would expect, and it's likely that might be caused by old infrastructure.


And combined with the total cost econometric result of Toronto Hydro being below our benchmark values, those two results in combination suggest that possibility.


And that essentially is the extent of our analysis on the age of Toronto Hydro's infrastructure.  We didn't do -- undertake any sort of other evaluation of the infrastructure, other than the econometric benchmarking results.


MR. KAUFMANN:  So can you help me understand how that suggestive -- suggestive finding, how is that enhanced by including undergrounding, because you said here it made the needed capital spending to address SAIFI increase.


How is that manifested in your results, that suggestion that it's -- the need is increasing?  I'm not sure what actually happened to lead to that suggestion.


I understand the suggestion in general terms, but now you're saying that you're making a judgment that capital spending is going to be increasing when you address this problem, and I'm not sure how you're drawing that conclusion from the models.


MR. FENRICK:  Dr. Kauffman, it might be helpful to look at the table we produced in PSE's response to part (a).


In this table, you can see under the "SAIFI" column the percent difference from Toronto Hydro's SAIFI values to the PSE model expected values.


When we inserted the underground variable, you can see, for instance, in 2015 the company's 48 percent above our SAIFI expectation.  Versus in our original model where undergrounding was not included, the company was 31 percent above the benchmark evaluation.


So this difference between 31 percent and 48 percent essentially shows SAIFI values that are higher than the PSE benchmark expectations by a greater percentage.


MR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  But given that, I guess I don't understand why you didn't include it, because it's having a material impact.  I suppose there's a bit if judgment about whether this is material, but it looks like SAIFI is going up.  The difference between actual and predicted SAIFI, when you include this variable, goes up by 17, 18 percent a year.  So that's a -- that indicates that if you don't control for this, that you're understating the extent to which Hydro One -- or Toronto Hydro's customers are experiencing more outages than expected.


So, for example, on average your model shows that right now Toronto Hydro's customers are experiencing about 73 percent more outages, the SAIFI value is about 73 percent above the benchmark expectations.  So that means, on average, customers experiencing 73 percent more outages than what you would expect for a company that's operating its system.


But these results indicate that if you would include undergrounding, that number would be something like 90 percent.


I'm just wondering why -- and undergrounding is so central to what companies do, distributors do as a strategy to deal with outage problems.  I'm just wondering why you decided not to include it, given that it is so -- it's understood to be such an important variable in terms of influencing SAIFI values, and your results show that it's actually having a fairly significant impact on the model results.


MR. FENRICK:  In the PSE response to this question, we indicated -- as you know, with econometric benchmarking, the variable decisions that you make require an external-type variable.


And PSE felt that undergrounding -- especially since I haven't -- I'm no expert in the capital planning of the company, my belief is that part of the capital plan could potentially be to underground certain assets.


So we felt at PSE that this would not be an external variable, but more of a management decision variable.


Since, as you said, it increases the SAIFI finding, we wanted to remain conservative and not in any way try to overstate the finding, but rather avoid a controversial variable and pull that out.


Certainly an argument could be made to include the undergrounding variable, if you felt that was more of an externalized variable rather than a management decision, in which case that's -- we provide the results there.  Certainly our conclusions would not be changed whatsoever if you were to include that variable or exclude it.


We chose to remain conservative on it, but it's one of those areas where a researcher could believe something differently.  As you say, percent undergrounding is a relevant -- or maybe not relevant, depending on your belief on that, but is a significant driver of reliability, which is why utilities routinely underground assets when trying to improve reliability.  But we presented the Board -- to the Board results that we felt if anything in your words understated the reliability finding.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Well, that's interesting.  Why would you want to understate the reliability finding, as opposed to just reporting the most accurate finding you could?  I mean, and understating of a finding could be interpreted as trying to make the client look especially good.

MR. SMITH:  Is that argument, sir?

DR. KAUFMANN:  Let me restate that as a question.  Why would you -- why would you choose to understate the benchmarking evaluation, as opposed to not?  I mean why -- if the value -- I mean, is it -- you know, you're the one that said that you want this to be conservative.  Why is that -- why is understating the benchmarking evaluation a conservative position?

MR. FENRICK:  As I said in my prior answer, this variable -- the undergrounding variable can very easily be seen as a management decision variable.  And so in trying to figure out what is the most accurate model, PSE looks at and tries to determine externally driven variables to the best extent that we can, especially given that one of the things that utilities routinely do to address reliability concerns is underground assets.

So I would probably take issue with your statement, you know, why not come up with the most accurate model.  PSE believes this is the most accurate model.  Now, certain researchers, probably yourself included, might say, well, maybe the percent undergrounding isn't actually a management decision variable, but is externally determined.  That's why we showed the results that our conclusions, as far as our benchmarking analysis, would be unchanged, no matter what decision is made.  It's not as if this -- our conclusions hinge on the percent undergrounding decision.  I believe I laid out why we made that decision.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Just two more questions here.  Your -- one of your cost models includes an undergrounding variable; isn't that correct, your cost benchmarking equation?  I believe it's for the U.S.-only sample.

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct, for the U.S. only.  Total costs sample, there's an undergrounding variable included.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Wouldn't all your concerns which you have stated about it not being an external condition and more of a management type condition, wouldn't those also apply for the cost side?

MR. FENRICK:  Not nearly as strongly.  As you know, the percent undergrounding variable can have a strong influence on reliability.  You know, it's fairly well-known within the industry that as you underground assets reliability improves.  Total cost is much -- has probably a lower -- I would characterize as a much lower impact on the total cost, and for that rationale we included it -- we did not include it in the combined total cost results, and the results are very similar, as far as the results go.

So again, the percent undergrounding variable is unlikely to directionally or meaningfully change any of the conclusions or results.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Let's turn to interrogatory -- Board Staff Interrogatory 27.

MS. HELT:  We have it on the screen.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And I wonder if you can -- if this isn't a proper thing to ask, then let me know, but I was wondering if you can indulge me, and maybe this a better question for the Toronto Hydro witnesses, but the SAIFI -- when you benchmark SAIFI and SAIDI under the custom IR plan, there's projected values for SAIFI and SAIDI through 2014 through 2019; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  From PSE's standpoint we were provided those projections and inserted those into the model.

DR. KAUFMANN:  And my question is, I'm just wondering where those projections came from?  Were they based on another mathematical model, an econometric model, an engineering model, anything like that, or were they based on judgment?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we provide that answer by way of undertaking.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.11:  TO PROVIDE THE SOURCE OF THE PROJECTIONS FROM THE MATHEMATICAL MODEL.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  And then turning to this interrogatory itself, for several distributors you said you decided to exclude SAIDI and SAIFI from your sample in particular years because the distributor was not included in your cost model in those years; isn't that right?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, in accordance with the RRFE document, which required benchmarking the cost forecasts, we put together total cost benchmarking data set.  For the reliability data set we only included those observations that were also in the total cost benchmarking so as not to introduce other observations outside the total cost data set.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Can you explain -- so that was your rationale for not including -- I guess I'm confused about exactly what your rationale is for not including data that you had for SAIFI and SAIDI if you could have included it.

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, as stated, our rationale was we did not want to introduce any new observations outside of the total cost benchmarking.  What the RRFE document requires forecasts to be benchmarked, the cost forecasts to be benchmarked, so using that data set we did not want to introduce other observations outside of that data set.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  But the cost of benchmarking and the reliability benchmarking, those are two separate inferences; isn't that right?  On two separate aspects of Toronto Hydro's performance?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, that's correct.  They're two separate evaluations or models on separate distinctions, total cost versus SAIDI or SAIFI.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Now, just in general, isn't the quality of statistical modelling and statistical estimation, isn't that improved by adding information to the sample, assuming that the information is accurate?

MR. FENRICK:  In general, yes, I would agree with that statement, which is another reason why using the U.S. data set in combination with the Ontario, both on the reliability and the total cost, creates a larger data set with more observations, so, yes, I'd agree with that.

DR. KAUFMANN:  Okay.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Kauffman.

I do understand Board Staff has a few additional questions to follow up from yesterday with respect to Ms. Kwan and a few other members of Board Staff as well, so first we'll go with Ms. Kwan.
Questions by Ms. Kwan:


MS. KWAN:  Okay.   So I did have a couple of questions.  The first one is on IR -- Board Staff IR 79.  That's on other post-employment benefits.  So in the response, Toronto Hydro indicated that since 2000 it has received $37 million in rates greater than the amounts paid for OPEBs, and it was also indicated that the excess recovery have been used to fulfill the cost of ongoing utility operations.

So I was just wondering if Toronto Hydro has ever considered setting aside the excess recovery for the purpose of paying out OPEB liabilities in the future.

MR. HERCZEG:  Not to my knowledge.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And given that Toronto Hydro has used the excess recovery for ongoing operations, when Toronto Hydro is required to pay out the OPEB liability in the future, is Toronto Hydro going to ask for additional recoveries for OPEB from ratepayers?

MR. HERCZEG:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, are you asking:  What will Toronto Hydro do in a future application not covered by this application?

Because if that is the question, then I don't think that's an appropriate question.

MS. KWAN:  We're asking if there is a plan, because part of the OPEB liability was already in rates in past applications.

MR. SMITH:  I mean, I understand the fact that there is a difference between accrual and cash accounting and the treatment from a ratemaking perspective, which, of course, is a feature of accrual accounting generally.

But I don't think it's an appropriate question to ask what Toronto Hydro proposes by way of a 2020 rebasing at this time.

MS. KWAN:  I guess we're not asking what their -- we're just seeing what's the general plan of OPEBs treatment in general, and not necessarily what they propose to do in a future application.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Toronto Hydro's proposal in this proceeding is to recover OPEBs on an accrual basis, as reflected in the application.  That is what the application is based upon.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  But how about the excess recovery that's been recovered in the past?  Are there any thoughts on that?

MR. SMITH:  As Board Staff will be acutely aware, this is an issue that has come up a number of times, in which there have been a of variety of different suggestions made with respect to whether or not there ought to be a generic proceeding, but Toronto Hydro's application is filed on an accrual basis.

Which, subject to check, was also the basis on which 2011 rates were set and approved by the Board.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  Then I'll move on to Board Staff IR 76 -- sorry, not 76, 86.

So in this IR, Toronto Hydro stated that it has decided not to apply for a disposition of the 36 million in account 1508 for actuarial losses upon the transition to IFRS, but Toronto Hydro wishes to reserve the right to maintain an account and potentially apply for disposition of a future actuarial loss.

So what would happen if Toronto Hydro has a future actuarial gain if interest rates and AA bond yields went up?  Does Toronto Hydro plan on refunding the amount to ratepayers?

MR. HERCZEG:  If at the next cost of service award, the next point in time, then that would be -- whatever the balance is at that time that's been audited, that would be forwarded in the application.

MS. KWAN:  So it doesn't matter if it's a gain or a loss at that time?  Because in the response that was provided, it only refers to a loss right now.

MR. SEAL:  I think what we're indicating by this response, Ms. Kwan, is that currently we're not proposing to clear this OPEB account.  We've indicated that over time the account value will change, as the underlying variables that impact this account will change.

Right now, we're not proposing to clear it.

MS. KWAN:  But you may plan to propose to clear it in the future?

MR. SMITH:  The company may make a decision in the future with respect to this deferral account.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  If there are any staff reductions, that would lower the current service costs; would that affect the variance account?

MR. HERCZEG:  There are many factors that go into the account.  We do get evaluation by a third party, so I cannot at this point say that one factor would have -- what impact it would have.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And I have some questions on Board Staff IR 75 on PILs.

So in this response, Toronto Hydro indicated that the IFRS de-recognition loss of 25.8 million for 2014 doesn't appear as an addition to the 2014 taxable income calculation, because this amount is not included in net income for calculating PILs.

So how did Toronto Hydro treat the 25.8 million in the PILs model?  Is it still sitting in the UCC pool at the end of 2014?

MR. HERCZEG:  We'll take that as an undertaking, please.

MS. HELT:  TCJ2.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.12:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THESL TREATED THE $25.8 million IN THE PILS MODEL, WHETHER THESL HAD ANY OPTIONS ON HOW TO TREAT IT FOR TAX PURPOSES, WHY THESL CHOSE THE OPTION IT DID, AND TO EXPLAIN POSSIBLE IMPACT ON PILs OF CHOOSING ANOTHER OPTION, FOR 2014 AND 2015.


MS. KWAN:  I would also like to know if there is an option in terms of how the 25.8 million can be treated for tax purposes.  Like, for example, if it could be treated as a capital loss, or I guess if it's still sitting in UCC.

MR. SEAL:  What's the question?

MS. KWAN:  Does Toronto Hydro have any options in terms of how to treat the 25.8 million for tax purposes?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we include that in the undertaking?

MS. HELT:  All right.  So we'll note that with Undertaking TCJ2.11 [sic].


MS. KWAN:  As an addition to that --


MR. SMITH:  Did we miss an undertaking number?  I thought we were at 12 now, to be honest with you, but maybe...

MS. HELT:  TCJ 2.11 -– no, you're right, TCJ2.12.  Thank you.

MS. KWAN:  As an addition to that, if you can explain why Toronto Hydro chose the option it chose if there was an option, and what would the impact to PILs be if Toronto Hydro had chosen to use an alternative option for the 25.8 million.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's fine.  We'll include that.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And along the same lines, I wanted to know how the 2015 IFRS de-recognition loss of 33.9 million is treated in the PILs model as well, so the same questions but for 2015 as well.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MS. HELT:  So we'll include all those requests under TCJ2.12 for both years, 2014 and 2015.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MS. KWAN:  I have questions on Board Staff IR 76.

There is an addition of 8.5 million for OPEB reserves for 2015.  And if you actually go back to the PILs model itself, the opening OPEB value is $243,040,000 from the bridge year.

This amount is actually the 2014 OPEB amount from the IFRS actual evaluation provided in Board Staff IRR 72.  My understanding is that for 2014 numbers are based in U.S. GAAP.  If that's the case the OPEB value should be 245,494,000, which is a $2.5 million difference from the amount that's actually being used.  Can you confirm that?

MR. HERCZEG:  I can confirm that the $8.5 million was sent out as -- from the evaluator based on the criteria that we gave them.

MS. KWAN:  But is that based on the U.S. GAAP number or the IFRS number?

MR. HERCZEG:  It's based on IFRS, the 2015.

MS. KWAN:  20 -- but that's actually the opening value, which is the ending value in 2014, which is a U.S. GAAP number?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I may be missing something.  Is your question whether the 8.5 is the IFRS number for 2015 or if that's a U.S. GAAP number?

MS. KWAN:  So the 8.5 is derived as calculated based on the difference between the opening and the closing value for 2015.  The opening value that's being used right now is the IFRS number, which is different from the U.S. GAAP number that was proposed to be used for 2014?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we just undertake to confirm whether the 8.5 is an IFRS number or a U.S. GAAP number.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.13:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE 8.5 IS AN IFRS NUMBER OR A U.S. GAAP NUMBER.

MS. KWAN:  Can you also confirm that the numbers used in the PILs model for 2014 are U.S. GAAP numbers?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  So that will be then Undertaking TCJ2.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.14: TO CONFIRM THAT THE NUMBERS USED IN THE PILS MODEL FOR 2014 ARE U.S. GAAP NUMBERS.

MS. KWAN:  And for that undertaking, if the numbers used are IFRS numbers for 2014, can you recalculate the impact to PILs?

MR. SMITH:  For 2014?

MS. KWAN:  Yes, because the numbers would flow into 2015.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  I have some questions on Board Staff IR 29, which I had asked the panel yesterday and they had referred to this panel instead.

So in the response Toronto Hydro explained that the difference between retirements and derecognition of assets, and for the retirements of assets it was indicated that the expected gain on disposition of rolling stock and properties in 2015 has been deferred on the balance sheet.

So from the appendix 2A, the fixed asset continuities schedule in 2015, the net book value removal from the retirement column is about 13.3 million.  So I wanted to know what's the corresponding gain amount?

MR. SEAL:  My understanding, speaking with the witness yesterday, is that this particular disposal is related to the gains on sale of our property.  So the gains on sale of our property show up as we've indicated in our Exhibit 8, where we are clearing these gains through a variance account -- or, sorry, through a rate rider.

MS. KWAN:  A variance account or a rate rider?

MR. SEAL:  Sorry, it's a rate rider that we are proposing to clear these gains on sale.

MS. KWAN:  Do you know how much that gain is for?

MR. SEAL:  It was filed confidentially.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  Is that what you mean when you say that it's been deferred on the balance sheet, that it's being cleared through a rate rider?

MR. SEAL:  In speaking with yesterday's witness, that's my understanding.

MS. KWAN:  So has the amount been removed out of rate base then?

MR. SEAL:  For 2015, that's my understanding.

MS. KWAN:  So has it been recorded as a deferred asset or how is it being recorded?

MR. SEAL:  We're proposing to clear it in 2015.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  But I guess in terms of where it's sitting on your books right now, it's not in capital assets, so is it some other asset?

MR. SEAL:  These properties are anticipated to be sold in 2015, so currently in 2014 they would be in our asset categories.  And they will be removed in 2015.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And I have some questions on Board Staff IR 89.  So for account 1575 it was indicated that a true-up is proposed to actual results.  Typically account 1575 is not trued up, and given that it's already November 2014, why is Toronto Hydro proposing to true up that account?

MR. SEAL:  In fact, we had not proposed in our application to true up the account.  This particular question asks us whether the amount that we had 1575 was a forecast at the end of 2014 or whether it was an actual.  So our response was on that basis, and we indicated in the response the portion from the accounting procedures handbook, which indicates, as it's noted in this exhibit, and we've just indicated that a true-up would be consistent with what we proposed for the '15 to '19 period, but consistent in the sense of, it would match up with what's in the APH.

So again, really what it was getting at is currently we have a forecast of value in 1575 to the end of the year, as opposed to an actual.

MS. KWAN:  So you're not proposing a true-up then?

MR. SEAL:  That wasn't part of our initial proposal, no.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  I have a question for Board Staff IR 94.  So the IR provides a reconciliation between the PP&E values in appendix 2BA, which is the fixed asset continuity schedules, and the PP&E values in account 1575, in appendix 2EC, and one of the difference is due to the inclusion of CWIP in account 1575.  CWIP is not included in rate base and typically not included in account 1575.  So can you explain why Toronto Hydro is asking to include CWIP in the account?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, which interrogatory?  94?

MS. KWAN:  94.

MR. SMITH:  And where are you looking?

MS. KWAN:  If you scroll down, so in part (a), that's the reconciliation, and it says it's due to the exclusion of construction work in progress.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, and the specific question?

MS. KWAN:  Why are you proposing that CWIP be included in account 1575?

MR. SMITH:  We'll, why don't we do that by way of undertaking?  Perhaps you can assist.  In the question, Ms. Kwan, you indicated that CWIP is not included in account 1575.  Can you please provide us with the reference to assist?

MS. KWAN:  I guess you could refer to the IFRS report.  It's just in the past dispositions of account 1575, CWIP is typically not included and it's not a part of rate base.

MR. SMITH:  Well, if there are additional references beyond the Board's IFRS report, if you could provide us with those, that would be helpful in us providing the undertaking answer.

MS. KWAN:  Another reference could be the APH.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  We'll take a look at those.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.15:  TO EXPLAIN WHY THESL IS PROPOSING TO INCLUDE CWIP IN ACCOUNT 1575.

MS. KWAN:  For the CWIP amount, so the CWIP amount under U.S. GAAP is 508.5 million and the amount under IFRS is 509 million.

Can you tell me what's the driver for the CWIP amount under IFRS, and the IFRS being higher than that under U.S. GAAP?

MR. KEIZER:  You're referring to the difference of $600,000?

MS. KWAN:  I'm referring to the directionality of the difference.

MR. SMITH:  I just want to make sure I understand.  That's the $600,000 difference between the 509.133 and the 508.563?

MS. KWAN:  Yes.

MS. CHEAH:  One of the differences is due to the application of AFUDC.  Under U.S. GAAP it's not compounded; under IFRS it is compounded.

MS. KWAN:  Is that the main difference?

MS. CHEAH:  That is probably the substantial difference, yes.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And in part (b), Toronto Hydro indicated that on adoption of IFRS, a land lease that was treated as a prepaid under U.S. GAAP is now included as a capital asset under MIFRS.

Can you elaborate on this and explain what criteria caused the change?

MS. CHEAH:  Sorry, I'm not too sure I if understand the question, because our answer explicitly says that under U.S. GAAP, the land lease is treated as prepaid, while under MIFRS it qualifies as a capital asset.

So it's a difference in accounting policy.

MS. KWAN:  Maybe if you can refer me to the specific sections of the policy that you're looking at?

MS. CHEAH:  The handbook standards?

MS. KWAN:  Yes.

MS. CHEAH:  I'll have to take that as an undertaking, to get you the accounting handbook standards.

MS. HELT:  If you're prepared to provide that as an undertaking, then, TCJ22.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.16:  TO PROVIDE ACCOUNTING HANDBOOK STANDARDS UNDERLYING CHANGE IN TREATMENT OF LAND LEASE.

MS. KWAN:  Has your auditor reviewed and agreed with the reclassification?

MR. SEAL:  Can repeat that, please, Donna?

Ms. KWAN:  Has your auditor reviewed and agreed with the reclassification?

MS. CHEAH:  Yes, they have.

MS. KWAN:  Was the land lease included in rate base in your last cost of service application?

MS. CHEAH:  I don't believe it was included.

MS. KWAN:  So it's being included now in this cost of service?

MS. CHEAH:  It has been included in the numbers submitted, but this isn't a cost of service application.

MS. KWAN:  Sorry, a custom IR.  So it's been included in rate base, then?

MS. CHEAH:  Correct.

MS. KWAN:  And what's the rationale for including it now when it was not included in prior -- in your prior applications?

MS. CHEAH:  From our perspective, it's in order to be in compliance with the accounting standards that we are now adopting.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And you've proposed to exclude the 7.1 million land lease in account 1575, because the land lease is a balance sheet reclassification between prepaid and PP&E.  Account 1575 relates to changes in PP&E due to the transition to IFRS, and in this case the land lease is a change in PP&E upon transition.

So can you explain if there is any other reasons why you're excluding the land lease in account 1575?

MR. HERCZEG:  No.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  That's all my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Kwan.

We'll finish up with a couple more questions from Board Staff on CDM.  Josh?
Questions by Mr. Wasylyk:


MR. WASYLYK:  I'll be very quick, panel.  I'm Josh Wasylyk on behalf of Board Staff, and the questions that I have relate to Toronto's request to dispose of account 1568, the LRAM VA.  Just provided some short background in response.

This is in relation to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 95 and VECC IR No. 68, where Toronto discusses methodology for calculating lost revenues in relation to its CDM programs from 2011 to '13.

Toronto explains it has:

"...undertaken a more sophisticated approach to determining actual lost revenues from CDM programs as opposed to simply relying on the OPA's verified savings results.  Toronto noted that it has conducted a review of specific installation/application dates for all of its CDM initiatives and applied the effect of these installation application dates to its final verified CDM results each year to provide a better representation of actual lost revenues from CDM revenues."


Is that a fair summary of --


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Wasylyk, where from Staff 95 were you just reading?

MR. WASYLYK:  This would be Staff 95, and in response to part (a), I guess, is the most applicable.  And in response to VECC 68, part (d).

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry.  I'm not following the question, then.

MR. WASYLYK:  That was just some background as to the method that Toronto has followed in determining the CDM savings for those applicable years, which then get applied into the LRAM VA calculation.

I just wanted to confirm that I had my understanding correct, that they're not simply relying upon the OPA's verified reports, which it reports to each LDC every year.

MR. SEAL:  I think, though, what you read sounded familiar to at least one or parts of the interrogatory responses.

And if I can summarize what we've done, perhaps, we have relied on the OPA's verified results in terms of the CDM levels.  What we have done is tried to reflect the timing of those CDM activities when they occur with the different programs through the 2012 to 2014 years, and match that up with the timing of the CDM that we estimate was included in our load forecast.

So the idea was since the LRAM variance account is intended to capture the difference between CDM amounts that are included in the load forecast and CDM activity that actually occurs, we feel that that was the best match of those two.

MR. WASYLYK:  Right.  So just to carry on -- and thank you for that clarification.  To carry forward with that, so as opposed to relying strictly on the verified results, which are annualized, you've kind of taken it one step further?  You've made them more accurate; is that fair?

MR. SEAL:  Again, we've relied on the verified results --


MR. WASYLYK:  Sorry, my apologies.

MR. SEAL:  -- which, as indicated, are annualized, and that is where we have varied.  Instead of using annualized values for a particular year in the calculation of the LRAM variance account, we've estimated the proportions of those annualized savings that occur in the particular year.

MR. WASYLYK:  Okay.  Can you discuss the process for estimating those -- the savings results?

MR. SEAL:  I believe that is part of our response to Board Staff 95, part (a), where we indicate that we've used actual project completion dates to accumulate savings throughout the year of completion, and then there is an example given as to how we would do that.

MR. WASYLYK:  Would you be able to provide the monthly percentages that you've assigned to each CDM initiative to determine Toronto's CDM savings which it has incorporated in its LRAM VA calculations?

MR. SEAL:  I believe that information is part of our LRAM calculations which -- or through the interrogatory responses, which indicates the relationship between the OPA annualized values and the values that we've used for the purposes of LRAM variance account.  I can't remember the specific reference offhand.

MR. WASYLYK:  If it's there, then fantastic.  If not, do you think that you could just take it as an undertaking to check, just to confirm?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we take a quick peek for it over the break that we're going to take as soon as you're done, and we will let you know the source of -- or the reference, and if not, we'll undertake to do that.

MR. WASYLYK:  Sure.  Well, I am done now, so...

MR. SMITH:  Perfect.

MS. HELT:  We actually have a few more questions by Martin Davies for Board Staff, and then we can take the break, if that's all right.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe.  How long do you expect to be?  We started at quarter to 1:00, and we've now been going for nearly two hours.

MS. HELT:  Yeah, I think Mr. Davies is only going to be five to ten minutes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's fine.

MS. HELT:  Pardon me?  Okay.  Then we'll take our break now.  We'll come back at three o'clock.
--- Recess taken at 2:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:03 p.m.

MS. HELT:  It's now seven [sic] minutes past 3:00 and I'm confident we will be able to finish today with this witness panel.

Mr. Rubenstein, I understand you are prepared to go next?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.  Thank you very much.

Can I ask you to turn up 1A-BOMA-8, page 8?

MS. HELT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Davies has some follow-up questions.

MR. SMITH:  Just before we get to Mr. Davies, Ms. Helt, I gather that we were able -- Mr. Seal was able to find the reference that we were going to look for at the break.

MR. SEAL:  So the question has to do with how much of the OPA annualized CDM savings have we included.

So I'll point you to VECC Interrogatory No. 66, table -- the response to part (c) provides the annualized net CDM impacts, so these would be the annual values from the OPA by year and by program.

And then (d), part (d) of the response, provides the amounts we've included as actuals for the purpose of the LRAM variance account.

So the difference between the two will indicate how much we've taken out of the annualized and reflected just in the year of the programs impacted.  I think that will answer the question that was asked.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you for that.

Mr. Davies?
Questions by Mr. Davies:

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  My first question relates to Interrogatory 1(b), OEB Staff 1, page 1.

And in the response to that interrogatory, at lines 3 to 5, you're discussing the C factor and you make a statement:

"The C factor is not intended to replicate an ICM mechanism.  As the OEB stated in the RRFE report, there will not be an ICM in the custom IR method."


Now, given that there's a fair bit of latitude in terms of the type of custom IR applications that can be filed -- e.g. five-year test year versus -- or five-year cost of service type application versus the type of application you filed with one test year and a custom price cap index -- I would just like to clarify.

Is it Toronto Hydro's interpretation of the RRFE report that, regardless of the type of custom IR application you file, that the ICM or related approaches are excluded, there is no leeway in terms of using the ICM in a custom IR application?

MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Davies, I think it's fair to say that we took the Board's guidance in the RRFE that there is no ICM available in the CIR, literally.

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.

The second question I have relates to Interrogatory 2A-OEB Staff-30, and I think it's on page 2.

And you're explaining in the response to part (b) -- roundabout line 24, you say:

"In particular, Toronto Hydro considers that the new information derived from the detailed analysis described in Exhibit 2A, tab 5, schedule 1 provides a better approximation for the depreciated historic cost method, DHC, of the transferred assets, which the OEB found to be a more appropriate valuation methodology."


Would you agree that in the referenced decision, while the Board found it to be a more appropriate evaluation methodology, it ended up adopting the DRC methodology?

MS. CHEAH:  Yes.  Ultimately, I think, the Board did adopt the DRC methodology.

MR. DAVIES:  So could you explain, then, why the use of the DHC methodology would be considered to be in compliance with the Board's decision?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we set out Toronto Hydro's position in writing, by way of undertaking?

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  TCJ2.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.17:  with reference to IR 2A-OEB Staff-30, page 2, part b, TO EXPLAIN WHY THESL BELIEVES THE DHC METHODOLOGY IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE OEB'S DECISION.

MR. DAVIES:  The third and final interrogatory that I just wanted to follow up with you on is 8-OEB Staff-82, and I think page 2 of that interrogatory.

The first question I just wanted to ask you is if you could clarify in terms of your proposed half-year recovery for the 2012 to 2014 period, exactly what is the nature of the recovery you're proposing for each year.  And could you clarify whether this is on a historic basis, or whether, in effect, you're still looking at it from the perspective of going forward from the time of the 2012 IRM application?

MR. SEAL:  I can summarize the nature of the request as being a request for the revenue requirement implications of the half-year rule impact on rate base through the 2012-2014 IRM period.

So it's a request for recovery of the lost revenue associated with not recognizing the year-end rate base of 2011 through the ICM period -- IRM period.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  Is that recovery being calculated on the basis of historical numbers from 2012 and 2013?  Or is it somehow what you were seeking in the 2012 application, with some updates incorporated?

MR. SEAL:  It's on the basis of the year-end rate base for 2011, approved rate base, and the difference between that and what the half-year rule does for rate base for 2011.

MR. DAVIES:  But take, for example, the 2012 amount that you're seeking.  Is that 2012 historical, looking back from today, or is it the 2012 forecast that you would have included in the ICM application filed in 2012?

MR. SEAL:  It's not directly related to any costs in 2012; it's related to the amount of rate base that is not recognized in base rates through the 2012 to '14 period, through the operation of the IRM ICM mechanism.

MR. DAVIES:  In the IRM, the 2012-0064 decision, the Board's finding in that decision seemed to be that you would not be allowed to recover any of these half-year rule effects.  And I think in your response to this interrogatory, you reference page 9 and 10 of that decision.

And in part, the Board's findings state that, quote:

"The Board does not accept that there is a loss to the distributor with the application of the half-year rule or that these policies are wrong.  The Board is not convinced by THESL's arguments for a departure from policy, which  uses the average rate base in the rebasing year, in this case 2011.  THESL has put forward the use of the 2011 year-end rate base without justifying why this is required, not why THESL wants this policy change, but why a deviation from the Board-approved policy is required by THESL.  As stated by the Board in the recent decisions referenced to above, departures from policy are only appropriate if the circumstances justify such a departure.  Aside from increasing rate base, THESL did not substantiate why this increase is necessary from its own financial resource management perspective or how it might be a benefit to ratepayers or provide any other reason to stray from this policy."


Now, I believe in your answer to this interrogatory you state when asked whether or not this was retroactive rate-making you state that you believe it was not retroactive rate-making because the Board did not rule on this issue.

Could you discuss why the finding I just read out would not be considered by Toronto Hydro as a ruling on the issue?

MR. SEAL:  Mr. Davies, as we indicated in our interrogatory response for that question, Toronto Hydro's interpretation is that the OEB's decision is more appropriate in the context of a rebasing application and not appropriate in the context of an IRM application, and I'll turn you specifically to that decision.  And I'm not sure if you read this part of the quote, but -- so just above the part of the quote that you read, the paragraph above, the concluding sentences indicates:

"The concept of adjusting rate base is not applicable to applications made under IRM."


That is the part that Toronto Hydro believes indicates that there was no ruling in that particular IRM application.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  So then because of what you see as that not being a ruling, that is the reason for your belief that if the Board was to grant you something, some form of recovery in the present application, that it would not be retroactive rate-making?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think it's fair to say that that's the provision of -- the portion of the decision that Toronto Hydro relies upon.  Whether that amounts to retroactive rate-making or not as a matter of law would surely be a matter for argument.

MR. DAVIES:  Could you just tell us if in the present application there are any new arguments in favour of the Board providing you with some form of recoveries related to the half-year rule that were not included in the 2012-0064 application?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I was having some trouble with my microphone.  I don't think that -- the question asked if there are new arguments, and the application is based upon evidence that's been filed.  It doesn't set out argument.  There will be an argument phase in which that will be addressed.  So there isn't anything other than what's in the application, if I can -- if that's responsive.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  I just have one final question.  And the question is, could you just clarify whether the custom capital factor allows for the recovery of half-year rule effects on a going-forward basis?

MR. RUCH:  Yes, it does.

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, and now that concludes Board Staff's questions.  Mr. Rubenstein?
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If we can turn to 1A-BOMA-8, page 3.

MR. SMITH:  1A?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And I'm looking at the response to part (e) of this question.  What it shows to me is that between 2010 -- or, sorry, 2011 through 2015 compared to 2006 through 2010 there has been a large and sustained increase in capital spending, and I was wondering if Toronto Hydro or Mr. Fenrick, you can respond to this if you will.

Are you aware of any other distributors that have had such significant increases, sustained increases in spending?  Compared to, you know, in a five-year period compared to previously?

[Technical interruption]


MS. HELT:  I did disconnect it previously.  I've tried again.

MR. FENRICK:  I haven't looked at specifically year-over-year growth of, for instance, the U.S. industry.  There is -- in my experience within the industry this doesn't look like abnormal growth, as far as grid monitorization plans that are out there and utilities incorporating new technology options and those types of things.

In the industry we are seeing some percentage growth rates that are along the lines of these, just broadly from my experience.  As far as citing specific examples, that would be a considerable amount of work, but...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not going to ask you to undertake to provide anything.  Could you just give us a few examples of utilities that you know where we're seeing this sort of sustained increases in capital investment?

MR. FENRICK:  One that comes to mind immediately is -- you know, again, I haven't verified the growth, but I know Commonwealth Edison in Chicago is undertaking large investments that if they haven't hit yet soon will as far as increasing their cost levels.

In questioning when Dr. Kaufmann -- he brought up the Wisconsin Public Service.  That was also in the context of a large investment program that the utility was undertaking to address reliability concerns.

So those would be two examples kind of off the top of my head.  I'm sure there are others.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in those examples -- and I recognize you don't have the numbers in front of you at all, but they were at the range of the significant increases that we're seeing here, say, between 2006 and 2010 and onwards, that level of sustained increases?

MR. FENRICK:  I wouldn't want to comment on the actual level without looking at them.  That's just my generalization from being in the industry that those utilities are undertaking significant investments, but I would hate to generalize that it's actually in that ballpark, either above or below.  I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would the data that underlies your models for your report, would we be able to glean that from the underlying data?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, in the data set there's total cost values in there for the sample of -- I believe there's 156, off the top of my head, utilities in our combined sample, in our combined total cost sample, so out of those 156 utilities, every one will have a total cost value that we're modeling, so that data would be in there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does your model, then, break down the capital costs?

MR. FENRICK:  No, not specifically.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Fenrick, one of the things I want to understand is I just want to isolate your model from the PEG model and the differences, because how -- it appears from SEC's point of view that using the PEG model that is the basis of the Board's 4th generation IRM, Toronto Hydro does quite badly compared to the benchmark cost.  And using your model it does much better.

And I want to understand:  Is the entire difference simply the basis of adding a much larger and a different peer group?  Or is there issues that you have with respect to the Ontario data, in the Ontario -- the information that's included in the PEG model for just Ontario?

MR. FENRICK:  There are -- as you mentioned, there's a large difference between the PEG model results for Toronto Hydro versus the PSE model result.

I would say the large majority of that difference is due to the US, including the US sample with utilities that are much more similar in their operating characteristics relative to Toronto Hydro, versus the PEG model that depends only on the Ontario sample.

We certainly strive for continuity between how the PEG model defined total cost and how the PSE model defines cost.  So we basically used the methodology PEG used in defining total cost, to the extent we could at that time.

A big difference -- maybe not a big difference, but another reason for the difference is there's different variables included.

For instance, in the US total cost model, where we're comparing Toronto Hydro only to a US data set, we have variables such as the forestation variables, the standard deviation of the terrain that utilities are facing, so we're correcting for other variables beyond what PEG corrected for in their model.

Another difference -- and this could cut either way.  I don't know which way it cuts, and I highly doubt it's significant.  Is the kilowatt hour definition for outputs, where the PSE model only looks at number of customers in peak demand as outputs, whereas the PEG model had all three of those, those variables.  So there's variable differences, but with the majority of difference being that the PSE data set has a more comparative and appropriate, I would argue, data set to compare Toronto Hydro against.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So say you were asked hypothetically -- you're not allowed to look at American utilities, and we were just looking at Ontario utilities and you were doing your analysis, would it be exactly the same thing as the PEG analysis?  If you were just using Ontario data and the data that PEG had access to in coming up to their model, would the numbers be the same?

MR. FENRICK:  If we adopted all their methodology or -- do we believe that's the appropriate approach?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Two parts.  When you're doing your comparison with the Ontario utilities, were you using the same methodology that PEG is using?  Or have you made changes to that part?

MR. FENRICK:  Again, we made some variable changes.

We've also corrected for heteroscedasticity and/or auto-correlation in the specification process, so that's a slight refinement.

Another difference is we've -- PSE's -- also in the capital service price, we've adjusted that such that different distributors, based on their construction cost levels, have a different capital price.

So with the Ontario-only model that PEG estimated and defined last year, all distributors were treated exactly the same as far as capital price.  When we added US data, it became apparent that there's vast differences in the construction cost levels that a city like Toronto or New York City or Chicago is going to have, relative to a more rural -–

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm going to interrupt you, because I think we're going into two different directions and I -- it's not the question that --


MR. SMITH:  No, no, I think it's responsive.  I think it's entirely responsive and he should continue the answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Fine.

MR. FENRICK:  That's another difference between PEG's model and the PSE model, is I believe we've taken a step forward in defining the capital price.  We've also -- relative to Toronto Hydro, including the US sample is essential as well.

So those are differences.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand, in your example, changing the price.  It's because when you're comparing to the US.

But I'm talking about:  Are you doing that with -- compared to other Ontario -- the price in Toronto may be different than the price in London versus the price in Windsor; did you make any of those changes?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Hypothetically, if you were provided with all the PEG data that they had to come up with their model, are you able to do a refined Ontario model based on the changes that you've been talking about?

Like, is the information available for that to be done?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, the information would be available as the Ontario -- in our combined, the PSE combined dataset, the Ontario observations are there as well.  And so yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you have -- and in your report, you've done that?  Have you done that?  Have you just done a comparison based on your corrections, based -- comparing Toronto Hydro to other Ontario utilities only?

MR. FENRICK:  No.  In the report we provided two datasets, a comparison of Toronto Hydro to a US dataset, that included, I believe, 85 US utilities.  And then a combined dataset, which had the US plus the Ontario, which I believe had encompasses 156 utilities.

We did not provide an Ontario-only evaluation, because from my expert opinion, that is not -- it's not a relevant comparison when looking at Toronto Hydro.  They're such an outlier in the Ontario-only sample, which in chapter 6 of our report, we outline the outlier status of Toronto Hydro.

So the accuracy of that evaluation would be extremely suspect, in my opinion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So from SEC's point of view, we see on one hand the PEG/Board method, and then on the other hand we see your way of doing it.  It seems to me there's sort of something in the middle, and that's using Ontario distributors based on what you believe is a corrected methodology.

Are you able to provide how Toronto -- how Toronto would fare using your methodology, but just based on Ontario distributors?

MR. SMITH:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, that Mr. Fenrick just indicated that in his expert opinion, that analysis does not produce meaningful results.  So we're not prepared to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

One of the issues that SEC is grappling with -- and I assume the Board will grapple with -- is it best to compare Toronto Hydro with its peers in Ontario or your expanded dataset and even more specifically just US utilities?

And Toronto Hydro shares size, infrastructure, environment, density and similar factors with other large urban centres that you've included in your information, but it doesn't share the same policy, regulatory, economic, climatological factors, as it does more so with Ontario distributors.  So how should the Board determine which common factors are more important and how it should be adjusted to deal with it?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  Your question presupposed a variety of differences with the US context, and I was wondering if you could specify those for us and provide the basis for the difference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, it would seem to me in Ontario -- and you may disagree with the premise, and you can correct me.  It seemed to me at some level, while you've put out in your report there are obviously similarities between Toronto and a lot of the U.S. distributors -- that's the reason why you've included that data set -- but at the same time there's obviously common factors between Toronto Hydro and other Ontario distributors.  In many cases it's climate, so we can compare the climate in Toronto with the climate in -- where most of the large distributors are in Ontario, it's similar.  Obviously it's the same policy and regulatory environment in Ontario.  They're all regulated by the Board.  They're all under the same legislative requirements.  And in many cases they're very similar climates.


So how does the Board determine which one of these -- which of these factors is more important, which is not more important, when it's making its decision between Ontario compared to only Ontario or compared to your expanded group?


MR. FENRICK:  As you point out in the question, Toronto Hydro does share a number of characteristics to the U.S. utilities that -- which is the reason why PSE included the U.S. utilities, size, urban core, those types of variables that only the U.S. sample can do justice to evaluate on Toronto Hydro's, and in addition to just having a larger sample, your question also asks, what about the Ontario similarities.  I think the combined data set addresses those types of issues, where we have the U.S. sample and we can adjust for some of those characteristics that Toronto Hydro shares with the U.S., but then we also have the Ontario utilities included in the combined data sample that will kind of capture some of those things that you're talking about, as far as weather and regulatory atmosphere.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your report you provide the combined and the U.S., so that would seem to indicate that between Ontario and U.S. the Board should pick a U.S. data set.  Because you didn't include the Ontario one as well.  That's just -- I'm inferring that.  Is that correct?


MR. FENRICK:  I certainly in my opinion believe that including U.S. data into the analysis is absolutely essential to doing a fair and accurate comparison for Toronto Hydro.  That conclusion doesn't necessarily imply for the other distributors that are much more analogous or comparative to the rest of the Ontario sample, but in the Toronto Hydro context specifically, U.S. data, including that is absolutely essential to providing an accurate evaluation of the total cost levels of the company.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the things that Toronto Hydro makes it similar to the U.S. utilities -- I won't say more important, but should the Board -- that -- well, it is more important than the things that are similar to -- with other Ontario utilities.  Is that fair?


MR. FENRICK:  I don't know if more important.  I haven't looked at, you know, what is driving costs specifically, which is the reason why we include the combined sample as the U.S. and the Ontario to address both the U.S. value-added and also the Ontario characteristics, and so that data set would cover both of those concerns if they were there.


And I would also add both the U.S.-only data set and the combined data set both show very similar results with Toronto Hydro being below the benchmark values in total cost levels.


So you have two data sets showing very similar total cost results, which I think if anything adds to the robustness of the findings.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask if we can turn to 1B-BOMA-61.  In this interrogatory you were -- Toronto Hydro was asked to provide copies of any other studies done similar to the capital requirements for serving developed environments, report over the last ten years by the authors, and Toronto Hydro provided the resumes but said that none of the studies prepared by Messrs. Sonju, Hall, and Jutrzonka in the last ten years or similar, the capital requirements for the serving developed environments study, Hydro objects to the request to provide the list of all studies prepared by the PSE authors in the last ten years on the basis of relevance to the current proceeding.


Trying to understand how the authors of that PSE report can be considered experts if none of them have had any similar studies to the current one in the last ten years, and for SEC, the way that we can assess their expertise is if we have the other work that they've done so we can figure out if it's sufficient, sufficiently like the report or that they have the expertise for that report that they provided, so I've asked again if you could please provide all studies that they've authored or co-authored in the last ten years.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you for that, and we'll consider our position, but for now we're not going to change it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And I just -- would just refer Toronto Hydro to its interrogatories in the EB-2013-0234 case, where it essentially asked a similar question of Dr. Hariton, asking him to provide all of his, you know, documents that he had written books and papers and so on.


MR. SMITH:  To be fair, so I have the question -- I mean, one of the things that BOMA asked for is for any -- as I read it, please provide copies of any other studies done by any PSE employee in the last ten years, which strikes me as an incredibly broad request and, of course, not a reasonable one, but we'll reflect further on this discussion and let you know our position.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Obviously we're only seeking studies for the authors of that specific report.


Can I ask you to turn to 1B-BOMA-72.  So in this response there's a discussion about how Toronto -- how the report breaks down Toronto into the four different categories?  Do you see that?  This is on page 2?


MR. FENRICK:  Yes, I see that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm trying to understand -- further trying to understand the problems of comparing Toronto Hydro to other major LDCs.  Can you explain why the value of breaking down Toronto into sort of geographical areas and why a similar breakdown could not be provided or would not be valuable for other CLD members?  That's Coalition of Large Distributors, the large -- the largest five, six distributors in Ontario?


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, I missed you.  What part of the answer to the interrogatory are you referring to?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So on page 2 of that it breaks -- Toronto breaks down its core into four for the purposes of the report that it's referring to.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Into four sections.  You see downtown core, Parklawn, Yonge and Eglinton, and Yonge and Sheppard.  Sorry, downtown core, Parklawn, Yonge and Eglinton, and Yonge and Sheppard?  There's a breakdown?  I think I misunderstand the question myself so I'll move on.  I apologize.


If we can turn to 1B-BOMA-81.  In this interrogatory you were asked if PSE considered using other variables, and if it rejected them, why.


And then it indicated if it had used the following –- in part (b) it indicated if it used the following variables.


And in the response, you provide the reasons why you didn't consider those variables.  And primarily it's about data availability.


But I want to ask you:  Would you agree that there's a reasonable likelihood -- or would you tell me which of these variables that you didn't use, that there is a reasonable likelihood that there would be a statistically significant correlation to cost.


MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do that by way of undertaking?  Might involve some thought, and the hour is getting late.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.18.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.18:  with reference to 1B-BOMA-81, TO EXPLAIN WHICH OF THE UNUSED VARIABLES WOULD HAVE A REASONABLE LIKELIHOOD OF A STATISTICALLY SIGNIFICANT CORRELATION TO COST.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to -- I don't think you need to turn it up, but I'm referring to 1B-CCC-18, but there are a number of places where you're asked about the ICM true-up Toronto Hydro.  And ultimately Toronto Hydro has said that because it doesn't –- and correct me if I'm wrong.  Because you don't have audited numbers for 2014, it's best to do this at in a future proceeding.  Do I -- is that generally correct?


MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, What's your question?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from a number of interrogatories and your evidence, the reason why you're not seeking the ICM true-up in this proceeding is primarily because you don't have the 2014 numbers.  You don't have year-end for 2014 and they won't be audited, so it's best to do it at some future time when you have that information.


MS. KLEIN:  I think that's part of the answer to why we're seeking to defer ICM true-up.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there another major reason?


MS. KLEIN:  Sure.  Our view, to summarize, to meet the required level of rigor and to meaningfully present the information, we need to compile, validate and reconcile a significant amount of field records.  And that takes time, of course, and cannot be done until the program is completed.


The ICM program will not be completed until the end of 2014, and that completion will not be closed out until into the first quarter of 2015.


So our proposal is that we estimate that we will be ready for true-up by the second quarter of 2015.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in discussion during the presentation about the ICM true-up -- correct me if I'm wrong -- I believe I heard that the expectation's you will be plus or minus 5 percent?


MS. KLEIN:  I think you're referring to slide 29 of the presentation; is that accurate?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. KLEIN:  So the second bullet on slide 29 says:

"Total expenditures for the 2012 to 2014 ICM program are forecasted to be within 5 percent of overall OEB-accepted forecast amounts on a three-year basis."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the expenditures, but on the revenue side do you have a sense of where you will be?


So you're collecting amounts to cover your ICM amount through rate riders.  Do you have a sense of how that will match up, that part of the equation?


MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Rubenstein, I believe you're referring to in-service additions.  The 5 percent of variance applies to that as well.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  You're collecting a certain -- you have an approved amount that you're allowed to -- that was set based on certain parameters when you got approval for the ICM.


I understand from this slide that the cost, so the forecasted cost versus approved cost, is within 5 percent.


But on the other end of the equation, there's the revenue you'll be bringing in from the rate riders that were approved.  I'm trying to understand how the revenue that you've collected matches up with the -- what your expectation will be on the expenditure side.  The idea being:  Is there going to be a credit or a debit that ratepayers have to pay, or will get back?


MR. SEAL:  I can't tell you right now whether it will be a credit or a debit, but to answer your question that you asked originally, my expectation is that since we're within 5 percent of where the expenditures that we had approved and the approval of those expenditures resulted in the rate riders that we're collecting from customers, that we would expect that the revenues should match up within 5 percent as well.  That's my expectation right now.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you don't know at this time if that's going to be 5 percent on one end, debit, or 5 percent on the other end, credit?


MS. KLEIN:  No.  That will be part of the true-up process.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Can I ask you to turn to 1B-CCC-21?  This interrogatory talks about Toronto Hydro's role with respect to Innovative Research's work.  And I read the response talking about -- that Staff provided the core information to Innovative Research, and then it did the actual research; am I correct?


So it went out and interviewed individuals, or did the telephone survey or did the work, created the workbook and collected the data from the workbook?


MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, you'll have to repeat your question.  And perhaps you could let me know which party you mean when you say "it."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from this response is that -- and talking about the role of Toronto Hydro versus the role of Innovative Research, and I'm reading from line 21:

"Utility staff provided core information on various subjects, company history, electricity sector information, investment needs, proposed investment programs, forecasted outcomes, et cetera, as well as the graphic design and copywriting services."


Innovative adopted those customer engagement workbooks into an online format, and Toronto Hydro staff did not attend or otherwise participate in the focus groups; am I correct?  So Innovative Research was the one who did the research; you provided some of the information for that material?


MS. KLEIN:  What we have provided in this IR response is correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to meeting your major customers and getting feedback from major customers, am I correct Toronto Hydro did attend those meetings?


MS. KLEIN:  Our engagement activities with respect to our very large customers can be found at Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 7, page 8.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is the answer yes?


Now, with respect to the meetings referred to, are you able to provide the name of the customers, the dates of those meetings, the list of attendees, and all the material that you provided to them and any minutes that were taken?


MR. SMITH:  No, we're not prepared to do that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to 1B-SEC-7, specifically page 2 -- sorry, 1B-SEC-8.  I apologize.


So in this interrogatory, we had asked you to provide all benchmarking studies, analysis and reports, and you provided a number of them.  But then on line 23 it says:

"In addition to the studies noted above, Toronto Hydro also participated in a number of benchmarking studies through the Canadian Electricity Association ('CEA').  However, Toronto Hydro was unable to provide copies of these materials as the CEA has advised that the information contained in them is proprietary and it has refused consent in response to Toronto Hydro's request for disclosure and production..."


Does Toronto Hydro have these reports?  Does it have in its possession these reports and studies?


MS. KLEIN:  Toronto Hydro does have in its possession certain CEA studies.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand that you've refused to provide them based on the explanation in this interrogatory.  Are you able to provide us with the year of each report and an understanding of the topic that they're covering?  Is it a -- an example is, are we talking about a reliability study or a cost benchmarking analysis?  Are you allowed to provide that information?


MS. KLEIN:  So I think it's fair to say that the CEA refused our request to produce this information, so any requests about the nature of the information itself would be something that we would go back to them and determine whether or not their claim of proprietary nature of the information covers what you're asking.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, I understand that you've been in communications with counsel for the CEA, Mr. Ruby, of the Goodmans law firm, and it may be appropriate for us to have an offline discussion to see if this issue can be moved forward in some sort of meaningful way.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just the last question on this topic.  Understanding what Mr. Smith said, is the basis of the CEA's refusal -- is it a contractual term in the agreement that you have with the CEA?  Or is it just you're seeking their -- you want to provide it to them -- you want -- you know, in good faith you're seeking to have their permission to provide it?


MR. SMITH:  Well, as you'll know, I understand this has been an ongoing, two-year dialogue between you and Mr. Ruby, so it may be that you have better understanding of the CEA's position than we do, but certainly the CEA has consistently and repeatedly objected to the production of that information by Toronto Hydro on a variety of reasons; contractual breach of certain proprietary, intellectual property rights, et cetera.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to 1B-SEC-8, appendix A.  This is the UMS group productivity and programming benchmark study.  Can I just ask if you can describe the background of the study?  What were the parameters given to the consultant?  What's the history behind this specific report?


MR. SEAL:  Mr. Rubenstein, the subject-matter experts with this particular report are not part of this panel to maybe answer detailed questions about it, so perhaps it's something could be answered through undertaking.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine with me.


MR. SMITH:  So what you're really looking for is the background and genesis of the report?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah.  And what were the parameters provided, specifically what were the parameters provided to the consultant.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. HELT:  That will be TCJ2.19.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.19:  WITH REFERENCE TO the UMS group productivity and programming benchmark study filed at 1B-SEC-8, appendix A, TO PROVIDE THE BACKGROUND AND GENESIS OF THE report and THE PARAMETERS PROVIDED TO THE CONSULTANT.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can take you to page 40 of that report.  I'm looking four lines from the top.  The study says:

"However, a meaningful comparison can be made by looking at the ratio between distribution capital investment levels committed to sustainment and system improvements and depreciation."


Does Toronto Hydro agree with that statement?


MR. SMITH:  Again, building on Mr. Seal's response, perhaps we can deal with that by way of undertaking.  You're looking at the sentence that begins "however"?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  Are you seeking an undertaking for that, Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, please.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.20.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.20:  WITH REFERENCE TO the UMS group productivity and programming benchmark study filed at 1B-SEC-8, appendix A, TO ADVISE WHETHER TORONTO HYDRO AGREES WITH THE STATEMENT on page 40 of the report:  "HOWEVER, A MEANINGFUL COMPARISON CAN BE MADE BY LOOKING AT THE RATIO BETWEEN DISTRIBUTION CAPITAL INVESTMENT LEVELS COMMITTED TO SUSTAINMENT AND SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS AND DEPRECIATION."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I assume the next question will be similar to that.  If we can just turn to page 87.  Looking under maturity level 0, the bullet point "the elements of work management are not in place.  The organization has only rudimentary understanding of work management", what is the -- Toronto Hydro's plan to fix that?


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, is the premise of your question that Toronto Hydro is at maturity level 0?  Because I don't read that page of the report in that way.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I reading that incorrectly?


MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Rubenstein, our read of that report is that the UMS group assesses Toronto Hydro at maturity level 1.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So --


MS. KLEIN:  There is a yellow triangle above "maturity level 1" with the words "UMS group assessment".


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're at the competent level.


MS. KLEIN:  That's what it says there, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What's Toronto Hydro's plan to be more than just competent at this?


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, why don't we take that by way of undertaking.  There were a number of recommendations.  My recollection is 58 in total, and I just can't remember whether this was a recommendation.  And you will have already been provided with Toronto Hydro's response to those recommendations, so we'll take a look at that and provide an answer.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't remember seeing that response to that issue.  That's why I raised it specifically.


If I can ask --


MS. HELT:  Mr. Rubenstein, just a moment.  We'll then mark it as an undertaking.  TCJ2.21.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.21:  WITH REFERENCE TO the UMS group productivity and programming benchmark study filed at 1B-SEC-8, appendix A, TO PROVIDE TORONTO HYDRO'S RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATION regarding work management.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to 1B-SIA-2, appendix A.  And if we flip to the 2013 targets, so it's a couple of pages, there seems to me a significant -- there are some significant differences between the 2013 KPIs and the 2014.  Example, net income is no longer there, THESL regulated capital is no longer there.  There's some new ones.


Can you explain to me why there were changes in the KPIs between 2013 and 2014?  If you don't know, I have no problem getting these done by way of undertaking.


MR. SMITH:  Sold.


MS. HELT:  Then that will be TCJ2.22.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.22:  TO EXPLAIN WHY THERE WERE CHANGES IN THE KPIS BETWEEN 2013 AND 2014.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would just -- there will be one other part to that.  If Toronto Hydro even knows, is there an expectation that this will change again for 2015, there will be new KPI targets or not?


MR. SMITH:  We'll reflect that in the answer to undertaking.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to 1B-SIA No. 1, in this interrogatory you were asked to provide -- page 2, there were -- you were asked to provide the percentage in total capex budgets divided into the various categories in the workbook, and then later on in the budgeted filings.


And my question is:  Were the changes made due to more detailed planning from the time that you did the workbook to the filing of this application?  Or is it based on consumer feedback that you got from the workbook, or from the -- those activities?


MS. KLEIN:  I believe the predominant driver was more detailed planning, but I'll take that, subject to check.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


If I can ask you to turn to 2A-SEC-12, and in this interrogatory you were asked to provide all the assumptions used in determining the 2014 in-service addition.


My question -- if you can recall the ICM proceeding, my understanding, or at least for the 2014 capex, the determination of what the IESA conversion from capex was, was essentially you calculated a 40 percent factor for the 2014 capex to the 2014 IESA.  This was in AMPCO IR 1 in that Phase II proceeding.


Am I correct, then -- is that the same thing for the purposes of the year-end rate base for 20 -– or the opening rate base for 2014?  Or has that changed?


I just want to try to reconcile those two.


MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, could you clarify for us what you mean by "same thing"?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the Phase II ICM decision, in AMPCO IR No. 1 in that proceeding, Toronto Hydro said that how it determined the 2014 capex to what the actual -- how that converted to IESA is essentially a 40 percent –- it used 40 percent of its capex would be in service in that year.


I just want to reconcile that with your response here.  Has that approached changed?


MR. SEAL:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I understand what you've asked, is for our 2014 year-end balance or 2015 opening balance for 2015, are we still using the 40 percent assumption?  The answer is no.


We have more detailed information to be able to provide the in-service opening balance for 2015.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Turn to 1B-BOMA-31.  I want to better understand Toronto Hydro's response with respect to the definition of what it considers steady state.


Does "steady state" simply mean ongoing replacement and renewal of its existing assets?  Or does it include also new customer growth?


You were simply just -- is it just ongoing replacement or renewal of the existing asset base, or would that include new assets because of the natural customer growth?


MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Rubenstein, I don't think anyone on this panel can speak to the definition of "steady state."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I provided an exhibit to members of the panel and your counsel and the Board.  I was wondering if we could mark that as an exhibit.


MS. HELT:  Certainly.  This can be Exhibit TCK2.1.  This is the document -- I'll let you describe it, Mr. Rubenstein.

EXHIBIT NO. TCK2.1:  DOCUMENT PROVIDED BY MR. RUBENSTEIN CONTAINING A FORMULA TO CALCULATE capital expenditures for ongoing replacement and renewal of existing assets


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's essentially a formula.


MS. HELT:  Does the witness panel have a copy of it?


MR. SMITH:  They do.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I was wondering if it could be done is if it could be confirmed -- and Mr. Fenrick may be the best or anyone else are able to, and you can do this by way of undertaking.  To confirm the formula that's being provided.  And I'll explain what it's trying to calculate.


It's trying to calculate if you were just -- if you were just determining your capital expenditures for ongoing replacement and renewal of your existing assets, would that capital budget be the outcome of the formula on TCK2.1?


MR. SMITH:  We'll have to take that by way of undertaking.  And it may be, Mr. Rubenstein, that we'll have to come back to you with some questions.  As you will recall, we had an offline discussion about what was trying to be reflected in the formula, and if we have questions we'll certainly follow up with you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Please.


MS. HELT:  That will be TCJ2.23.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.23:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER a capital BUDGET FOR expenditures for ongoing replacement and renewal of existing assets would be the outcome of THE FORMULA PROVIDED IN EXHIBIT TCK2.1


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to 3-OEB Staff-62.  I don't necessarily think you need to bring it up on the screen.


But my question is:  Would THESL be willing to have the gains on sale of properties treated as a Y factor for the forecast, including in rates each year, but true up at the end of the test period for actuals?


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rubenstein, perhaps you can just help me a little bit.  By reference to Toronto Hydro's proposal, what is it that you are suggesting?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if Toronto Hydro would be willing, as a feature of its -- as maybe a change in the feature of its proposal, to include a Y factor with the forecast for the gain on sale of properties, with the forecast included in rates each year, but a true-up at the end for actuals?


MR. SMITH:  When you say "a true-up at the end," when at the end?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you rebase in 2020.  We've covered 2015 and '20.  When you rebase in 2020, at the end of the plan.


MR. SEAL:  Mr. Rubenstein, I'm having trouble understanding, maybe, the difference.  We have right now proposed to clear the amount of forecasted gains on sale through our rate rider to be in place over a number of years over our custom PCI period.


Sounds to me it's the same thing that you're asking.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll ask you to turn to 5-CCC-45.


Can I just confirm the actual ROE for each year is the ROE calculated on a regulatory basis, rather than a financial basis?

MR. SEAL:  It is on the regulatory basis.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the full calculation of that ROE?  And for each of those years -- and I assume there's a -- it's that sheet in the triple R -- there's a sort of a page in -- when you do the triple R filings it sort of breaks down, does the calculation to its component parts?  Are you able to provide that?


MR. SEAL:  Yes, I think we can provide those.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.24 then.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.24:  with reference to 5-CCC-45, TO PROVIDE THE FULL CALCULATION OF THE ROE; AND FOR EACH OF THOSE YEARS, TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION TO ITS COMPONENT PARTS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn -- well, I'm referencing 9-Staff-36 and 39 and others.  I just want to have a better understanding of the policy basis the applicant is seeking to recover from ratepayers the impact of the accounting change to IFRS, when it's already recovered from ratepayers the impact of the accounting change to go to U.S. GAAP.


Are ratepayers being asked to cover two sets of accounting changes?


MR. SEAL:  Sorry, can you provide the reference again, Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  9-Staff-86 and 89.  It's talking about the change, the accounting change.


MR. HERCZEG:  Can you please ask the question again?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Are ratepayers being asked to cover two sets of accounting changes, the first the change from CGAAP to U.S. GAAP and then from U.S. GAAP to IFRS?


MR. HERCZEG:  We'll take that as an undertaking.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.25.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.25:  WITH REFERENCE TO IR 9-Staff-86 and 89, TO ADVISE WHETHER RATEPAYERS ARE BEING ASKED TO COVER TWO SETS OF ACCOUNTING CHANGES, THE FIRST THE CHANGE FROM CGAAP TO U.S. GAAP, AND THEN FROM U.S. GAAP TO IFRS; TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE IS ANYWHERE IN THE EVIDENCE OF THOSE CHANGES TO ENSURE THAT THERE IS NO OVERLAP OR OVERPAYMENT TO ENSURE THAT RATEPAYERS ARE ENDING UP IN THE EXACT SAME PLACE IF THESL HAD GONE STRAIGHT FROM CGAAP TO IFRS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe just an added part to that undertaking.  What I'm trying to get to is sort of a reconciliation of those -- if there is anywhere in the evidence of those changes to ensure that there is no overlap or overpayment in -- to ensure that ratepayers are ending up in the exact same place if THESL had gone straight from CGAAP to IFRS.


MR. SMITH:  I understand.


MS. HELT:  That will be part of the same undertaking then, TCJ2.25.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to 4A-SEC-44C.  I'm just trying to understand how the Board is able to provide Toronto Hydro with recovery of past out-of-period expenses.  And the response here seems to me saying that there are essentially policy reasons why it would be appropriate for THESL to have recovery, because it's in the benefit of ratepayers.


Am I to understand then that the Board is able to provide a utility with recovery of out-of-period expenses if there's a policy justification for it?


MR. SEAL:  Mr. Rubenstein, as we've indicated in the interrogatory response and in our evidence with respect to the collection of these costs, they were significant costs that were recorded in the -- in this particular application, and Toronto Hydro also believes the application was to the benefit of customers, and that is why we are seeking these costs.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  But since the costs were incurred during IRM, and I'm not aware of a deferral variance account that was set up, is it Toronto Hydro's view that you're allowed -- that the Board is allowed to order recovery of costs that were incurred in the past because there's a justifiable policy reason for it?


MR. SMITH:  I don't think Toronto Hydro is making any statement about what the Board is authorized to do at law in any particular circumstance.  It's simply indicating its view as to why the costs in this instance ought to be recoverable, and there may well be a debate about that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my last question -- and you don't even need to turn it up.  2 EBOE (sic)-Staff-39, appendix A and B, are two charts with respect to the ICM reconciling approved and actuals, and I was wondering if you could provide those in an Excel format.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.26.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.26:  TO PROVIDE IN EXCEL FORMAT THE TWO CHARTS WITH RESPECT TO THE ICM RECONCILING APPROVED AND ACTUALS


MS. HELT:  We have still questions from CCC, approximately half an hour, and from AMPCO maybe ten minutes.  I understand Mr. Garner has provided his questions in writing, and --


MR. GARNER:  And I have about ten minutes otherwise, maybe less.


MS. HELT:  All right.  And with respect to your questions that you've provided in writing, are you prepared to accept the answers to those in writing as well?


MR. SMITH:  We have a pressing facilities need.


MS. HELT:  Yes.  Certainly.  Why don't we take ten minutes, come back at 25 to.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 4:21 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:34 p.m.

MS. HELT:  We are back on-air.  I understand, Ms. Greey, you are going to proceed next with your questions.

MS. GREEY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
Questions by Ms. Greey:


MS. GREEY:  I notice that my colleague is not here, and I'm going to try for a third time to ask the two questions that she had had.

In your filing, you've said that you will be reporting on capital.  And CCC is wondering, are you prepared to file on an annual basis -- 2015 through '19 -- the forecast of in-service additions and actuals.

MS. KLEIN:  No, Ms. Greey, I don't think we are prepared to do that.  Our assessment is that mode of reporting is inconsistent with how we're approaching the capital program, particularly this concept of flexibility between years.

MS. GREEY:  Even if you're flexible, can't you tell us what your actuals are?

MS. KLEIN:  I think the actuals will be captured in the proposed metric that we're providing under the Ontario Energy Board scorecard, the DSP progress metric.

MS. GREEY:  You don't have to find this or anything, but on page 26 of the slides from yesterday -- I can just read it, where it's stated that:

"Approximately 86 percent of the proposed capital spending in the five-year DSP is similar in nature to ICM work."


And our comment first is that it is supposed to be an incremental capital, and not normal capital spending.  And so how do you, Toronto Hydro, differentiate normal capital versus this ICM?

MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, could you repeat the premise of your question and then your question again for me?

MS. GREEY:  Yes.  You had stated in the presentation that 86 percent of the proposed capital spending in this filing, in the five-year, DSP is similar in nature to the ICM work, but ICM is incremental capital, not normal capital spending.

So how have you, how has Toronto Hydro differentiated regular capital spending and this incremental module?

MS. KLEIN:  I think I would like to start with the premise of your question, the assumption that ICM is not normal capital.  And perhaps I could take to you page 17 and 18 of the Board's decision in our ICM proceeding, 2012-0064.

And the discussion there was whether normal capital or business-as-usual spending was or was not appropriate for the ICM.  And the Board's finding was that they reject the notion that projects must be routine or business as usual in order to be found ineligible for incremental capital module.

So going back to what we have on the slide there in terms of the 86 percent, the reason why we've put that in our filing is to indicate to intervenors and the Board that there should be some comfort about the need and prudence of the proposed work, in that it is similar in nature to work that was approved in the context of the ICM proceeding.

MS. GREEY:  Thank you.

If I can take you to 1A-CCC-6, and in this we were -- you stated on page 10 of the Exhibit 1A, tab 2, schedule 1, that -- the B, that your OM&A plan following rebasing would be less than inflation.

But it does not seem to be less than inflation unless I'm reading it wrong, and your answer in response to it is that the 2015 test year on -- this is on page 2 of the IR.  It contains a number of incremental expenditures.

Just for clarification, so you're O&M is not below inflation for the year after rebasing?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I lost the thread.

MS. GREEY:  It does not seem to be below inflation in 2015, although you stated in the evidence that you would have OM&A below inflation.

MR. SMITH:  From when to when?

MS. GREEY:  During 2015.

MR. SMITH:  Relative to when?

MS. GREEY:  Building on the OM&A plan, the following requires the utility to operate with funding that is less than inflation from the previous -- after rebasing from before rebasing.

MR. SMITH:  So you're asking between 2011 and 2015?

MS. GREEY:  '15, yes.  Beginning of 2015 is when you're rebasing for '14.

MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Ms. Greey, I'm still a little bit confused about your question, but let me try to answer it and you can let me know if my answer is not helpful.

What the utility has proposed is that after the initial rebasing for the years '16 to '19, that we would live within the price cap index for I-X, incorporating the custom stretch factor.  And the effect of that is the upfront sharing of benefits with ratepayers.

The utility, then, it's incumbent upon Toronto Hydro to find the savings that are generated by the formula.

So our funding for OM&A would be constrained at below inflation, and then it is our job to live within that funding.

MS. GREEY:  So you're saying that's between '15 and '19, not moving from '14 to '15?  That's just when you're above inflation, from '14 to '15?

MS. KLEIN:  I think one of our OM&A panels could probably speak to this with more acuity with respect to the details.

However, the utility's actual costs are what they are, and sometimes those costs are in excess of inflation.  Our proposal is that the rates funding would be constrained to below inflation, and then it is our job to find the difference in savings.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  If we can now move to 1A-CCC-3, and this is discussing about there were not any -- none of the studies that you have done required -- or you did not conduct RFPs.

Are conducting RFPs for major studies not part of your procurement process?  Or is there an area within your procurement process that talks about -- and procurement policy that talks about undertaking RFPs for major external work studies?

MR. SMITH:  Are we looking for something beyond what's set out in response (d)?

MS. GREEY:  Yes.  What I'm looking at -- that was part of it -- is it not part of your procurement policy or process to undertake RFPs?

MR. SMITH:  My understanding, Ms. Greey, is that Toronto Hydro's procurement policy can be found at Exhibit 4A, tab 3.

MS. GREEY:  So you want me to go and look at that later?  Okay.

I'm going to still go on with my -- you're saying you had a limited pool, was one reason.  But how would you know, if you didn't send out RFPs -- there might be companies out there that you're not aware of that could have undertaken some of the work.  If you don't do an RFP, how do you know?

MS. KLEIN:  I'm sorry, Ms. Greey, I find your question a little bit vague.  Was there a specific retainer that you had a question around?

MS. GREEY:  No.  This is for any of them.  If you don't do RFPs, one of your reasons was because, you know, there's limited pools out there.  But how do you know there isn't a company out there that could have helped or undertaken the study?

MS. KLEIN:  I'm not sure I'm able to answer that question in the abstract.  Again, if you had some specific questions about any of the retainers listed, then perhaps we could answer those questions.

MS. GREEY:  So I may come back with specific questions for each, certainly.

And also, again, working with selected third parties that you have already worked with, how do you ensure the consultants are undertaking a new look or that you are seeing the whole picture?

It's, again, just getting back to if you don't have RFPs, if you haven't looked at what's out there for the various studies you've been doing.

MR. SMITH:  I think that the same answer holds true.  If there's a particular study about which you want to ask questions, certainly happy to turn it up and to field questions in relation to it, but I think at the level of generality it's being posed I don't think it's appropriate.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  I'll give one example then, the Innovation (sic) Research Group and the amount of dollars you spent, et cetera.  You didn't have an RFP, so they didn't have a proposal.  May we have their terms of reference?  Would that be available?

MR. SMITH:  I believe Innovative's terms of reference were filed already.  My mic was on, but I'm -- the terms of reference for Innovative have already been filed, and we can provide you with that reference if you'd like.

MS. KLEIN:  I can provide you with that reference.  It is 1B-SEC-7.

MS. GREEY:  Thank you.

MS. KLEIN:  And it would be appendix B.

MS. GREEY:  Thank you.

If you could then turn to 1B-CCC-17.  And counsel had asked for providing all relevant reports provided by the consultants.  We understand that you have declined to provide that, but can we see the work that you had, some of the background work, and some of the work on how you developed it?  You must have had quite a bit of work to develop the final --


MR. SMITH:  No, I don't think that that's a fair request to ask, essentially, for drafts of the application.

MS. GREEY:  Drafts of -- I'm sorry, I didn't get you.

MR. SMITH:  Drafts of the application.  The application will have to be assessed on its merits, not based, obviously, on people's ruminations as the application is in the process of being developed.

MS. GREEY:  We weren't actually asking for the -- we were asking for the development of the price cap index itself and specifically the capital.

MR. SMITH:  Same answer.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  I want to continue on from SEC's questions on the ICM true-up.  If you refer to 1A-CCC-14.  So here it seems that in the -- we had referred to the partial decision and order, and it seemed clear in this paragraph that the Board at the time of rebasing, which is where we're at now, with the custom IR application, will determine whether any overspending should be allowed on rate base, or whether any underspending should be returned.  I know SEC had started to ask questions about that.  Seemed pretty clear from that -- and that also goes to the CCC 23, sort of the preamble, where CCC read that as that we would be expecting a true-up.

And if we turn to CCC 23, we again asked why a true-up would not be able to be completed.  And part of it was the idea of flexibility in work, but the program's over in a month, so there can't be any more flexibility.  It's 2012 through '14, so the work has to be finished by December 14, and many of them, distribution work, it's very -- there's discrete work activities.  You put in a transformer, you put in poles, you put in underground, et cetera.

I can't see that you haven't done any of the analysis, organized, summarized any of the work for '12, '13, and most of '14 that have already been completed.  So we're just having trouble understanding why we can't have this trued up, why we can't all see the actual numbers.

I know you won't have the '14.  You're saying February, and I know it has to be audited, et cetera.  But aren't you diligently working on all of these reports now, and would it be not more cost-effective for all of us and we would know the exact impact on rates if we had this ICM true-up within this proceeding?

MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Ms. Greey, there seemed to be several questions in there.  Let me try, and again, you can let me know --


MS. GREEY:  I think it's the final one, yes.

MS. KLEIN:  Okay.

MS. GREEY:  Yeah.

MS. KLEIN:  So Toronto Hydro has been tracking its work program in detail, and we intend to provide robust and detailed information to the OEB and intervenors regarding that work program for the purposes of true-up.

As I believe I mentioned earlier, to meet the required level of rigour and to meaningfully present the information, we do need to go through an exercise of compiling, validating, and reconciling a significant number of field records.  And that takes time, and it cannot be done until the program is completed.

We view the ICM program as one program that spans three years.  The 2014 program and the end of the ICM program, or the 2014 portion of that program, meaning the end of the program, will be completed at the end of this year, as you've mentioned.  It will take until Q1 of 2015 to do the financial close-out associated with that.

Once that process is completed we then intend to go back and do this reconciliation and validation process, and our estimate is that that information will be available -- the earliest possible time would be Q2 of 2015.

With respect to that being in the context of this proceeding, we have proposed as part of this proceeding that that true-up either occur in a second phase of this proceeding or, you know, be deferred to a separate proceeding.  Of course, that's something that the OEB will decide.

MS. GREEY:  The decisions -- there were two parts, so there was a decision on '12 and '13, and then the Board came back again for '14.  I am just having a difficulty of, I know there are a lot of reports.  You're calling it all one ICM, but there were a lot of discrete projects within that, and they were -- and actually, '12 and '13 were considered by the Board separate from '14.  I've just -- I know you will have some records, but for your sake and the amount of work I would hope that you -- most of the reporting for '12 and '13 projects and the first half of '14 would be complete.  I'm just having trouble -- I know you like audited numbers for '14, but I'm having trouble that we have to wait for Q2 '15 to have it all together.

MS. KLEIN:  Ms. Greey, I'm not sure what to tell you beyond what's contained in these IR responses and what I've just said.  I might also direct you to OEB 39, where we also provide some specific operational context for the nature of the program and the process with respect to true-up.

MS. GREEY:  Yes, I do see that.  It does look like you do have a lot of information now.  So we're just -- hopefully it can be added to this proceeding just so that we can have the true rate effect on rates of the ICM program as part of this, but I'll move on.

If we go to 1A-CCC-12 -- yes, thank you for providing changes to conditions of service.  Are any of these considered significant to your work?

MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Ms. Greey, you'll have to help us understand what you mean by "significant".

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  so that have any of them increased your level of complaints coming out, these changes, so from -- and I don't know if you have a customer care person, but have any of these changes amounted -- I know -- I know when you make changes to conditions of service there is a three-month period where you do have to record -- I don't know if for best practices you record after -- whether complaints have come in specifically for the conditions of service.  I know you do have to for the three months of -- the first three months of the proposing them.

MS. KLEIN:  I don't think we can answer that.

MS. GREEY:  For the three months where you're proposing and the OEB requests that you record whether there have been any customer complaints or customer comments on changes to the conditions of service, would you have that record?

MS. KLEIN:  I don't think that's anything that this panel can answer for you.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  So ask it another time?  Or have an undertaking to get that information?

MR. SMITH:  I think we'll have to reflect on the question.  The last revision was done.  It appears to have been done on May 1st, 2014.

So I'm struggling a little bit with the relevance of the question.  I'm not aware of any complaints being made in the context of this proceeding about the conditions of service.  So I think we'll refuse it for now, but I'll obviously reflect on that, that position.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  If we go to CCC 13, so you've talked about the regional planning and the good work being done there.  How will the outcomes be incorporated -- as we know, they are just still happening –- will be incorporated into rates during the IRM plan, during...

MR. SEAL:  To the extent that any of this particular work would be included as part of our 2015 application, it would form part of the base rates which would be set for 2015, and then the proposed price cap formula would apply to those.

To the extent that any of the particular parts of the integrated resource plan that are discussed in this interrogatory are not part of it, we have to discuss that with the particular capital people.

MS. GREEY:  For each project?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. SEAL:  What I'm saying is that currently our proposal for 2015 rates is set based on our forecast of the capital that's going to go in place in 2014 -- in 2015, apologies.

So to the extent any of this integrated resource planning process is included in that, it's included in base rates.

MS. GREEY:  And if not?  If it's within the '16 to '19 years?

MR. SEAL:  Anything different or additional wouldn't be captured -- well, actually, sorry.

To the extent that any of it is included in the capital forecast that makes up the C factor part of our PCI, then it would be included, yes.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just on that CCC 16, you have talked about extreme weather and the Z factor.  How -- what is the definition where you differentiate what is in your budget and your plan for this versus what would be considered a Z factor?  I see your definition of extreme weather, but how do you determine with that where it's not included as your regular work?

MS. KLEIN:  Sorry, Ms. Greey, could you repeat the question for us?

MS. GREEY:  You have given the definition of extreme weather events and what they are, but what type of specific project would not -- or occurrence would qualify for a Z factor treatment?

MR. SMITH:  Cutting through it, are you asking what is the Z factor criteria that Toronto Hydro proposes to apply?

MS. GREEY:  For extreme weather, yes, using -- because you have a definition for it, but how do you...

MS. KLEIN:  So, Ms. Greey, I think I can answer at least one part of that question, which is the criteria that Toronto Hydro adopts for the purposes of the Z factor can be found in the Board's decision in an Enbridge Gas Distribution matter, EB-2012-0459.

And pages 19 to 20, the four criteria are causation, materiality, management control, and prudence.

With respect to specific circumstances around storms, that is something that we would need to speak to our operational folks about, in terms of what's included in the application for forecast costs.

MS. GREEY:  Can we have that?  Can you find that out?

MS. KLEIN:  I think I'm struggling a little bit, because you're sort of asking us to predict the future beyond what we've already sought to forecast in the context of this application.  And I struggle with that question.

MS. GREEY:  I think you said you would be able to determine what has been put in this application.

MS. KLEIN:  We could go back to the evidence and certainly summarize for you what's been put in this application, yes.

MS. GREEY:  That would be helpful.

MS. KLEIN:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be noted as Undertaking TCJ2.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.27: TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF INFORMATION IN THE EVIDENCE REGARDING THE specific circumstances around STORMS.

MS. GREEY:  If we can now turn to CCC 27, and I'm looking at the response to (a).

We're wondering, why do we see a large increase in the wire line attachments in 2015?

MS. KLEIN:  I believe the response to that is actually part (c) of that same interrogatory.

MS. GREEY:  And that -- so what is, then, the basis of the conclusion that the wire line attachment revenues will remain relatively flat over the term, when from the proceeding that we did have on that, there was an expectation that the wireless attachment revenue would be higher, would increase?  Given the move to the market-based pricing?

MS. CHEAH:  Can we get clarification?  Are you referring specifically to the wire line or wireless?

MS. GREEY:  What I was saying is we were just surprised that the wire line is going up so much between '14 and '15, but the wireless is not going up very much, even though there is now, from your proceeding, the market-based pricing.

MS. KLEIN:  I think it's fair to say both those numbers are based on our forecast.

MS. GREEY:  That was my question.  I can see that's your forecast, but why are you thinking that the wireless won't be going up very much, when now market-based and the whole proceeding was...

MR. SMITH:  But isn't this all subject to a deferral and variance account?  The wireless is subject to a deferral and variance account, so I wonder about the significance of this.

MS. GREEY:  If that's the panel's answer, that answers the question, if it's in a deferral account.

MR. SMITH:  I believe that's what's set out in the interrogatory.

MR. SEAL:  There certainly is a deferral account for the wireless attachments, to record the net costs and revenues from wireless attachments.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  Going to 1A-VECC-4, we were talking about the annual bill of a residential customer at 1,000 kW.

Now, you do have projections of the annual residential bill and their percentage increase, but this is only from the Toronto Hydro perspective.

What about increases in commodity costs, deferral and variance accounts, ICM rider true-ups?  Are any of these included in these numbers?

MR. SEAL:  So page 2 of that interrogatory response does provide the assumptions that we've included with the calculations of these residential bills, so as noted it includes GST and Ontario Clean Energy Benefit, which we have assumed expires at the end of December 31st, 2015.  It includes rate riders, all current and applied-for rate riders.  It includes -- or it doesn't include global adjustment rate riders for the residential class.

MS. GREEY:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  And we do not forecast commodity costs for the purposes of any of the bill impacts for the filing and do not include any forecasts of those components.

MS. GREEY:  Correct.  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted clarification on that so that those -- these increases will be just for the items that you have said you have included, so global adjustment, et cetera, which is -- and commodity price, which we have no idea, but would probably be changing by 2017, have not been included in here.

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. GREEY:  Okay.  Just one last question.  I'm referring again to the presentation from yesterday, and your C factor, and just looking at this and how you have developed the whole price cap index, wondering -- the CN, what is the difference between this and cost-of-service treatment for capital?  Just for the capital component.

MR. RUCH:  The difference is that, as you can see on slide 17, there's a step where we return back to customers the capital component of I minus X.

MS. GREEY:  So how much difference do you think that would make between the two doing that?  Did you look at that?

MR. RUCH:  It would simply be the difference between the CN factor and the S cap times I minus X.

MS. GREEY:  Yeah.  Okay.  And I was more thinking in percentage or...

MR. RUCH:  The values for those can be found in Table 5 of Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 3, where there's -- it's an illustrative example based on an estimated inflation factor, but as I also mentioned in the presentation, we would be updating the custom PCI values based on the Board's inflation factor that's updated annually.

MS. GREEY:  Thank you.  And that's it for me.

MS. HELT:  Thank you very much, Ms. Greey.

Ms. Grice, I believe you have five minutes' worth of questions?
Questions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Yes, I'm left now with just two quick areas to ask questions on.  Okay.  My first question has to do with Exhibit 1B, Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 4, and in this interrogatory it's stated in the preamble that the company's average 2010 to 2012 SAIFI is 73 percent above benchmark expectations, and that this implies Toronto Hydro customers experience 73 percent more outages than our models predict.


And in part (b) of the interrogatory, Energy Probe asked in PSE's views why is Toronto Hydro's SAIFI so bad relative to peer-group cohort, and in the response it says one possibility for the poor performance is an aged infrastructure in need of capital spending.


However, PSE did not undertake an evaluation of the exact reasons why SAIFI values for THESL are above the benchmarks.

So I just have a question for Mr. Fenrick, and that would be, I just wondered what would need to be done in order to undertake an evaluation of the exact reasons.  I just wanted to understand the scope of work that would be needed to do that.

MR. FENRICK:  As far as the scope to really undertake that, would be a very detailed engineering analysis that would likely involve people outside of my expertise area to really dig into the reasons for that finding and to provide robust enough evidence to actually come up with a conclusion for that finding.  I'm not aware of any statistical kind of metric way of teasing out what that cause is.  That's just one possibility that makes sense from my experience, but to do that full analysis would be a very detailed engineering-type look, similar to what probably Toronto Hydro has put forth here, and from their expertise for a third-party consultant such as PSE to do something like that would require a significant amount of background work on design and those types of issues.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Because my next question was going to be, could this be done, and I think you've answered that.

Okay.  Last question has to do with Exhibit 1A-CCC-1, and it's just with regards to the business plan that was presented to your board of directors on November the 13th.  I just wanted to ask a very general question --


MS. HELT:  Okay.  So you're aware of the confidentiality of the business plan.  All right.  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, just a really general question.  On the basis of the result of the meeting, can Toronto Hydro confirm that there are no changes to the business plans and budgets sought or made as a result of that meeting?

MS. KLEIN:  It's my understanding the business plan was approved, and I'll take that subject to check.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.

Mr. Garner?
Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And I will try and be very brief, given the time of day.

The first thing is, about a week ago in response to the Board's procedural order, we sent I think it's 11 questions to deal with cost allocation and rate design.  And what I would propose to do is for you to answer those by way of undertaking.  Those are in the area of my colleague, Mr. Harper, who is not able to join us.  He is up in the Northwest Territories enjoying similar weather, I'm sure.

I'm wondering if you would agree to do that, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will take the questions away.  We should mark them perhaps as an exhibit, and we'll take them away and provide a response to the questions.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  My next --


MS. HELT:  Apologies, Mr. Garner.  Then we will mark the questions as Exhibit TCK2.2, and the undertaking to provide those answers TCJ2.28.

MR. GARNER:  Thanks.
EXHIBIT NO. TCK2.2:  VECC TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS FILED BY MR. GARNER ON BEHALF OF MR. HARPTER DEALING WITH COST ALLOCATION AND RATE DESIGN.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.28:  TO RESPOND TO VECC TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS POSED IN EXHIBIT NO. TCK2.2.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I mean, I don't -- I don't -- I confess I don't have the questions in front of me, and I don't know the -- I'm not speaking to the appropriateness of the questions themselves, but we will provide a response to each of them.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

The next question is quite straightforward.  Just a few minutes ago, in fact, we were discussing VECC Interrogatory 1A-VECC-4.  And Mr. Seal, I think I'll address this question to you.  You'll notice in that table that you gave us -- you'll notice that 2016 has a 14 percent increase.  And if you go to the slides that you did in your evidence, which is slide 22 -- you don't really need to bring it up, but you will not find a similarly high number for 2016.

So there's a couple of questions.  One is about that number in particular.  The second, though, is about what the kilowatt-hour assumption was that you used in the presentation to the Board and how that compares to the one that you used in response to this -- which is 1,000 kilowatt-hours, I think it should read, not kilowatts.  And perhaps you could just tell us which -- what's the volume on that one versus the volume on this one, and are they otherwise comparable?

And specifically when you look at that, could you explain why the 2016 number is so anomalous to everything else we see?

MR. SEAL:  I'll start with that number.  So the interrogatory response, again as noted in the assumptions, included all taxes and OCEB.  So the 14 percent increase in 2016 reflects the elimination of the OCEB in 2016, and that's why you're seeing a big increase in the customer's bill.

Whereas in the presentation, we -- all those rate impacts are given on a before-taxes and OCEB basis, which was similar to the way we presented them in the executive summary.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And do you -- sorry.

MR. SEAL:  The other part of your question dealt with the kilowatt-hour basis.  So the interrogatory response specifically asked at 4,000 kilowatt-hours -- so we assumed -- whereas the executive summary and the presentation and our bill impacts we provide in the evidence are all based on 800 kilowatt-hours for a typical residential customer.

MR. GARNER:  Great.  Thank you.

The next question I'd like to address is to you, Mr. Fenrick.  And this has been brought up a number of times and I just want to make sure I understand completely the information your modelling is telling us with respect to SAIFI or reliability indices.

Your model doesn't tell us anything, as I think you're suggesting -- I just want to be clear -- it doesn't tell us anything about whether Toronto Hydro has higher or lower reliability indices vis-à-vis any other utility.  It tells us, statistically, what?

MR. FENRICK:  So statistically we did the reliability benchmarking in the same manner that we did the total cost, which was using the econometric benchmarking approach.

So there, we're looking at all the variables that Toronto Hydro has in their service territory, along with the entire datasets and their variables, and we correlate or look at the influence of those variables on the SAIDI or SAIFI or whatever we're measuring at the time.  And then we're constructing an econometric benchmark that we're then comparing Toronto Hydro's actual values to.

So given Toronto Hydro's circumstances and what they're faced with, the benchmark is what our models would predict their SAIDI or their SAIFI to be at.

MR. GARNER:  So can I take from that -- for instance, one of the -- if a variable in your model is urban size, it will -- that informs that discussion, then?  Size of utility vis-à-vis other utilities?

But to complete my thought, just so I -- it doesn't tell us anything about environment or weather or whether there is design differences in these utilities that could explain that variation, does it?

MR. FENRICK:  For the reliability models we do look at wind, a wind variable, which is a measure of the weather conditions.

In the US evaluation for SAIFI, we also look at a lightning variable.

So those are the environmental-type differences that we're accounting for in the models, whether it's wind at each service territory in each year, or the lightning strikes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.

And is that the extent of it?  It doesn't talk about -- does it talk about design difference?  Or other environmental differences?

MR. FENRICK:  No.  There's no design differences, which can be thought of as a management decision -- at least over the long run -- versus externally derived variables.

MR. GARNER:  So in your conversation with Mr. Kaufmann earlier today, that left me with two things.  One, that economics isn't as interesting as I thought it was, but the other is as to whether you can say anything really about whether capital is the reason -- lack of capital or lack of type of capital spending has anything to do with the reliability outputs of this utility.

Could be capital, it could be the number of squirrels on a line versus Georgia Power, or the number of possums hanging from a line, right?  You don't know, do you?

MR. FENRICK:  So for the reliability benchmarking specifically -- which I believe you're discussing here with your example -- we're including variables that are relevant, and basically we're making a huge leap forward from raw indexes to econometrically derived benchmarks, in really a very similar way that the Board itself does regarding total cost benchmarking.

Are there factors that cannot be accounted for?  Yes.  I mean, we're moving the ball forward and we're improving from raw numbers.  I would argue some of the examples probably aren't going to have a huge impact.

So this is really the best evaluation, the best research that's available in evaluating Toronto Hydro's SAIDI and SAIFI values.

There's also statistical testing that we can do on the variance between -- I apologize -– non-interesting economics, econometric terminology, but as far as the variance on the scores, we can statistically test these things for kind of these unknown factors which you're referring to, and just the values of SAIDI being in the order of 80 percent below in the projected 2014 or 84 percent below in 2015, that's a statistically significant finding.

So even with the unknown parameters, we can statistically test these things and figure out how much confidence we can put into the finding that Toronto Hydro's SAIDI is well below the benchmark value, and conversely the SAIFI being above the benchmark value.  These things can be statistically tested and come up with confidence intervals.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I don't want to prolong this, and I'm not debating your study per se.

I'm actually just asking you:  You can't conclude from your study that the SAIDI outputs -- the conclusions of the lower SAIDI vis-à-vis the norm of the population -- have anything to do with capital?  It could be to do with something else?

MR. FENRICK:  That would be correct.  It's essentially two things, and this kind of got into the conversation with Dr. Kaufmann.

It could be -- for instance, the SAIDI value -- that Toronto Hydro is just better than the rest of the industry in responding to outages, rather than a capital situation.

I would argue the SAIFI is suggestive of a system that's breaking more often than our models would expect it to be breaking.

So we can't make a definitive:  Yes, it's capital; yes, it's efficiency.

But I think the combination of total cost being below benchmark value, along with SAIFI being above benchmark values, to me indicates or would be suggestive of a capital spending situation.

But yeah, we cannot -- as I said with Dr. Kaufmann -- I can't provide you an empirical proof of that.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I have one final question, and I think, Ms. Klein, for you.  4A-VECC-46; this is where we asked you about breaking down the legal fees of $1.7 million.  And you graciously gave us a reference to -- basically about materiality and being prudent in our questions.

And we share your view about prudence and cost, but I wonder if you could tell me what is the materiality threshold of your -- in this application.

MS. KLEIN:  I believe our Board-defined materiality threshold is 1 million.

MR. GARNER:  And that's lower than 1.7 million?

MS. KLEIN:  I went to law school to avoid math, but I think it is.

MR. GARNER:  I'm wondering if you could you respond to the interrogatory and/or come up with a different reason for not providing it.


MS. KLEIN:  Mr. Garner, I believe our answer on the materiality was about the individual components of the 1.7 million estimate, which by themselves are not material, so --


MR. GARNER:  I see.  So if I asked you a question about a $10 million item and all the items within it were $900,000 and there were 11 items, you wouldn't answer that question either then.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. SMITH:  I think she's saying what the witness said, and that's not the item that's at issue, and I don't think it's helpful to engage in hypotheticals.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I think it is.  And I would ask Ms. Klein to respond.  If you have a $10 million item, under your interpretation, and you have 11 items within it are 900,000, and that doesn't meet the material threshold set by the Board?

MR. SMITH:  No, that's not the question that's asked at this interrogatory.  You have Toronto Hydro's position, and we're happy to reconsider it, but you have it.

MR. GARNER:  Well, thank you, Mr. Smith, and maybe you would reconsider it during the break -- or for next time.

Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

That concludes all of the questions for this witness panel.  There are a couple of tidy-up matters that I would like to note for the record, but before that I would like to thank the witness panel.  I know it's been a long afternoon of questioning, so thank you very much.

There are approximately 44 undertakings that have been given over day 1 and 2, and I know everyone is aware Procedural Order No. 1 directed that answers to undertakings be given by November the 24th.  I trust that Toronto Hydro, if they have any problems with respect to meeting that date, will certainly let me know and communicate with the Board if that's going to be an issue.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Ms. Helt, as I indicated to you at one of our breaks, there were a number of instances where parties have filed questions, and, you know, that's a different situation than having those questions asked where we have live witnesses.  So obviously we're going to have to think about what's achievable.  And to the extent there are problems, we'll certainly let you know.

MS. HELT:  Certainly, and that sounds completely acceptable.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

There is just one other matter.  I did note that Ms. Hobbs, counsel with CUPE, did file questions today in a letter dated November the 18th (sic).  And I would suggest that we, in accordance with what was agreed upon yesterday, that we mark those as an exhibit and that you provide an undertaking to look at those questions, Mr. Smith, and then provide answers to those questions.  Does that sound acceptable?

MR. SMITH:  It does sound acceptable, and we will do that.  I haven't had a chance to look at Ms. Hobbs's questions.  I do note that there are some ten pages of questions, so we're obviously going to have to bear in mind what's achievable in the time the Board has set aside, and it may be that we run over a bit.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  So we'll just note that letter from Ms. Hobbs dated November 18th (sic) as TCK2.3 and the undertaking then will be TCJ2.29.
EXHIBIT NO. TCK2.3:  CUPE TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS FILED BY MS. HOBBS IN A LETTER DATED NOVEMBER 12TH, 2014.
UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.29:  TO RESPOND TO CUPE TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS POSED IN EXHIBIT NO. TCK2.3.

MS. HELT:  And then just to clarify the record with respect to TCK2.2, the letter filed by VECC that Mr. Garner referred to, I would just like the record to reflect that that letter is dated November the 12th.

So unless there's anything further that anyone needs to address or would like to address, then we have --


MR. DUMKA:  Just a couple of minor administrative things, no questions.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.

MR. DUMKA:  I'm just curious as to when we're going to see the redacted business plan from Toronto Hydro.  When's that going to be --


MS. HELT:  That's something I think we can discuss with Toronto Hydro offline after this technical conference.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  The other thing is -- again is minor, and I think the folks that do the transcript do a wonderful job, but we had so many backs and forths with undertakings, and I'm just -- my concern is just to make sure that the intended undertaking is properly reflected, so I'm just wondering how we can do that as quickly as we can.

MS. HELT:  Well, the court reporter really does take very good care in ensuring that the undertaking has been appropriately captured, and if it's not then they consult with Staff to see what the --


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Yeah.  Again, I'm not -- don't get me wrong --


MS. HELT:  No.

MR. DUMKA:  -- I'm not criticizing.  I know myself when we're going back and forth there are so many clarifications on undertakings it got rather confusing.  Okay.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. DUMKA:  Thanks.

MS. HELT:  We are adjourned.  Thank you very much, everyone.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 5:29 p.m.
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